## ALGORITHM DEVELOPMENT FOR NEXT GENERATION SEQUENCING-BASED METAGENOME ANALYSIS

A Thesis Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Andrey O. Kislyuk

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Bioinformatics

School of Biology Georgia Institute of Technology December 2010

### ALGORITHM DEVELOPMENT FOR NEXT GENERATION SEQUENCING-BASED METAGENOME ANALYSIS

Approved by:

Professor Joshua S. Weitz, Advisor School of Biology Georgia Institute of Technology

Professor I. King Jordan, Co-Advisor School of Biology Georgia Institute of Technology

Professor Nicholas H. Bergman Department of Homeland Security National Biodefense Analysis and Countermeasures Center Adjunct Professor, School of Biology *Georgia Institute of Technology*  Professor Yury Chernoff School of Biology Georgia Institute of Technology

Professor David A. Bader School of Computational Science and Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology

Date Approved: 13 August 2010

To the ghost in the machine

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply grateful to my advisor, Joshua Weitz, for his invaluable guidance, support, and encouragement. I would like to thank Inna Dubchak and Michael Brudno, who introduced me to computational biology, and King Jordan, my co-advisor, for their support and mentorship. I am also grateful to Nicholas Bergman for his support and advice; and I am thankful to Stephen Turner for his support, mentorship, and the opportunities he has given me. It has been a privilege to work with these brilliant and talented mentors.

I want to thank my collaborators and co-workers, especially Alexandre Lomsadze, Alex Mitrophanov, Alex Poliakov, Alla Lapidus, Scott Sammons, Russell Neches, Jonathan Eisen, Jonathan Dushoff, Bart Haegeman, and Mark Borodovsky, who have all contributed to my understanding of the science and practice of bioinformatics and computational biology. I would also like to thank Lee Katz, Sonia Agrawal, Matthew Hagen, Andrew Conley, Pushkala Jayaraman, Viswateja Nelakuditi, Jay Humphrey, Dhwani Govil, Raydel Mair, Kathleen Tatti, Maria Tondella, Brian Harcourt, Leonard Mayer, and Srijak Bhatnagar, who have contributed to the work that became part of this thesis.

I am thankful to my friends and instructors at Georgia Tech and Berkeley; to Nils Onsager for his dedicated vision and instruction; and to Madison Park for her support. Finally, I am thankful to my family for their love and support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DED	DICAT	FION .		iii
ACK	NOW	VLEDG	EMENTS	iv
LIST	OF	TABLE	ES	ix
LIST	C OF	FIGUR	LES	xiii
SUM	IMAF	RY		xix
Ι	INT	RODU	CTION	1
II	ALC	GORITI	HM DESIGN IN METAGENOMICS: A PRIMER	3
	2.1	Overv	iew of metagenome analysis	5
	2.2	Major	computational tasks in metagenome analysis	7
		2.2.1	Assembly	7
		2.2.2	Binning	11
		2.2.3	Phylotyping and phylogeny reconstruction	13
		2.2.4	Metabolic pathway reconstruction	17
		2.2.5	Gene prediction and annotation	18
		2.2.6	Technology advancement	19
	2.3	Algori	thmic techniques	19
		2.3.1	Feature selection	20
		2.3.2	Randomized and approximation algorithms	22
		2.3.3	String processing	23
	2.4	Toolki	t	25
		2.4.1	Testing and validation	27
		2.4.2	Conclusion	28
III	FRA	AMESH	IFT DETECTION	30
	3.1	Introd	uction	30
	3.2	Mater	ials	33

		3.2.1	Sequences with artificial sequencing errors $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	33
		3.2.2	Sequences with 454 pyrosequencing errors	33
		3.2.3	Protein sequences	34
	3.3	Metho	$ds \ldots \ldots$	34
		3.3.1	Verification by protein sequence alignment	36
	3.4	Result	55	38
	3.5	Discus	ssion	40
	3.6	Techn	ical details	41
		3.6.1	Prior design	42
		3.6.2	New design	43
	3.7	Ackno	wledgements	46
	3.8	Fundi	ng	53
IV	GEN	NOME	ASSEMBLY AND ANNOTATION PIPELINE	54
	4.1	Introd	luction	55
	4.2	Syster	n and Methods	59
		4.2.1	Genome test data	59
		4.2.2	Pipeline organization	59
		4.2.3	Assembly	59
		4.2.4	Feature prediction	65
		4.2.5	Functional annotation	67
		4.2.6	Availability	68
	4.3	Discus	ssion	70
		4.3.1	Genome biology of $N$ . meningitidis and $B$ . bronchiseptica	70
		4.3.2	Computational genomics pipeline	72
	4.4	Valida	tion on known data	73
	4.5	Ackno	wledgements	74
	4.6	Fundi	ng	75

V	ME'	TAGEN	NOMIC BINNING	76				
	5.1	Backg	round	77				
	5.2	Metho	$ds \ldots \ldots$	81				
		5.2.1	The binning problem	81				
		5.2.2	MCMC framework	83				
		5.2.3	Numerical details	87				
		5.2.4	Testing methodology	90				
	5.3	Result	s and Discussion	92				
	5.4	Concl	usions	97				
		5.4.1	Example application of likelihood model	99				
	5.5	Ackno	wledgements	101				
	5.6	Fundi	ng	101				
VI	CORE- AND PAN-GENOMES							
	6.1	Introd	luction	108				
	6.2	Result	58	110				
		6.2.1	Pan and core genome sizes cannot be reliably estimated $\ . \ .$	110				
		6.2.2	Genomic fluidity is a robust and reliable estimator of gene diversity	111				
		6.2.3	Fluidity and its variance can be estimated from a group of sequenced genomes	114				
		6.2.4	Rank-ordering of genomic fluidity is robust to variation in alignment parameters	117				
		6.2.5	Genomic fluidity is a natural metric spanning phylogenetic scales from species to kingdom	118				
	6.3	Discus	ssion	122				
	6.4	Mater	ials and Methods	124				
		6.4.1	Fluidity estimator pipeline	124				
		6.4.2	Significance test for fluidity differences	125				
	6.5	Ackno	wledgements	126				
	6.6	Fundi	ng	126				

VII CONCLUSION	VII	CONCLUSION .		•									•			•	•	•				•		•	•		•	•		13	34
----------------	-----	--------------	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	---	---	---	--	--	--	---	--	---	---	--	---	---	--	----	----

# LIST OF TABLES

1	Task-approach matrix: metagenome analysis tasks	29
2	Accuracy parameters of the different versions of the algorithm as well as the FrameD program determined on genomic sequences with synthetic frameshifts. A/ for the old algorithm, described in the "Prior design" section in Appendix; B/for the new algorithm with coding potential analysis only (the classifier algorithm off); C/full ab initio prediction (includes the coding potential analysis and the classifier algorithm); D/ for the ab initio prediction followed by protein database search and alignment and rejection of ab initio predictions with negative evidence (scenarios 3 and 4, Fig. 2); E/for the ab initio prediction followed by the protein database search and alignment with acceptance of the predictions possessing a positive evidence (scenarios 1 and 2, Fig. 2); F/ for the FrameD program (Schiex et al., 2003). Bold numbers indi- cate best performance among A-E as measured by the average value (Sn+Sp)/2.	48
3	Characteristics of the algorithm performance on genomes sequenced by 454 pyrosequencing method. Designations of the methods B and C are the same as in Table 2; C*, D*, E* are analogous to Table 2; * indicates that the algorithm was using the homopolymer correction (see text). Bold numbers indicate best performance among B-E* as measured by the average, (Sn+Sp)/2	49
4	Parameters of the fitted normal distributions for the values of orf_overlap, gene_overlap, ds_stop_dist, rbs_score as observed in the sets of sequences with artificial frameshifts and sequences with gene overlaps. These parameters describing the "true frameshift" vs. "gene overlap" class distributions were used in the classifier algorithm.	52
5	Quantitative analysis of frameshift predictions. Designations for columns C, D, and E are identical to Table 2. FS/Kbp, artificial frameshifts per 1000 base pairs. Pred, predicted frameshifts. TP, true positives.	52
6	Parameters of the coding potential analysis algorithm	53
7	Summary of sequencing projects used in the pipeline development. Data for each strain are presented in rows.	60

8	Summary of assembler performance. Data for each strain are pre- sented in rows. Statistics from standalone assemblers (Newbler and AMOScmp) are presented together with results of the combining pro- tocol (default output of the pipeline) and an optional, manually as- sisted predictive gap closure protocol. (a) N50 is a standard quality metric for genome assemblies that summarizes the length distribution of contigs. It represents the size N such that 50% of the genome is contained in contigs of size N or greater. Greater N50 values indicate higher quality assemblies. (b) No improvement was detected from the combined assembly in strain BBF579, and the original Newbler assem- bly was automatically selected. (c) The manual combined assembly protocol was not performed for these projects	64
9	Prediction algorithm performance comparison and statistics. Data for each strain are presented in rows. Prediction counts from the 3 standalone gene prediction methods are presented. Counts of protein- coding gene predictions reported by our algorithm and tRNA genes are also shown. Data presented are based on the automatic combined assemblies from Table 8. (a) Number of ORFs with protein-coding gene predictions where all 3 predictors agreed exactly or with a slight difference in the predicted start site. (b) ORFs where only 2 of the 3 predictors made a prediction. (c) Total protein-coding gene predictions reported by the pipeline.	66
10	Feature annotation statistics. Data for each strain are presented in rows. Data presented are based on the automatic combined assemblies from Table 8 and the gene predictions from Table 9. (a) Total putative protein-coding sequences analyzed. (b) As predicted by SignalP (Bendtsen, et al., 2004); percentage of total CDS indicated in parentheses. (c) As predicted by TMHMM [93]. (d) As predicted by BLASTp alignment against VFDB [38, 187]; http://www.mgc.ac.cn/VFs/	69

12	Summary of species' characteristics, including all independent monomer	
	and dimer frequencies, in the subset of trials on 5 pairs of genomes per-	
	formed in Figures 18 and 19	94

- 14 Performance comparison of LikelyBin and CompostBin on pairs of genomes analyzed in Figures 18, 19, Table 12. Frag L, Fragment length; Frag N, Number of fragments per source; CB seeds, labeled fragments supplied to CompostBin for training. LikelyBin consistently performed equally to or above CompostBin performance despite being completely unsupervised, while CompostBin required a fraction of input fragments to be labeled to seed its clustering alorithm. We supplied training fragments to CompostBin without regard to their origin (protein or RNAcoding). In a likely practical scenario, only 16S RNA-coding fragments would be labeled, but would have different k-mer distributions from protein-coding regions, possibly confounding classification. (\*) Convergence toward a good clustering was not observed in CompostBin for these datasets; accuracy can be less than 50% due to labeled input.
- 15 The method of sampling the posterior distribution of the MCMC chain by averaging random accepted models from the steady state was compared to the method of selecting the model with the overall maximum log likelihood. The resulting accuracy differences were negligible. Accuracy was also compared in 3-mer models vs. 4-mer models. While 4-mer models slightly outperformed 3-mer models on average, a significant run time increase was observed (not shown). NC<sub>-</sub> identifiers refer to GenBank accession numbers for genomes listed in each trial. . . .

97

102

- 17 *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.5 and c = 0.5. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods. . . . . . 127
- 19 *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.62 and c = 0.62. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods. . . . 128

- 21 *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.74 and c = 0.74. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods. . . . 129

# LIST OF FIGURES

1	The metagenome analysis workflow.	7
2	Example consensus determination problem in shotgun DNA sequence. Each row in the "Reads" pane represents a shotgun sequencing read mapped against a reference genome. (*) Likely sequencing errors. (!) Likely single-nucleotide polymorphism within sample. (^) Likely single-nucleotide polymorphism with respect to reference. (?) Am- biguous case.	14
3	The metagenomics algorithm development toolkit.	24
4	Diagram of an open reading frame fragmentation into two overlapping ORFs by a frameshift. A fragment of the Escherichia coli chromosome is shown with an artificial frameshift. Three curves indicate coding potentials in the three coding frames (averaged over 96-nucleotide windows). Open reading frames of significant size are indicated by horizontal lines plotted over the 0.5 line; start and stop codons are shown as upward and downward ticks, respectively. Gene predictions are indicated by grey bars. The frameshift prediction is marked by an arrow and shaded box.	46
5	Four frameshift verification scenarios. The thick bar represents a con- ceptual translation of the ORFs with the possible frameshift. The thin- ner bars below represent similarity search hits in the protein database; the hits providing critical information are highlighted in darker color. Cases 1 and 2 provide positive evidence of a frameshift. Cases 3 and 4 provide negative evidence of a frameshift	47
6	Sensitivity/specificity analysis of performance of the ab initio algorithm with homopolymer correction on 454 pyrosequenced genomes. Stars indicate trade-off points selected as optimal on the basis of a maximum $(Sn+Sp)/2$ .	49
7	Homopolymer (HMP) frequencies were computed for three genomes (M. aeolicus, P. putida F1, S. putrefaciens) and are shown by pairs of bars (for protein coding and non-coding regions) for each homopolymer longer than 1nt. Long homopolymers are relatively more frequent in non-coding sequence, making 454 pyrosequencing errors more likely to occur in non-coding sequence. For each homopolymer length, data for three G+C ranges are presented.	50
8	Geometry of the ORF overlap and definitions of parameters of the algorithm. Two overlapping ORFs are shown with the overlap region and salient parameters highlighted; f indicates the putative frameshift position.	50

9	Histograms of the values of attributes used by the classifier to distin- guish true frameshifts from gene overlap events. Data for genomes rep- resentative of the three G+C ranges are presented in the three columns. In a given genome the attribute values were tabulated from all ORF overlaps which satisfied the conditions for candidate pairs (see Meth- ods). A putative frameshift location, f, was assigned for each ORF over- lap; position-dependent attribute values were computed with regard to that location. Vertical bars indicate the means of the normal distri- butions fitted for attribute values characteristic for true frameshifts and gene overlaps, respectively. Negative values of the "gene overlap" parameter correspond to cases where no gene overlap is present, but in- stead a gap of the corresponding number of nucleotides exists between the upstream stop codon and the putative gene start. ORF overlaps are longer on average for higher GC due to lower frequencies of the three stop codons than in high AT genomes. Short "gene overlap" values are more frequent in non-frameshift events than in the cases of true frameshifts due to the fact that short gene overlaps and short in- tergenic distances are typical for prokaryotic genomes, while frameshift errors are more likely to produce longer apparent overlaps. RBS scores for frameshifts are lower on average than for gene overlaps due to the low probability of finding by chance a strong RBS motif outside a gene start region.	51
10	Chart of data flow, major components and subsystems in the pipeline. Three subsystems are presented: genome assembly, feature prediction and functional annotation. Each subsystem consists of a top-level exe- cution script managing the input, output, format conversion, and com- bination of results for a number of components. A hierarchy of scripts and external programs then performs the tasks required to complete each stage.	60
11	Comparative analysis of draft assembly with MAUVE. The top pane represents the active assembly; vertical lines indicate contig boundaries (gaps). The reference genomes are arranged in subsequent panes in or- der of phylogenetic distance. Blocks of synteny (LCBs) are displayed in different colors (an inversion of a large block is visible between panes 1-2 and 3-5). Most gaps within LCBs were joined in the manually as- sisted assembly, while considering factors such as sequence conservation on contig flanks and presence of protein-coding regions	63
12	Schematics of combining strategy for prediction stage. BLAST alignment start, which may not coincide exactly with a start codon, is pinned to the closest start codon. Then, a consensus or most upstream start is selected.	66

13	Example functional annotation listing of a <i>N. meningitidis</i> gene in the Neisseria Base. Draft genome data are shown including gene location, prediction and annotation status, peptide statistics, BLAST hits, signal peptide properties, transmembrane helix presence, DNA and protein sequence. All names, locations, functional annotations, and other fields are searchable, and gene data are accessible from GBrowse genome browser tracks.	69
14	Diagram of binning data pathways and main MCMC iteration loop.	83
15	Log likelihood values of fragments from pairs of species according to models fitted by the classifier. Points' positions on the two axes repre- sent log likelihoods of each fragment according to the first and second model, respectively. A, <i>Helicobacter acinonychis</i> vs. <i>Vibrio fischeri</i> , good separation (98% accuracy, D=1.31); B, <i>Streptococcus pneumoniae</i> vs. <i>Streptococcus pyogenes</i> , poor separation (57% accuracy, D=0.22). Fragment length was 800 in both cases. 500 fragments per species were supplied.	90
16	Sets of 2, 3, 5, 10 genomes were sampled randomly from a set of 1055 completed bacterial chromosomes, and experiments were conducted as described in Materials and Methods. Trials were conducted with 400- and 800-nt long fragments. Classification accuracy for the majority of genome pairs above overall divergence 1 is in the high performance range (accuracy > 0.9), while above divergence 3 accuracy is above 0.9 for over 95% of the trials. Results for Bayesian posterior distribution sampling were not significantly different (Additional file 22)	93
17	Cumulative distributions of pairwise divergences $(D_n)$ between all com- pleted bacterial genomes retrieved from GenBank. Fragment lengths of 400 to 1000 were used to compute $D_n$ . Divergences based on k-mer or- der 2, 3, and 4 are represented in panels A, B, and C, respectively. The vertical cut-off line at $D = 1$ indicates an empirical boundary above which the binning algorithm works with high accuracy. For fragment length 400, over 80% of all randomly selected pairs are observed to have divergences above this line	96
18	Fragment length-dependent performance on 2-species datasets. Same trials as in Figure 16 were performed on a subset of pairs of genomes while varying simulated fragment size from 40 to 1000. The species' characteristics are given in Table 12.	96
19	Fragment ratio-dependent performance on 2-species datasets. Same trials as in Figure 16 were performed on a subset of pairs of genomes while varying species' contributions to the dataset from 2% to 98%. Fragment sizes were fixed at 400 nt (A) and 1000 nt (B). The species' characteristics are given in Table 12	109
	characteristics are given in Table 12	103

20	Convergence dynamics for good accuracy, Mycoplasma capricolum subsp. capricolum ATCC 27343 vs. Campylobacter jejuni subsp. jejuni 81-176 $(D_3 = 2.8)$ . A single MCMC simulation was completed for this pair of genomes as described in Methods. k-mer order 3 model was used with 30000 steps, and expected nucleotide frequencies in accepted models were plotted over time for all independent mono- and dinucleotides in the model. Two starting conditions were compared: uniform ini- tial frequencies (solid line) and frequencies at dataset mean (dashed line). Dotted lines indicate true average frequencies in the constituent species' fragment datasets. Convergence was observed to be substan- tially the same, demonstrating robustness of the algorithm to initial starting conditions. Final model accuracy was $\approx 95\%$ in both cases.	104
21	Convergence dynamics for poor accuracy, <i>Granulibacter bethesdensis</i> <i>CGDNIH1</i> vs. <i>Gluconobacter oxydans</i> $621H$ ( $D_3 = 0.45$ ). Details are identical to Additional file 20, but final model accuracy was $\approx 60\%$ in both cases.	105
22	Pairs and triples of genomes were sampled randomly from a set of 1055 completed bacterial chromosomes, and experiments were conducted using Bayesian posterior distribution sampling on the stationary distribution of the MCMC simulation. The results were found to not be significantly different from those for maximum likelihood sampling (Figure 16).	106
23	Radically different pan and core genome sizes cannot be estimated from sampled genomes. (A) Two species with vastly different true gene distributions: (i) Species A (blue) w/pan genome of $10^5$ genes and core genome of $10^3$ genes; (ii) Species B (green) w/pan genome of $10^7$ genes and core genome of 10 genes. Each genome has 2000 genes randomly chosen from the true gene distribution according to its frequency. (B) The number of genes (y-axis) observed as a function of the number of sampled genomes (x-axis). Note that despite differences in the true distribution, the observed gene distributions are statistically indistinguishable given 100 sampled genomes. For example, there were approximately 2200 genes found in just 1 of 100 genomes for both Species A and Species B. (C) Observed pan genome size as a function of the number of sampled genomes. There is no possibility to extrapolate the true pan genome size from the observed pan genome curves. (D) Observed core genome size as a function of the number of sampled genomes. There is no possibility to extrapolate the true core genome	
	size from the observed core genome curves.	112

- 25 Estimates of mean fluidity converge with increases in the number of sampled genomes. Fluidity was calculated as described in the text given alignment parameters i = 0.74 and c = 0.74. The variance of fluidity is estimated as a total variance, containing both the variance due to subsampling within the sample of genomes, and the variance due to the limited number of sampled genomes. For dependence of fluidity on genomes sampled for the two other sets of alignment parameters in Figure 28, see Figure 27.

113

115

- 27Estimates of fluidity depend on gene alignment parameters that determine the grouping of genes into gene families. We calculated fluidity for each of the 7 species examined in the main text with varying alignment parameter levels of identity (i) and coverage (c). We chose levels such that 0.5 < i < 0.96 and 0.5 < c < 0.96. Computations of  $\varphi$ are based on estimating the fraction of unique genes between any two random genomes. Unsurprisingly, fluidity increases with increases in either *i* or *c*. This increase arises because greater stringency of alignment causes the bioinformatics pipeline algorithm to infer that there are more unique genes. For each of the 7 species examined, genomic fluidity is more sensitive to changes in identity than to changes in coverage. This result suggests the importance of considering the robustness of results derived from bioinformatics pipelines to changes in parameters. Despite the change in fluidity values, the actual value of fluidity is relatively insensitive to changes in alignment parameters so long as neither parameter is greater than approximately 0.8. Hence, in the main text we restrict sensitivity analyses to  $0.5 \le i \le 0.8$  and 0.5 < c < 0.8......
- 28Estimates of mean and standard deviation of fluidity for *B. anthracis* (Ba), E. coli (Ec), and N. meningitidis (Nm). Staph. aureus (Sa), Strep. agalactiae (Sag). Strep. pneumoniae (Spn), and Strep. pyogenes (Spy) as a function of alignment parameters. Although fluidity increases with higher values of identity (i) and coverage (c) (see Figure 27), only three rank-orderings of fluidity (of 5040 possible orderings) are found in 224/225 combinations of alignment parameters. . . . . 120
- 29Fluidity increases with phylogenetic scale such that the fluidity of multiply-resequenced species is in the range of 0.1 - 0.3 and the fluidity of all genomes included in the analysis approaches 1. Each circle represents the relative fluidity at a species (with multiple sequenced genomes) or internal node (the fluidity of all the genomes in the tree below it). Open circles are  $\varphi = 1$  and black circles are  $\varphi = 0$ . The phylogenetic tree of 29 bacterial species was assembled using AM-PHORA [186]. Branch lengths correspond to the average number of amino acid substitutions per position in well-conserved marker genes.

119

121

## SUMMARY

We present research on the design, development and application of algorithms for DNA sequence analysis, with a focus on environmental DNA (metagenomes). We present an overview and primer on algorithm development for bioinformatics of metagenomes; work on frameshift detection in DNA sequencing data; work on a computational pipeline for the analysis of bacterial genomes; work on phylogenetic clustering of metagenomic fragments; and work on estimation of bacterial genome plasticity and diversity.

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Since the development of the first DNA sequencing methods by Sanger, Maxam and Gilbert in the 1970s, the pace of discovery in biology has increased dramatically. The level of biological complexity that can be characterized is steadily rising. In the past decade, sequencing of DNA isolated directly from an environment (instead of a clonal colony of cells) has been added to the arsenal of tools available to biologists. The combined genomes of a community sharing an environment are known as the metagenome, and metagenomics is the science of analyzing these genomes together. Challenges arise from the fact that metagenomes cannot yet be sequenced with the fidelity available with single, isolate genomes.

The rate of progress in the design of computers is famously characterized by Moore's law: the number of transistors that can be placed on an integrated circuit doubles every two years, and the computational power of processors grows correspondingly. This continuous growth has supported dramatic progress in many areas, including biology. For example, computational infrastructure for the human genome project was designed with hardware unavailable at the time, but expected to arrive according to Moore's law.

Since the advent of second generation DNA sequencing technologies, the number of DNA bases produced by one sequencing instrument has increased at a pace which exceeds Moore's law. Combined with the continual increase in the number of DNA sequencing facilities – driven by their increased affordability – the total size of biological databases is growing at a speed far beyond that. For example, in one of the first metagenome sequencing projects, the acid mine drainage dataset was sequenced in 2004 and yielded 80 MB of raw sequence data. In 2010, sequencing of the clinically relevant human gut metagenome yielded over 500 GB of raw sequence data. At the same time, limitations in the speed at which transistors can operate have constrained the performance of a single processor thread, and necessitated parallelization of computer programs. If a decade ago a computer workstation usually contained a single processor, modern workstations contain 2 to 16 general-purpose processor cores and hundreds of smaller, specialized ones.

Despite the increased affordability and massive throughput, second generation sequencing technologies suffer from a reduced average read length compared to first generation, Sanger or capillary sequencing. While this shortcoming will be addressed in third generation technologies soon to enter production use, the large installed user base and continued use of second generation machines will necessitate the ability to analyze these data for many years. Simultaneously, third generation sequencing technologies will offer the ability to observe single-molecule interactions, which will expand the horizons of biological methods yet again. In metagenomes, the improvements will allow higher fidelity, longer fragments to be sequenced.

All of these factors lead to the need to design, update and improve algorithms used for genome and metagenome analysis. In this thesis, we contribute several improvements to the algorithms and software used for metagenome and isolate genome analysis. The tools developed for isolate genomes are also applicable to metagenome data, except for the genome fluidity estimation procedure, which will be adapted to applications on metagenome data in a future work.

#### CHAPTER II

#### ALGORITHM DESIGN IN METAGENOMICS: A PRIMER

This primer is targeted toward beginning graduate students in bioinformatics. Its purpose is to contribute to an understanding of algorithm design and development for metagenomics, present the tools and methods used in bioinformatics and computational biology of metagenomes, and give a brief overview of up-to-date developments in computational metagenomics.

A metagenome is the combined set of genomes of a community of organisms sharing a particular environment. The community may consist of a variety of bacteria, viruses, microscopic eukaryotes, or microorganisms in conjunction with their host.

The earliest examples of metagenome DNA sequencing are surveys of environmental 16S (small ribosomal subunit) DNA [178]. These are covered in more detail in section 2.2.3. In the past five years, the increased affordability and throughput of second generation DNA sequencing has led to a great increase in the number of shotgun sequencing projects of unamplified or whole-genome amplified metagenomic DNA. The data from many of these projects are available in GenBank [19], others are seen only on centralized metagenomic analysis portals, most importantly CAMERA [149], IMG/M [113], and MG-RAST [15].

Shotgun DNA sequencing allows the recovery of a fraction of a metagenome in fragments of 40 to 2000 bases, or paired DNA fragments spaced at up to about 20Kb. Since the advent of DNA sequencing, a sophisticated set of tools has been developed for the analysis of complete or nearly complete genomes [96, 142, 182]. These tools rely on highly accurate finished DNA sequence, consisting of many overlapping reads covering the same locus of a given genome (at least 5x for Sanger sequencing, and higher for second generation sequencing). When forced to operate on short, numerous, low coverage and therefore error-prone DNA fragments, these tools suffer from decreased performance. Many of the algorithms can be adjusted to this increased error rate, while others have to be replaced by different approaches or cannot be applied until third-generation sequencing technologies offer longer read lengths and higher accuracies.

Most early whole-genome sequencing projects concentrated on the sequencing of cultivated isolates implicated in previously characterized diseases or previously selected model organisms. This was appropriate for a number of reasons: such projects are directly medically relevant, scientific inferences about genotype-phenotype connections are much more tractable in isolates, previous knowledge about model organisms could be applied, etc.

For the purpose of answering questions such as "what is the total diversity of biological function in a given natural environment?", "what is the ecological community structure of organisms in a given environment?", "what is the evolutionary history of microbes in an environment, considering horizontal gene transfer?", and "how diverse and plastic are the genomes of bacteria of the same species in a natural community?", the sequencing of cultivated isolates has a number of shortcomings. First, most of these isolates are selected by their anthropic interest. Second, only isolates which could be cultivated are sequenced, leaving microbes with complex or unknown nutritional requirements unsequenced. Third, cultivated isolates undergo bottleneck effects which obscure the amount of diversity and plasticity of their genomes in the environment; in effect, the mere fact of using an isolate insulates the observer from detecting quasispecies states and horizontal gene transfer effects which can occur in the wild. Direct sequencing of metagenomes can address all of these drawbacks, while creating new challenges in the process. Comparative analysis of genomes is the most powerful way of elucidating biological function of DNA sequences. With metagenomes, comparative analysis can be performed between or within samples: between, for spatial or temporal diversity, and within, for strain-level diversity or comparative abundance of strains or quasispecies within an environment.

Current metagenomic data are characterized by incompleteness, low coverage, and high error rate compared to isolate data, which makes them much harder to analyze. We will first describe the analysis tasks in metagenomics in light of a hypothetical situation where these shortcomings are mitigated, and then cover each area in more detail to explain the mitigation strategies and challenges. The full process is outlined in Figure 1.

## 2.1 Overview of metagenome analysis

While future metagenomic analyses will include experimental techniques such as cell sorting [190] and longer read lengths [55], currently most metagenomic data appears as short, relatively error-prone contigs (contiguous fragments which consist of multiple reads) and single reads of size ranging from 50 bp (single microreads) to a few Kbp (large assembled contigs from abundant metagenome constituents). Gene annotation in such DNA is feasible [77, 192] but problematic given the possibility of frameshifts [81] in the coding region. A number of practical strategies are used to mitigate this. Two recent frameshift detection algorithms, one covered in Chapter 3 of this thesis, the other published by Antonov et al. [14], can be used to annotate likely frameshifts and speculatively correct them in silico or otherwise consider them. Quality values emitted by the sequencer for each base in the read or assembled contig can be used to filter possible frameshift or low-fidelity locations. The two approaches can be integrated together, although we are not aware of such an implementation.

Cell sorting techniques offer the ability to sequence amplified DNA from one cell

at a time [184] or unamplified DNA from clonal populations of cells. Currently, the sequencing of a large number of individual cells' genomes is still out of reach due to technological limitations, but this problem will be overcome with further throughput enhancements. Without cell sorting, assembly of metagenome reads must be configured to account for the danger of chimeras – DNA fragments which overlap and align together but come from different strains or species. In well-conserved genes such as the 16S small ribosomal subunit gene, long overlaps with perfect alignment may be produced by reads from different hosts, which may later be diagnosed by incongruent alignment patterns against a rRNA database (e.g. [48]), but may go undiagnosed and lead to erroneous inferences.

The final stage of a whole-genome sequencing project is the process of finishing – joining the gaps which remain between assembled reads and ensuring that every base in the genome has been sequenced a minimum number of times and the level of consensus between different reads covering that base is high (polishing). This task is currently close to impossible on metagenomes, where average coverage is low, gaps are abundant and long, and total diversity of the sample is unknown. Even if a particular metagenome constituent can be assembled to the level where finishing is possible, the process of gap closing requires targeted amplification of the regions containing the gaps, which may be impossible in a metagenomic sample.

Biological inferences from a microorganism's genome are usually made by comparing its genes against a database of genes, proteins and protein domains with known functions, then reconstructing metabolic networks using known connections between these genes. This task is much harder when the genome data is incomplete and no certainty exists that it came from the same strain. With gaps in the reconstructed gene network, only partial inferences or certain types of inferences can be made. However, different types of inferences are possible: metabolic networks can be recovered from the metagenome as a whole, without regard to which host each constituent gene



Figure 1: The metagenome analysis workflow.

came from, uncovering mutualism or other relationships between the constituents. Similarly, comparative analysis can be done over different environmental conditions and time series without regard to the hosts that the fragments belong to.

# 2.2 Major computational tasks in metagenome analysis2.2.1 Assembly

After DNA is sequenced, the first step in traditional genome analysis is sequence assembly. The output of this stage is a set of DNA fragment sequences (contigs) with associated quality scores for each position (as estimated by the sequencing machine on the basis of signal strength for each read and the level of consensus between multiple reads) and linkages between contigs (scaffolds) derived from mate pair or paired end reads. If the sequencing run had sufficient performance and coverage of the material, the contigs cover a large majority of the input genetic material (usually 95-99% of bacterial isolates and similar percentages of BACs or similar constructs into which large genomes are partitioned for sequencing). However, there remain gaps where the input sequence is not covered by the contigs, and the full ordering of the contigs is not always certain. Gaps may also arise from positions with uncertainty due to repetitive regions with no reads spanning their entire length. These gaps and regions of low quality are processed semi-manually in a stage called finishing, where targeted PCR reactions are designed to span the gaps, or more sequencing is performed, sometimes using a combination of technologies.

This standard sequence assembly protocol is not fully applicable to metagenomic data. Many researchers do apply standard assembly algorithms to metagenome samples. This may be appropriate for situations where constituent genomes in the metagenome have dissimilar sequence content, and the intrinsic sequencing error rate is low, but when these conditions are not met, this approach risks the assembly of chimeras (combinations of reads from different clonal populations). At the same time, the relatively low average coverage of the metagenome results in a higher sequencing error rate than seen in isolate sequencing projects. Single-read sequencing errors can be subdivided into 3 types: insertions, deletions, and substitutions. Substitutions of single nucleotides can lead to incorrect knowledge about the identity of an amino acid in a protein encoded by the locus involved, modify the conformance to the expected sequence of a regulatory element, or cause a read to be erroneously considered as evidence for a new variant of this locus. Rarely, they can also introduce an erroneous stop codon that will break up an open reading frame encoded at the locus. Insertions and deletions of nucleotides can cause frameshifts in ORFs encoded at the locus, resulting in two ORFs with incomplete genes or one truncated ORF (the other one being too short to plausibly contain a gene), or they can lead to the same consequences as substitutions. Substitutions, insertions and deletions are also referred to as miscalls, overcalls and undercalls, respectively.

Sequencer and assembly outputs contain quality values (QVs) for each position,

which estimate the confidence in the nucleotide called at the position using the signal strength and error model of the sequencer. These values are normally used for assembly, where they help in calling the correct consensus nucleotide at each position using discordant information from multiple reads. They can also be used to mask or disregard positions in single reads of a metagenome, but high QVs are not a guarantee of an error-free read. Also, some error types, like undercalls or overcalls at DNA homopolymer positions (repeats of a single nucleotide), are not evenly distributed in the sequence due to error biases in the sequencing instrument. Assembly correction algorithms such as frameshift detection can be used to mitigate insertions and deletions (see Chapter 3), but again perfect accuracy cannot be expected. Thus many analyses based on the accuracy and full length of gene models, detection of polymorphism, etc. must be performed with an understanding of how the significance levels of their findings can be evaluated.

To reduce the likelihood of chimeric contigs, metagenomic binning can be applied before assembly [175, 62, 183]. Binning is the task of separating reads or contigs in the metagenome by their phylogenetic or functional origin. A trade-off must be considered when applying metagenomic binning and assembly. Binning methods are highly sensitive to the length and error rate of the read being sequenced, with binning accuracy and power increasing geometrically with length of the read, so assembly is desirable before binning; but assembly before binning is prone to chimeric results. One solution is to try using only high confidence settings or low error rate binning algorithms at this stage. Assembly can then be run on sequences which are predicted to come from the same phyla, but strain-level or even higher level variation may still result in chimeric contigs (although strain-level chimeras may in some cases be preferable to shorter, less informative contigs). A more granular, possibly less accurate binner can then be run on the assembled data. In large metagenomes, this process can be repeated iteratively, applying progressively more sensitive assembly and binning thresholds until no more progress is seen in either step.

If the composition of the metagenome is known at least partially, for instance as a result of initial binning, multiple reference sequences can be supplied to the assembler for mapping [144]. Reads in the metagenome are then partitioned into two groups: those which accurately map to the reference sequences and those which do not, and the unmapped reads are independently assembled de novo into contigs of novel origin. However, this approach runs the risk of supplying references which are similar but not identical to the strains present in the metagenome, leading to incorrect assemblies; and it cannot be applied to constituent species whose genomes have not been seen before or for which no authoritative reference sequences exist.

Another approach to the problem of intertwined assembly and binning is to integrate the two processes. In addition to aligning reads and deriving chains of overlapping reads or k-mers, an assembly algorithm would also cluster reads and use binner-like probabilistic or heuristic methods to determine which reads should not be overlapped together due to suspicion of coming from multiple sources.

Finally, similar to the step of removing highly over-represented k-mers as one of the first steps in isolate genome assembly, metagenomic assembly may need to discount regions which align to sequences that are highly repetitive in other genomes, or are highly evolutionarily constrained, since they may provide paths from one source's reads to another's, resulting in chimeras.

Because different metagenomes can have very different depth of coverage, strainand species-level diversity, enrichment bias, and instrument error profiles, the best way to assess assembler performance is to model these different parameters in synthetic datasets and check the quality of resulting assembly, then adjust assembler parameters and heuristics [139].

#### 2.2.2 Binning

Metagenomic binning algorithms cluster or assign labels to genomic fragments collected from a metagenome. Strictly speaking, the task of binning refers to clustering of reads into distinct groups, and phylogenetic classification or categorization refers to assignment of phylogenetic labels in conjunction to or separately from binning. Less often, binning and categorization is done using functional criteria, for example by homology with a gene with known metabolic function, regardless of the diversity of strains from which the matches came from.

Machine learning algorithms are classified into three categories: supervised, semisupervised, and unsupervised. Supervised algorithms use a set of labeled training data to build their model, then apply it to unlabeled input data. Semi-supervised algorithms use both labeled and unlabeled data to build the model. Unsupervised algorithms use no labeled data and build their model directly from the unlabeled input data.

Generally, supervised or semi-supervised algorithms can assign phylogenetic labels while binning, using labels that were given with their training data, and unsupervised algorithms cannot assign labels – they must be assigned using a post-processing step or with another algorithm.

On the feature space level, binning algorithms can be subdivided as homology based (those which use nucleotide or translated protein alignment to a database of reference sequences) and composition-based (those which use statistical patterns in distributions of short subsequences).

When a metagenome constituent is closely related to a previously sequenced isolate, homology-based methods offer the highest power for its detection and classification [29, 83]. However, when reads in the metagenome sample come from an uncharacterized species, and no close homologs exist in the database, homology-based methods cannot provide any meaningful information. This situation creates a duality of applications, and combination-based methods [29] have been created to address it.

As demonstrated in [29], methods based on a combination of homology-based and composition-based binning have superior performance to methods based on just one type of binning. This is because supervised composition-based methods can recover relationships between sequences when sequence database coverage is insufficient to produce a homology-based match. Similarly, we hypothesize that unsupervised composition-based methods can enhance performance where supervised compositionbased methods fail to produce a close match, by clustering unclassified or incompletely classified reads into putative operational taxonomic units. We cover an example implementation of this approach at the end of the next section.

Regular BLAST alignments with tabulation of top-scoring hits can be used for binning and work acceptably well when the species of all constituents of the metagenome are characterized. When metagenome constituents have a moderate level of divergence from genomes in the database, MEGAN [83] provides a significant improvement by assessing confidence of assignment through last common ancestor determination. This yields an estimate of the most detailed classification that can be derived with confidence from the phylogenetic tree given the reference genomes available.

In addition to BLAST and MEGAN, profile hidden Markov model-based protein family alignment [91, 148] has also been proposed as another type of homology-based binning.

A large variety of algorithms has been applied in the task of composition-based binning. So far, uses of support vector machines [115], HMM and IMM-derived statistics [168, 29], Markov chain Monte Carlo simulations (see Chapter 5), seeded growing self-organized maps [34], principal component analysis with spectral clustering [36], and k-nearest neighbor clustering [50] have been published. Further discussion of issues in metagenomic binning is given in Chapter 5.

#### 2.2.3 Phylotyping and phylogeny reconstruction

The earliest methods in computational DNA sequence analysis [181] are applications of multiple alignments of the small subunit (16S) rRNA-coding gene to phylogeny reconstruction. Multiple sequence alignment and subsequent tree-building methods work best on well-conserved sequences with known patterns of selective pressure at each position. In addition to 16S rRNA for bacterial phylogenies, other well-conserved genes such as Rho and HSP70 in prokaryotes [73] and cytochrome c in eukaryotes have been identified in efforts to increase the resolution and confidence of the phylogenies. A set of genes present in almost all sequenced bacterial species has been identified [186] for this purpose. Further, where widespread marker genes provide insufficient resolution for strain-level phylogenies, multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) [107] uses concatenated interior segments of sets of up to ten genes, customized for strain typing within each species. When sequencing sexually reproducing organisms' genomes, or mixes of clonal populations of asexual organisms, haplotype or strain-level diversity analysis is now routinely performed by analyzing repeat clusters or single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the assembly. Finally, whole-genome alignment based methods of phylogeny reconstruction attempt to use alignments of as many components of the genomes as possible. On the other hand, the possibility of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) in unicellular organisms confounds this analysis, making per-gene phylogenies differ from one another in a given pair of genomes. This phenomenon can be addressed in two ways: one, the construction of reticulate trees (phylogenetic networks) to approximate the amount of HGT between the genomes; and two, the identification of genomic regions from a putative core genome, operationally defined in this context as a set of constitutive genes shared between members of the tree, such as the 16S or MLST genes above but possibly broader in scope.

Most levels of analysis described above can be applied to metagenomic data as a form of diversity estimation. Due to low coverage of most loci, and correspondingly

Referenc	e	GCAGCTACAATCTGAGGCTCAGCTCCATCCCCGGAACGATGCC-GCGCAAGGATATTGAAA
Reads	>	GCAGCTACAATCTGAAGCTCTGCTACATCCC
	>	GCAGCTACAATCTGAAGCTCTGCTACATCCCCGGAACGATGCCCG
	>	GCAGCTACAATCTGAAGCTCAGCTACATC-CCGGAACGATGCC-GCGCAAGGATATTG
	<	GCAGCTACAATCTGAGGCTCTGCTACATCCCCGGAACGATGCC-GCGCAAGGATATTGAAA
	<	TACAATCTGAAGCTCAGCTACATCCCCGGAACGATGCC-GCGCAAGGATATTGAAA
	<	TCTGAAGCTCAGCTACATCCCCGGAACGATGCC-GCGCAAGGATATTG-AA
		*!^* * ?

**Figure 2:** Example consensus determination problem in shotgun DNA sequence. Each row in the "Reads" pane represents a shotgun sequencing read mapped against a reference genome. (\*) Likely sequencing errors. (!) Likely single-nucleotide polymorphism within sample. (^) Likely single-nucleotide polymorphism with respect to reference. (?) Ambiguous case.

high error rate in the reported sequence, this analysis must take into consideration the error model or quality values of the sequencing instrument. Many metagenome sequencing projects conduct 16S rRNA surveys (based on selective amplification of only the 16S genes) to estimate overall diversity. This can be done either as a pilot stage before or in parallel to whole genome amplification-based sequencing, or on its own when the aim is only to estimate total diversity in the sample.

2.2.3.1 Example: Consensus base calling with phylotyping (variant calling).

Consider a sequencer error model in which the probability of erroneous report with an insertion of base X is  $k_X \epsilon$ , the probability of deletion is  $kD_X \epsilon$ , and the probability of substitution of base X for Y is  $kS_{XY}\epsilon$ , where  $\epsilon$  is the quality value reported by the base caller (itself a function of a signal processing pipeline which gauges signal-to-noise ratio in the read) and k are coefficients derived by observing error characteristics of the sequencer in multiple alignments of its reads to known reference. The base caller is a program which interprets signal values from the sequencer and predicts (calls) the most likely nucleobases which produced the signals. (Sequencer error rates are also context-dependent, however we will omit this consideration for simplicity; the base caller may also have already taken this dependency into account when computing the quality value. For a hypothetical example of this situation, see Figure 2.) The coefficients above will first be used in multiple sequence alignment of the reads. Assume after the alignment a total of 8 reads cover the position where the base call is being made, with quality values  $Q = [q_1, \ldots q_8] = [40, 32, 30, 34, 35, 28, 4, 37]$  (where the expectation of the base being wrong is defined as  $10^{-\frac{q}{10}}$ ) and the base predictions of the reads at the position are p = [A, A, T, A, T, G, T, T]. Then the probability of an A being one of the variants is estimated as

$$P_A = \prod_{i \in [1,8]} P(r_i \in H_A) k S_{p_i A} \tag{1}$$

To estimate the most likely combination of haplotypes, all combinations of assignments of reads to haplotypes need to be evaluated. However, this task is  $O(n^2)$  in the number of reads at the position, so a more efficient solution is used. Most possible combinations of haplotypes (e.g., those whose nucleotides are not already present in the alignment column) can be immediately discarded because their probability will never rise above the threshold for calling.

#### 2.2.3.2 Example

. We now provide an example design of a phylogenetically guided ensemble decision tree classifier. This approach can be adapted to use multiple instances of the same type of binary classifier, such as SVM, or to use combined outputs of instances of multiple classifiers (this technique is referred to as stacking or blending).

The guiding principle behind this classification scheme will be to recursively subdivide the input sequences into sets by phylogenetic origin by running a binary classifier at each node in the phylogenetic guide tree from the root down. The phylogenetic guide tree is a subset of the full phylogenetic tree of all sequenced genomes, retrieved by mining the metagenome for gene sequences usable as opportunistic phylogenetic markers. We define opportunistic phylogenetic markers as sequences which can provide with high confidence the assignment of the read they belong to in the overall phylogenetic tree.

The recursive subdivision of the dataset according to the tree structure is done in an effort to avoid introducing conflicting data from models in the other parts of the tree and to avoid "confusing" online self-training or semi-supervised algorithms by not running diverse data through them, which helps to avoid overfitting (also, this serves to obtain a performance advantage compared to schemes which run all reads through classifiers for all nodes). However, this design also increases vulnerability to misclassification since any read directed down a wrong branch by any one classifier will end up misclassified and may confound online models. This can be countered by checking the consistency of the classification and blending the outputs of different classifiers together.

The algorithm will proceed as follows. First, we will use a BLASTN search (TBLASTX could also be used) using the metagenome reads as the query and the non-redundant database (nr), possibly restricted to microorganisms or prokaryotes, depending on our expectations of constituents in the metagenome. Then, we will construct a phylogeny of species containing the hits in the database in a manner similar to MEGAN, but using an automatically built complete tree of life like the one built in AMPHORA, as opposed to a tree based on the NCBI taxonomy database. We will gauge the uniqueness of the top-scoring hit for each metagenome fragment and if the next best hit is not sufficiently less likely (using a heuristic cutoff), the species containing that hit will also be included in the tree.

Next, we will use the resulting phylogenetic guide tree and associated complete genomes to provide training sets for the binary classifiers that will be instantiated at each internal node of the tree. For example, the root of the tree has two branches which subdivide it into two sets of nodes. The binary classifier is trained on data from one set labeled with label 1, and data from the other labeled with label 2. The performance of the classifier is then checked using cross-validation on the training sets fragmented with length distributions similar to those seen in the metagenome, and if no convergence occurs, the node is highlighted as unreliable or collapsed with a nearby node for lower-granularity classification.

More than one binary classifier can be used at each node, and non-binary classifiers can be used in binary mode. To combine outputs of the classifiers together, we can use a Bayesian belief network trained together with the classifiers, e.g., given the outputs of three classifiers, gsom1, svm1, and mcmc1, the combiner may use a function

$$P(r_x \in b_1) = \prod_{clas=gsom1, svm1, mcmc1} P(r_x \in b_1 | o_{clas}) P(o_{clas})$$
(2)

where  $r_x$  is read with index x,  $b_1$  is the branch with index 1, and  $o_{clas}$  is the output of classifier *clas*.

Moreover, classifiers can be excluded if their performance is consistently low at a certain node (or they achieve no convergence in training).

Note that  $o_{clas}$  may be either a categorical or continuous variable, where a noncategorical value is the output of the likelihood function used by the classifier *clas*. Using this function, we can estimate the confidence of assignment for every metagenome read at every node. If the confidence is below a heuristic cutoff, we can stop subsequent classification and report assignment only down to the current node, reflecting a more coarse phylogenetic assignment.

#### 2.2.4 Metabolic pathway reconstruction

Many metagenome sequencing projects have a goal of recovering the metabolic pathways present in constituents of the metagenome as a way to functionally characterize the community whose metagenome is being analyzed, e.g. [17]. In fact, the combined
analysis of DNA from many hosts, together with an enrichment or amplification strategy that can reflect the relative abundance of DNA coding for the metabolic process of interest (or transcriptome analysis), offers power beyond what sequencing of isolates can provide.

Current projects usually focus on subdivision of genetic material according to GO or EC term assignment based on homology, a form of functional binning. These hits can then be used to map onto a known metabolic network using, for example, the KEGG database [87] and highlight a particular pathway. Coverage and relative abundance of pathway components (both in terms of number of genes covered and the coverage of individual genes by reads) is taken as indication of relative abundance of metabolic activity. cDNA and EST studies (metatranscriptome sequencing) are also employed for this purpose [70, 16, 61, 65, 66].

#### 2.2.5 Gene prediction and annotation

Protein-coding gene prediction is a key step in any genome analysis pipeline. This task is made much harder in metagenome assemblies since fragments may contain ORFs truncated from one or both sides and low coverage makes frameshift errors more likely. Gene predictors developed with the expectation of low error rate sequence can still be used with considerable success [192], but three updates are desirable. First, gene prediction models which incorporate frameshift detection, as opposed to using a post-processing step for frameshift prediction, can increase sensitivity and overall accuracy on short fragments. Second, models which can fit the statistical model of the coding frame accurately on very small amounts of training data can also increase sensitivity. Models which can take into account long k-mer statistics, such as the IMMs used in Glimmer [46], are more suitable for this task. Third, metagenomic gene prediction algorithms need to be tuned to call genes in truncated ORFs.

#### 2.2.6 Technology advancement

Many metagenome sample analysis methods in use today will change and be replaced by other methods as the technology progresses. As mentioned in the introduction, cell sorting followed by amplification-free sequencing with very long read lengths will eventually become the method of choice for all genomic sequence analysis, but the progress toward this goal will be gradual and may take a decade or more. In the meantime, many techniques like the ones covered here will need to be employed to deal with the imperfect data.

Strobe read based analysis [141] is a new technology that extends the concept of paired reads and mate pairs to sequencing of multiple subreads from single contiguous fragments of DNA, potentially up to tens of kilobases in total length. This works by allowing a single polymerase molecule to sequence a long segment of DNA and observing it at staggered time intervals to mitigate the photodamage effects of continuous observation. This technique is very useful for repeat region traversal and scaffolding of low-complexity regions; it also offers a big advantage for metagenomes where it can serve as a scaffolding tool to aid binning of metagenomic fragments. In the long term, single-molecule sequencing of very long stretches of DNA is feasible, since it has been shown in vivo that a single polymerase can replicate the entire multi-megabase genome in some species. This will eliminate the need for binning as it is performed now, since very long reads with very long overlaps will allow easy assembly of clonal or almost identical populations and precise diversity analysis.

# 2.3 Algorithmic techniques

Next, we will outline the paradigms prevalent in algorithm design for metagenome sequence analysis and note some specific implementations and considerations.

#### 2.3.1 Feature selection

The task of elucidation of biological function from DNA, RNA and protein sequences lends itself to applications of machine learning algorithms and probabilistic modeling techniques. Many types of machine learning algorithms and probabilistic modeling techniques are applicable to biological sequences. In many cases, however, one must first decide the feature space on which the algorithms will operate, and the feature selection process becomes key to the algorithms' performance. For example, nucleotide k-mer statistics are used extensively in both gene finding and metagenomic binning. Sequence GC content is a k-mer statistic of first order, and it is widely known that distributions of nucleotide triplets (corresponding to codons when aligned with a protein coding frame) contain information usable for both of these tasks. Beyond that, meaningful over- and underabundances of nucleotide subsequences can be observed at much higher lengths [46]. However, any attempt to infer expected distributions of raw k-mers of length k > 5 runs into a shortage of data, because the length of an average bacterial genome is on the order of 5e6 nucleotides.

To avoid the shortage of data, we can use feature selection frameworks that select a subset of all k-mers that are over- or underrepresented in the data and are present in sufficient quantity to make their frequency estimate reliable. One such framework is principal component analysis (PCA), which selects linear combinations of features to explain variance in the sample; another is independent component analysis, which recovers coefficients of a linear combination of independent factors assumed to govern the process. More generally, a diversity of techniques can be used for nonlinear dimensionality reduction of the feature space. For example, the interpolated Markov model framework used in [46] effectively searches through the feature space of all possible gapped k-mer motifs of length up to 12 with 3 wildcards by default and selects those motifs with the best mutual information with the position of interest as features for the protein coding sequence model. The interpolated Markov model is a modification of the hidden Markov model (HMM), widely used in DNA sequence alignment and feature prediction because the one-dimensional DNA sequence lends itself naturally to Markov models. When used for gene prediction, HMMs must either be modified to work as 3-periodic Markov models, to properly model the statistical distributions at the 3 codon positions, or must emit one symbol per nucleotide triplet. HMMs belong to the family of dynamic Bayesian networks and are particularly useful because of the efficient dynamic programming algorithms (Viterbi, forward-backward, and Baum-Welch algorithms) that exist for computing the most likely parameters of the model given the data and scoring the data according to the model (i.e., training and evaluation of the model). A more general type of dynamic Bayesian network algorithm is the conditional random field (CRF), which relaxes the uniformity constraints of HMMs and allows more flexible probability models, but loses the ability to use efficient training algorithms available for HMMs.

While unsupervised or semi-supervised machine learning algorithms will struggle with the curse of dimensionality (a term describing the exponential increase in the size of the search space with linear increase in the number of dimensions of data – usually equivalent to the number of features), many supervised algorithms are designed to work with high-dimensional data and select the relevant dimensions, i.e. they contain embedded feature selection algorithms. For example, artificial neural network training algorithms can be used to select relevant features from the input feature set. Support vector machines produce a coordinate transformation and dimension ranking as part of their model that can also be used for feature selection. For categorical data on which a topology and a distance metric cannot be naturally established, such as nucleotide k-mers, a random or annealed coordinate space reduction followed by use of information criteria such as AIC or BIC is possible. Alternatively, when using regression frameworks, a vector of regressor variables can be used to establish a topology on the space; the topology selection itself can be done through a random search guided by a minimum mutual information or maximum variance criterion.

Given categorical data, and especially with small or unavailable training sets, self-training clustering algorithms (also known as density estimators) can be used to reveal patterns in data. We discuss one application of clustering in Chapter 5.

#### 2.3.2 Randomized and approximation algorithms

Randomized algorithms employ a random search through the space of possible model parameters. Randomized algorithms are used extensively in computational biology. The Markov Chain Monte Carlo family of algorithms is particularly well adaptable to DNA sequence data. One such algorithm is Gibbs sampling, which finds the optimal joint distribution of the parameters of the model given the data by varying one parameter at a time, iterating through all parameters repetitively. Another algorithm is Metropolis-Hastings, a more general strategy similar to Gibbs sampling, which allows changing (perturbing) all of the model parameters at once.

The expectation-maximization algorithm is another model estimation technique, used when only the general model structure is known but no estimates of the parameters can be given. Its structure is similar to that of the Gibbs sampling algorithm, but without randomization at each step; only at random restarts of the algorithm. In each iteration, EM first determines the probability distribution of assignments of models to data, then re-estimates parameters of the models given the assignments.

Approximation algorithms avoid directly searching for the optimal solution to the problem at hand, which is usually NP-complete or NP-hard, but instead look for a solution guaranteed to satisfy an approximation guarantee and to have a bounded difference from the optimal solution. For example, algorithms on string overlap graphs used in sequence assembly solve Hamiltonian path or Eulerian path problems, but yield approximate solutions only.

#### 2.3.3 String processing

A family of string processing algorithms is widely applied to the problem of fast non-exact sequence mapping and assembly which is at the core of shotgun genome sequencing assemblers and mappers. The naive problem of comparing all pairs of sequences against each other to find their overlaps is  $O(n^2)$  in the number of sequences (where the comparisons themselves are pairwise sequence alignment problems) and  $O(n^2)$  in the space required to store the matches, but if an index of short subsequences (k-mers, normally lengths of 8-32 nucleotides are used) is first constructed for all reads, the complexity is reduced to  $O(n \log n)$  in time and O(n) in space. This index is usually stored in a data structure called a suffix array. The overlap finding problem is then solved by finding co-occurrences of k-mers within pairs of reads. This requires perfect matches of a minimal length, which constrains the sensitivity to inexact matches somewhat but can usually be adjusted to obtain sensitivity beyond that required not to miss any matches.

A number of other techniques are commonly used to prevent the suffix array from consuming too much memory. Highly overrepresented k-mers are indicative of repetitive regions, and are not useful for overlap detection since other information must be used to distinguish true overlaps from repeats of a common subsequence. Such k-mers can be pruned or filtered from the index. Compressed suffix arrays use neighbor functions and adaptive coding to reduce the space requirement. The Burrows-Wheeler transform is used to permute characters in the reads into a pattern-grouping, more easily compressible string which retains the positional substring information for matching [31, 102]. The Ferragina-Manzini transform achieves even better theoretical results by combining the BWT and suffix array construction processes [154]. Locality improvements to suffix arrays are possible [155]. These allow even huge arrays which must be stored on disk to be accessed in a more linear manner, reducing seek-related penalties on rotational disks. While these algorithms are of most importance in de



Figure 3: The metagenomics algorithm development toolkit.

novo assembly of large genomes using short reads, they are applicable to all shotgun sequencing datasets, in particular metagenome datasets.

Metabolic and regulatory pathway modeling is a well-developed field in isolate genome analysis; module-finding techniques [167, 84, 158, 125, 72, 52, 166, 101] [103] and network alignment techniques [75, 131, 41, 191, 180] are used to analyze proteinprotein interaction networks and metabolic networks, which are constructed experimentally, predictively by homology, or by de novo predictions of molecular interactions. These models can be applied directly to metagenome data with the understanding that the pathway may span multiple organisms and the predictions may have reduced power compared to isolate genomes, in particular because of missing data which may lead to incomplete reconstruction of the pathway. In particular, a popular type of analysis evaluates gene abundance with the expectation that overrepresented genes are responsible for dominant metabolic processes; this is more biologically justified when analyzing environmental mRNA samples (metatranscriptomes).

### 2.4 Toolkit

Development of bioinformatics algorithms is much easier and faster if an appropriate set of tools is used. Accumulation of knowledge about existing software and algorithms is a time-consuming task, and it is therefore important to take advantage of software repositories, review articles, up-to-date texts and online community resources. Some components of the toolkit are illustrated in Figure 3; we cover them in more detail below.

The choice of programming language is one of the first questions facing a developer. Historically, Perl has been very popular in bioinformatics, due to its sophisticated string handling capabilities and other features. However, since it is an interpreted language, Perl is not suitable for high performance implementations of algorithms. Therefore a common pattern has been to prototype software in Perl and then write the high performance implementation in C or C++, often with a Perl wrapper for auxiliary tasks such as option parsing, I/O format conversion, thread and resource setup and teardown, Web interfaces, etc. Other languages that have been popular for bioinformatics programming include Python and Java. Correspondingly, popular general-purpose bioinformatics libraries exist for these languages: BioPerl [161], BioPython [42] and BioJava.

Description of the basic computer science skills necessary for algorithm design is outside the scope of this review, but a number of textbooks [8, 43] can provide key reference material. Beyond the core concepts covered in these texts, important aspects of commodity hardware architecture must be taken into account to maximize algorithm performance potential.

Many bioinformatics workflows are easily parallelizable. Two levels of parallel computing are available in commodity hardware. All modern workstation and server CPUs contain multiple cores, meaning that more than one processor is available. Taking advantage of parallelization is often as easy as dividing the input data into equal parts using a simple workload manager and launching multiple instances of the worker thread. More sophisticated approaches can include a dispatch thread feeding data to worker threads, or a fully integrated multi-threaded program using a popular threading and parallelization API such as POSIX Threads, MPI or OpenMP. Also, new parallel programming frameworks are emerging [4, 6, 11]. These frameworks manage the complexity associated with shared data structures and thread communication in parallel programming, reducing the likelihood of hard-to-diagnose concurrency bugs.

The second common level of parallelization is seen in cluster computing. Commodity server hardware, usually running the Linux operating system, is organized into clusters of multiple nodes. A common hardware configuration in 2010 included 10 or more compute nodes with 2 CPU sockets each, providing up to 16 cores per node and 1 to 2 GB of RAM per core. The clusters are usually driven by a head node, which provides networked storage, scheduler and workload manager software. This configuration provides 160 cores and, with well-parallelizable workloads, a corresponding speed-up compared to single-core or single-node execution.

Another, new level of massive parallelization is seen in the field of general-purpose graphical processing unit (GPGPU) computing. This technology, advanced by NVIDIA under the name CUDA (Compute Unified Device Architecture), uses hundreds of small compute cores on a chip that is normally dedicated to high performance 3D graphics. While the cores are less powerful and have more limitations than CPU cores, there are many of them (128 to 512 cores in a common configuration) and they share massive bandwidth to their memory. A special software development kit, including a custom C/C++ compiler and parallel programming libraries, is necessary to compile code for this platform. Some bioinformatics tasks can achieve 50x speedup compared to CPU execution [172], and the theoretical maximum speedup is higher.

Finally, an important option for the infrastructure for computationally intensive tasks is cloud computing. This option allows the developer to rent resources on a vendor-supplied compute infrastructure, customize this setup according to the requirements, and dynamically scale it up and down with load. This can remove the time and resource requirements for maintaining one's own computing infrastructure. This technology can be coupled with virtual machines, which are partitions of a physical computer set up to provide independent instances of the operating system to different users of the computer. From a bioinformatics software engineering standpoint, a virtual machine that is uploaded to the cloud and launched there allows one to configure the computing environment once and then deploy it remotely anywhere without worrying about potential incompatibilities and dependencies of the software being deployed on the remote OS. However, an important caveat with cloud computing is that large datasets such as raw sequencing data must first be transferred over the network to the cloud resource, and if the network connection is slow or expensive, it becomes the rate limiting step in either speed or cost effectiveness of analysis.

#### 2.4.1 Testing and validation

The development of accurate machine learning and inference algorithms relies on the availability of "gold standard" data to train, test and validate the algorithms. With metagenomes in particular, this data has been hard to obtain, because no affordable methods exist to separate metagenome constituents for individual sequencing or ensure their complete sequencing. Therefore, most efforts to create metagenomic test sets have focused on the estimation of sampling parameters inherent in DNA amplification and shotgun sequencing, and application of these parameters to isolate genome sequencing data in artificial mixing scenarios. One effort [114] constructs artificial metagenomes from individual reads of isolate genome projects. Another effort [139] simulates metagenome samples from completed isolate genomes. A new project [121] experimentally quantifies the amplification bias and sequencing parameters of the metagenome of an artificial community whose constituents are known and have been previously sequenced.

#### 2.4.2 Conclusion

The amount and scope of data to be analyzed in the fields of bioinformatics and computational biology is increasing at a much faster pace than the number of available experts and new graduates. This presents an interesting challenge of knowledge management and productivity improvement. Fittingly, this is more true in metagenomics than in isolate genomics, since the estimated number of distinct species in various environments is measured in thousands, and the number of data points in time and spatial surveys of metagenomes is steadily rising. We hope that knowledge of the methods described in this chapter will enable the reader to successfully analyze such datasets and create tools which can be useful to the larger scientific community.

Major tasks	Common approaches	Algorithmic tech-	Citations
		niques	
Assembly	Overlap-Layout-	BW transform; FM	[119, 118, 116,
	Consensus; De Bruijn	transform; Suffix ar-	106, 102, 154]
	graphs	rays; Index compres-	-
		sion	
Binning	Pairwise alignment K-	Classifier algorithms	[29, 83, 148, 115,
	mer frequency spaces		34], Chapter 5
Phylotyping and	Multiple alignment;	Tree-building meth-	[186, 30, 56]
phylogeny recon-	Evolutionary model-	ods; Multiple align-	
struction	ing; Marker selection	ment methods	
Metabolic path-	Pairwise alignment;	Network motif search;	[167, 84, 158,
way reconstruc-	Comparison to known	Graph/network align-	125, 72, 52, 166,
tion	networks/pathways;	ment	101 $[103]$ $[75,$
	Functional assign-		131, 41, 191, 180]
	ment		
Gene prediction	Pairwise alignment;	HMM, IMM; Motif	[46, 24, 192, 176,
and annotation	Self-training gene	search; Codon bias	108]
	prediction	modeling	
Technology	Single-molecule,		[55, 141]
advancement	Strobe, Single-cell,		
	Amplification-free,		
	DNA modification		
	sequencing		

 ${\bf Table \ 1:} \ {\rm Task-approach \ matrix:} \ {\rm metagenome \ analysis \ tasks.}$ 

# CHAPTER III

# FRAMESHIFT DETECTION

Next generation sequencing technologies accelerate genome sequence data acquisition, but introduce a higher risk of sequencing errors. Frameshift detection can reduce the overall cost of microbial genome finishing in whole-genome sequencing projects and decrease the error rate in metagenomic sequences. We have developed a combination of ab initio and alignment-based algorithms for frameshift detection, which can aid sequencing quality control. This unsupervised algorithm focuses on discrimination of frameshifts caused by sequencing errors from frameshifts that occur due to overlaps of adjacent genes located in the same DNA strand. An evaluation of the method's accuracy showed that its performance is comparable with the performance of the earlier developed program FrameD.

The rest of this chapter is based on published work which first appeared in the following article:

A. Kislyuk, A. Lomsadze, A. L. Lapidus, and M. Borodovsky, "Frameshift detection in prokaryotic genomic sequences." International Journal of Bioinformatics Research and Applications, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 458-477, 2009.

### 3.1 Introduction

Progress in DNA sequencing technology has revolutionized biology. Over the past decade, the ever increasing use of Sanger instruments has resulted in an unprecedented explosion of available genomic information. Yet as next generation sequencing techniques such as 454 pyrosequencing [111] and Solexa/Illumina [20] enter production, an even more massive influx of sequenced data is anticipated. Frameshifts - changes of reading frame in protein-coding genes - can be classified by origin into natural and

artificial. Natural frameshifts occur in pseudogenes, in programmed frameshift locations [120]. Artificial frameshifts are caused by sequencing and assembling errors that may occur even in high X coverage sequencing (errors of length not divisible by 3). Early detection of frameshifts related to sequence errors could improve the quality of the assembly process, decrease requirements on the sequencing coverage, and, thus, reduce the cost of sequencing. Two general approaches have been used to detect frameshift errors: ab initio (intrinsic) algorithms [57, 124, 145] and extrinsic algorithms based on protein similarity search [162, 133, 40, 71, 129, 25]. In the beginning of the 1990s, when sequencing with high X coverage required significant expenses, the computational frameshift detection attracted considerable interest. The pioneer paper on frameshift detection [162] introduced three crucial elements of a general method: alignment of gene products to known proteins, protein coding frame prediction based on known codon usage pattern, and identification of nucleotide patters associated with error locations. Development of the extrinsic approach included the initial heuristic program DETECT using 3-frame translations of potentially frameshifted sequence in protein database searches [133]; introduction of frameshift dependent scoring matrices for protein sequence alignment algorithm [40]; refinement of translated DNA to protein alignment techniques to detect both frameshifts within codons and between codons [129]; implementation of dynamic programming algorithm for correct alignment of the protein translation of DNA in three frames to a homologous protein [71, 25, 26]. Another major approach, ab initio frameshift prediction, progressed from utilization of k-tuple frequencies to identify the frame of genetic code along the genomic sequence [57], to using posterior probabilities of the reading frames determined by the GeneMark program [124], to including frameshift states into the HMM-based gene prediction algorithm [145]. The ab initio method presented here is designed to extract information on a possible frameshift from the values of posteriori probabilities of protein coding frames in a given genomic position. These values are generated by the GeneMark program [28]. Earlier the GeneMark coding potentials were used for frameshift detection in the Bacillus subtilis genome project by [124] and, as we describe in details below, in the extension of the GeneMark algorithm (J. McIninch, unpublished). In the tool developed by Medigue et al. the posterior probabilities computed by the GeneMark program were processed heuristically by a hierarchical decision making. The tool performed with 54.4% Specificity (Sp) while its Sensitivity (Sn) was not assessed. Currently this tool is not available. Performance of the tool developed by Mcininch has not been evaluated in terms of Sn and Sp. Given the renewed interest in frameshift detection we have explored once again the potential of the approach based on the analysis of the posterior probabilities. We designed and implemented an ab initio frameshift finder in combination with the post-processing of predicted frameshifts using information derived at the protein level. A frameshift error in a prokaryotic protein-coding region (which is necessarily a part of an ORF, defined here as a nucleotide sequence of length divisible by 3, delimited by two stop codons) results in a split of the ORF into two overlapping ORFs. If long enough, the protein coding parts of these ORFs are detected as genes. A critical task for frameshift finding is to distinguish the ORF overlaps caused by frameshifts from natural overlaps of adjacent genes carried genetic code in the same DNA strand but in different reading frames (Figure 4). For example, over 30% of Escherichia coli genes overlap each other (with about 15% being 1 or 4 nucleotides long). Majority of the overlaps occur between genes located in the same strand. Presence of a Ribosomal Binding Site (RBS) exhibiting a conserved motif could help identify genuine overlapping genes. However, genes internal to an operon may not possess pronounced RBS motifs while genes possessing leaderless mRNA even do not have a sequence upstream to a start codon for a ribosome to bind.

# 3.2 Materials

#### 3.2.1 Sequences with artificial sequencing errors

For performance evaluation of the new tool, we selected complete genomes of the following species of varying G+C composition: Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans 2CP-C (GenBank accession no. NC\_007760.1), Bacillus subtilis subsp. Subtilis str. 168 (NC\_000964.2), Clavibacter michiganensis subsp. michiganensis NCPPB 382 (NC\_009480.1), Clostridium botulinum F str. Langeland (NC\_009699.1), E. coli K12 (NC\_000913.2), Frankia sp. EAN1pec (NC\_007777.1), Fusobacterium nucleatum subsp. nucleatum ATCC 25586 (NC\_003454.1), Haemophilius influenzae Rd KW20 (NC\_000907.1), Lactobacillus reuteri F275 (NC\_009513.1), Methanocorpusculum labreanum Z (NC\_008942.1), Mycoplasma mycoides subsp. mycoides SC str. PG1 (NC\_005364.2), Shewanella loihica PV-4 (NC\_009092.1), and Shewanella putrefaciens CN-32 (NC\_009438.1). Indels were introduced into protein-coding regions as annotated in GenBank. The species were subdivided into high, low, and medium G+C composition groups. We have added indels at random with the rate between 0.02 and 0.5 per Kbp (the highest error rate that we have observed in raw sequencing data was 0.25 errors/Kbp).

#### 3.2.2 Sequences with 454 pyrosequencing errors

To give the algorithm yet another test, we used 454 pyrosequencing pre-production data from the DOE Joint Genome Institute microbial finishing pipeline. We selected Methanococcus aeolicus Nankai-3, Shewanella putrefaciens CN-32, and Pseudomonas putida sp. F1 as representatives of low, medium, and high G+C ranges, respectively. These sequence data consisting of 100-3000 contigs (per genome) were mapped by MegaBLAST to the genomic sequence of the same species produced by the Sanger instruments. We assumed that the finished Sanger sequence had no errors. Based on these alignments, we detected the errors in 454 pyrosequencing, classified them by type and determined their distribution.

#### 3.2.3 Protein sequences

Some predicted frameshifts could be verified on protein level. For protein sequence similarity search we used a database compiled from protein translations of genes predicted by GeneMarkS [24] in 313 bacterial genomes (a database maintained by Wenhan Zhu).

# 3.3 Methods

We chose to work with GeneMark rather than GeneMark.hmm [105] for the following reasons. GeneMark.hmm uses the Viterbi algorithm [92] to determine the maximum likelihood parse of genomic sequence into protein-coding and non-coding regions. Frameshifts contradict the "genomic grammar" wired into the HMM, thus, the frameshift detection would require a significant change of the underlying HMM and in the GeneMark.hmm algorithm.

On the other hand, the GeneMark algorithm could be viewed as an approximation of an a posteriori decoding algorithm for an HMM consisting of six coding states (corresponding to six coding frames) and one non-coding state. The "approximated" posterior decoding algorithm computes a posteriori probability of a hidden state (e.g. coding in a particular frame or non-coding) for a rather short sequence segment assuming that only one type of a hidden state is underlying the observed short sequence. This algorithm requires an additional routine to process the posterior probabilities and determine the whole likely sequence of hidden states. The possibility of detection of "jumps" between the hidden states (the frames) of HMM underlying the GeneMark algorithm (though this HMM is introduced retrospectively) suits our goals.

Parameters of the Markov chain models used in the algorithm are estimated by the self-training program GeneMarkS [24]. This program performs well for long genomic sequences (longer that 100 Kb). If the frameshift finder has to run on a sequence contig with length insufficient for self-training, the algorithm uses one of heuristic models, which parameters are precomputed for possible values of G+C content [23].

We have implemented a method of scanning the posterior probabilities determined by the GeneMark algorithm (see Appendix for details). The method is designed to identify a characteristic "between-frames-jump" of the coding potential, expected to appear near a frameshift position. After finding all the candidate positions, the scanning algorithm reports them to a classifier algorithm (whose parameters are described in the Appendix) to identify the predicted frameshift positions from the reported candidates.

To train the classifier, we used genomes of five bacterial species: A. dehalogenans 2CP-C, C. michiganensis, C. botulinum, E. coli, and S. putrefaciens. Assuming that these genomes sequenced with high X coverage by Sanger instruments have a vanishingly low number of sequence errors, we generated artificial frameshifts in proteincoding regions, then selected all the regions with pairs of adjacent gene overlapping each other and satisfying (see Appendix) a condition

$$\left(P\left(M_{F_A}^{\text{COD}}|Seq_{f-W\dots f}\right) > 0.5, \ P\left(M_{F_B}^{\text{COD}}|Seq_{f+1\dots f+W}\right) > 0.5\right)$$
(3)

The vast majority of sequences with introduced frameshifts as well as a number of gene overlap regions satisfy this condition. Increasing the probability threshold beyond 0.5 does not significantly increase specificity, while it negatively impacts sensitivity. We have trained the classifier on these two sets and determined parameters for the three types of models: models for genomes with low, medium, and high G+Ccontent. Then we have assessed the accuracy of the classifier via cross-validation.

Upon application of the classifier we have observed (compare "C: ab initio" with "B: no classifier" columns of Table 2) a decrease in false positive predictions (increase in specificity) but not a decrease in false negative predictions (increase in sensitivity). Therefore, as expected, the classifier works as a filter, i.e. a mechanism to reject some predictions made in the first step, the analysis of coding potentials; the classifier application does not add new predictions.

In our experiments with several genomes the ab initio frameshift finder with classifier off has detected 59% to 81% of all frameshifts while with classifier on 51% to 69% of frameshifts were detected (Table 2). At the same time with classifier off 32% to 72% of the predictions were correct, while 37% to 85% of predictions were correct with classifier on.

#### 3.3.1 Verification by protein sequence alignment

Additional improvement of specificity could be achieved by a subsequent analysis of the DNA sequences with predicted frameshifts on the protein level; thus, we have implemented a protein alignment-based frameshift verification algorithm. While the alignment approach could be used independently for frameshift finding or the outputs of the two algorithms can be combined on an equal basis, we chose to implement protein alignment as a post-processing step.

This step starts with using a conceptual protein translation of the ORF with predicted frameshift as a query in the BLASTP program [12] for search of the statistically significantly similar protein sequences in a protein database (see Materials). The proteins and protein alignments found by the search can provide positive or negative evidence for the frameshifts predicted by the ab initio algorithm. The alignments are analyzed for the presence of one of the four possible scenarios (Figure 5).

"Bridge": An alignment with high coverage (> 85%) and significant identity (> 50%) of the conceptual translation (query) to a single protein (target) is admitted as a positive evidence for the frameshift.

"Local bridge": A near-perfect (> 90% identity) alignment of the translation of the nucleotide region  $(f_{MAX} - w, f_{MAX} + w)$  enclosing the frameshift to a target protein is admitted as a positive evidence as well. "Broken bridge": A high-coverage (> 85%) and significant identity (> 50%) alignment of the translated upstream and downstream ORFs to separate proteins in the database is admitted as a negative evidence for the frameshift.

"Half bridge": A high-coverage (> 85%) and significant identity (> 50%) alignment of only one of the translated upstream or downstream ORF is also admitted as a negative evidence for the frameshift.

This type of verification, as was already mentioned, increases Sp while Sn may decrease (Table 2). For some species, particularly those that are distantly related to the majority of the species with genomes sequenced, similarity searches produce fewer number of hits in the protein database; thus, with little information derived from database searches almost no improvement had occurred; for other species, improvement in Sp by as much as 30% was observed along with some decrease in Sn.

We compared the tool's performance with the performance of FrameD program [145]. Sequences with artificial sequencing errors were submitted to the FrameD web server for model generation. These models were used in a local copy of the FrameD program to predict frameshifts in these sequences. Sn and Sp values were computed in the same way as above.

The performance of a frameshift detection method based solely on protein sequence comparison depends on the evolutionary distance of a given genome to genomes already sequenced. Also, for a particular gene, presence or absence of sequenced homologs will influence the "local" performance of the extrinsic method to detect a frameshift in this gene. Given this consideration, we have decided not to conduct the comparison of performance with the algorithms of purely extrinsic type. It is rather obvious that an ab initio method will perform better for those genomes and genes that are lacking, on average or individually, the extrinsic references, while an extrinsic method will perform better for genomes and genes possessing, on average or individually, the extrinsic references.

# 3.4 Results

The results are summarized in Tables 2 and 3. In Table 2, six types of predictions were considered: A/ prediction by the "prior design" algorithm; B/ prediction by the algorithm performing coding potentials analysis (with the classifier part of the ab initio algorithm off); C/ full ab initio prediction (coding potential analysis followed with application of the classifier algorithm); D/ full ab initio prediction followed by protein database search and alignment with rejection of putative frameshifts with negative evidence ("Broken bridge" or "Half bridge"); E/ ab initio prediction followed by the database search and alignment and retaining only those predictions that have a positive evidence ("Bridge" or "Local bridge"); F/ prediction by the FrameD program [145].

In the pure ab initio prediction, Sn varied between 51% and 69%, while Sp was observed between 37% and 85%. At this stage, one could observe that the performance of the FrameD program in terms of (Sn+Sp)/2, is higher for the species with medium and high G+C content (Table 2) e.g. for E. coli by 8% and for M. tuberculosis by 18%. Addition of the alignment verification steps produced the following results i/ rejecting negative evidence moved Sp up to the 51% to 95% range while Sn decreased slightly and stayed in the range 50% to 66%; ii/ retaining only predictions with positive evidence produced further increase in Sp to the range of values from 79% to 100% while Sn decreased noticeably to take the values in the range from 27% to 56%. Notably, in the case of S. loihica the program identified 56% of real frameshifts with no false predictions.

Additionally, the three 454-pyrosequenced genomes M. aeolicus, S. putrefaciens and P. putida F1 with low, medium and high G+C ranges respectively, were aligned to the genomes of the same species sequenced by the Sanger instruments (see Materials). Locations of insertions/deletions recognized as 454 pyrosequencing errors were recorded. Five types of frameshift prediction methods were used (Table 3): types B and C as in Table 2, as well as types  $C^*$ ,  $D^*$  and  $E^*$  which are the types C, D and E in Table 2 augmented by an additional analysis for presence of homopolymers (see Methods). Notably, Sn was reduced in S. putrefaciens and P. putida compared to predictions in sequences with synthetic frameshifts; this apparently has occurred due to a large number of disjoint contigs and that produced an increase of the fraction of the 454 sequencing errors in the flanking sequences. The errors in the close vicinity of sequence ends are not detectable by the algorithm, thus the Sn decreases. Specificity is reduced in detecting 454 sequencing errors in cases B, C, C<sup>\*</sup>, and D<sup>\*</sup> for *P. putida* as compared to sequences with synthetic frameshifts. This result could be related by the less accurate estimation of the algorithm parameters for a genome split into a large number of contigs (over 3000). Finally, the homopolymer related corrections did not make any significant effect on the accuracy of the algorithm. Still, the results show that the method works with 454-pyrosequenced genomic sequences with about the same accuracy as with sequences carrying artificial frameshifts.

Changing the values of the algorithm parameters (mentioned in Appendix and listed in Table 4) generated the results plotted as curves of Sn from Sp dependence in detecting the 454 pyrosequencing errors. Technically, the results form a cloud of points in the Sn vs. Sp plane. Plotting a convex envelope around the cloud resulted in the curve shown in Figure 6. The points denoted by stars in Figure 6 correspond to the largest values of (Sn+Sp)/2 for a given species. Homopolymer detection was enabled in these computations, with a presence of a homopolymer longer than 5 nt required for frameshift prediction. Notably, homopolymer sequences (which may cause indel errors in sequencing) are underrepresented in protein-coding regions compared to intergenic regions Figure 7.

Detection rates for computationally generated and empirically observed frameshifts were nearly identical for high and low G+C content; in medium G+C content genomes the frameshift detection rates were lower in 454-generated sequences than in sequences with synthetic frameshifts. We observed (Table 5) that the total number of predicted frameshifts in a sequence is frequently close to the total number of real frameshifts. This numerical fact indicates that the number of false predictions is close to the number of false negative predictions (the number of real but not detected frameshifts). We observed that a sizable fraction of mispredictions occurred in the locations of actual gene overlaps; on the other hand a significant fraction of undetected frameshifts appeared near the start and end of a gene.

# 3.5 Discussion

The main impediment to highly accurate frameshift detection in protein-coding sequences is the difficulty of distinguishing frameshifts changing the frame of genetic code in a single gene from two adjacent overlapping genes located in the same strand. The combination of intrinsic and extrinsic methods presented here is a promising approach, allowing for frameshift detection at a distance as little as 60 nt from 5' or 3' ends of a gene.

The sequencing errors that occur too close to the 5' and 3' ends of a gene are often not detectable; this limitation is difficult to overcome by any method based on the statistical analysis of protein-coding regions.

The method described here is also applicable to metagenomic sequences. In metagenomic studies, single reads are a frequent case. Thus, the frameshift prediction in metagenomic fragments is not less important than in studies of isolated genomes. Still, the fact that the frameshifts are more difficult to predict in flanking regions of genes (both complete and incomplete) may reduce the effect of frameshift finding in short metagenomic fragments.

A smaller average length of contigs in an unfinished assembly is frequently associated with low assembly quality. Unfinished assembly is likely to contain low coverage fragments with higher probability of sequencing and misassembly errors; the error rate can reach as high as 0.5 errors/Kbp. Interestingly, some predicted frameshifts can indicate assembly errors where the protein coding regions of genes unrelated but located in the same strand have happened to be joint together with a frameshift by an assembly algorithm. Detection of these errors as assembly errors at the stage of assembly can improve the quality of finished sequence. Note that assembly errors may produce partial genes (genes without start or stop codons ot both) as well as himeric sequences with partial genes in direct and reverse DNA strands adjacent to each other. We assumed that these errors are very rare and did not consider them.

During our analysis, we tuned up the parameters of the ab initio algorithm to produce about equal values of Sn and Sp. However, the techniques used in our method can be adjusted to obtain other desirable combinations of the Sn and Sp values (Figure 8). Thus, the output can be adjusted with regard to the need of a particular project which can be a preference for low rate of false negative or low rate of false positive errors or balanced rate of both types of errors.

One of the assumptions made in this work is an independent random distribution of sequencing errors. This assumption underlies the random model used for frameshifts generation. However, this model is not fully supported by experimental data as it can be shown by a comparison of the earliest E. coli genome versions (GenBank accession numbers AE000111-510) to the latest genomic sequence of E. coli (U00096.2). In this small dataset, fewer than 50 errors, the errors are tightly clustered into stretches of about 100nt.

The software package for frameshift detection is available for researchers on our website [2].

# 3.6 Technical details

Technical details of the algorithm implementations follow. First, we describe the previously implemented, but unpublished algorithm, the predecessor of the current algorithm.

#### 3.6.1 Prior design

We introduce the GeneMark algorithm parameters [28], the scanning window length w, the step size s, the coding threshold COD\_THR, and the non-coding threshold NON\_THR. (Default values: w=96, s=12, COD\_THR=0.5, NON\_THR=0.4.)

- Set the window counter c to 0.
- For each frame  $F_i$  of the 6 frames, for each position index pos =  $0, s, 2s, 3s \dots$ ,
  - Increment c by 1 if the window w starting at pos has coding potential CP (see details below) in frame  $F_i$  above COD\_THR.
  - Reset c to 0 if c is smaller than w/s and two adjacent windows w starting at pos, pos + s have CPs in frame  $F_i$  below NON\_THR.
  - If c is larger than w/s and the window at pos has CP in frame  $F_i$  smaller than NON\_THR,
    - \* and The average CP in all windows within the region [pos, pos + 2w]in frame  $F_i$  is smaller than NON\_THR,
    - \* and no stop codon exists in frame  $F_i$  in the fragment [pos + w/s, pos + w],
    - \* and in either of the two frames  $F_j$ ,  $F_k$  collinear to  $F_i$ , average CP over all windows within [pos - 2w, pos] is smaller than NON\_THR and average CP over all windows within [pos, pos + 2w] is larger than COD\_THR,
  - Then mark the position pos + w/s as a predicted frameshift, reset c to 0, and move ahead by length w.

This algorithm takes into account the coding potential over about 200 nt in each direction from the putative frameshift position. It requires the coding potential in the upstream frame to decrease, while requiring the coding potential in the down-stream frame to rise. This initial algorithm produced better Sp than Sn, it has high speed and relative simplicity (Table 2). Still, it is not highly sensitive, with Sn below 40% in genomic sequences with error rates between 0.1 and 0.4 frameshifts/Kbp. Therefore, our goal was to increase both the Sn and Sp of the algorithm while retaining the same type of inut data, the coding potentials generated by GeneMark. Eventually, we observed that in genomes with extremely high G+C content the old algorithm performs in Sn terms on par with the new design. Therefore, for high G+C genomes (>60% G+C), we enabled the old algorithm and added its output (removing redundant predictions) to the output of the new algorithm.

#### 3.6.2 New design

The input sequence is scanned in six frames for ORFs with length above a minimal length, min\_orflen. Any pair of ORFs located in the same strand and overlapping by at least min\_orf\_overlap is taken into consideration. Values of the min\_orflen and min\_orf\_overlap parameters are given in Table 6.

In analysis of 454 sequenced genomes a presence of a homopolymer in the vicinity of fmax served as an additional evidence. The error statistics for 454 sequencing suggests a minimum length of 5, as an informative one for error detection (data not shown). Therefore, the sequence was scanned for up to 20 nt in both directions from  $f_{max}$ . If a homopolymer longer than 4nt was not found, the ORF overlap was excluded from further consideration.

The order of the Markov chain model was selected based on the volume of sequence available. Parameters of the model of protein-coding sequence were calculated by a self-training program GeneMarkS [24]. For a given fragment of length w Bayesian a posteriori probabilities of genetic code to appear in one of the six frames (coding potentials) as well as an a posteriori probability that a given fragment is non-coding were calculated as follows:

$$P(\text{Seq}_{N..N+w} | M_{F_{K}}^{\text{COD}})$$

$$= p_{F_{K}}^{0}(n_{N})p_{F_{K+1}}^{1}(n_{N+1} | n_{N})...\prod_{X=N+\text{ORD}}^{N+w} p_{F_{K+X \text{mod}3}}^{\text{ORD}}(n_{X} | n_{X-\text{ORD}}...n_{X-1})$$

$$P(M_{F_{K}}^{\text{COD}} | \text{Seq}_{N..N+w})$$

$$= \frac{P(M_{F_{K}}^{\text{COD}})P(\text{Seq}_{N..N+w} | M_{F_{K}}^{\text{COD}})}{P(M^{\text{NONC}})P(\text{Seq}_{N..N+w} | M^{\text{NONC}})\prod_{J=-3,-2,-1,1,2,3}P(M_{F_{J}}^{\text{COD}})P(\text{Seq}_{N..N+w} | M_{F_{J}}^{\text{COD}})}$$

Here, w the window size is 72nt long for G+C > 60%, otherwise 96 nt,  $Seq_{N..N+w}$ is the nucleotide sequence in a given window,  $n_X$  is a nucleotide in position x,  $M_{F_K}^{COD}$ is the protein coding region model for frame K,  $M^{NONC}$  is the non-coding model,  $p_{F_K}^{ORD}(n_X|n_Y)$  is the probability of appearance of nucleotide  $n_X$  after a string  $n_Y$ defined by the Markov chain of order ORD, and  $P(M_{F_K}^{COD}$  are prior probabilities [28]. The product of posterior probabilities of carrying genetic code in different frames for the fragments located upstream and downstream from position f is considered as a measure of the likelihood of a possible frameshift in position f:

$$P(FS \textcircled{O} f) = P(M_{F_A}^{\text{COD}} | \text{Seq}_{f-W.f}) P(M_{F_B}^{\text{COD}} | \text{Seq}_{f+1..f+w})$$

(here  $F_A$  and  $F_B$  are the upstream and downstream coding frames; see Figure 8).

The overlapping region of an ORF pair ( $[S_2, E_1]$ , Figure 8) is scanned to find the maximum  $f_{MAX} = argmax_{f \in [S_2, E_1]} P(FS@f)$ . The following parameters are then recorded for the point  $f_{max}$ :

$$P(M_{F_A}^{\text{COD}} | \text{Seq}_{f-w..f})$$
$$P(M_{F_B}^{\text{COD}} | \text{Seq}_{f+1..f+w}).$$

Distance from fmax down to the stop codon of the upstream ORF.

The length of putative gene overlap. This parameter can be negative, which denotes that no overlap of is seen, but a gap of corresponding number of nucleotides is seen instead between the upstream stop codon and the putative start of the downstream gene.

Maximum of the score of potential RBS motif located at up to 20 nt distance upstream of the most likely start codon in the downstream ORF [24].

This set of parameters (attributes) is then transferred to a machine learning classifier, trained on a set of examples of two types (frameshifts and gene overlaps), to classify the point  $f_{max}$  as a frameshift or gene overlap. Attribute histograms for the frameshift vs. gene overlap classes are plotted in Figure 9; performance of the classifier was compared to the simpler method of checking only that P(FS@f) >total\_coding\_min (Table 2). We have evaluated several machine learning classifiers, including SVM, decision trees, perceptron networks, and Naive Bayes classifiers (data not shown). The Naive Bayes classifier (John and Langley, 1995) [11] appeared to be the best performing and best generalizing classifier on our data. A Naive Bayes classifier works by making the assumption that the attributes discussed above are independently distributed. Using the Bayes' rule, the probability of a frameshift given the set of attribute values  $x_i$  associated with the point  $f_{max}$  is

 $P(FS \mid \{x_i\}) = P(FS \mid x_1, x_2, x_3, ...) \propto P(\{x_i\} \mid FS)P(FS).$ 

According to this assumption, the last expression can be factored as a product of probabilities,

$$P(\lbrace x_i \rbrace \mid FS) = \prod_i P(x_i \mid FS).$$

The log likelihood ratio for the frameshift vs. non-frameshift events is computed as follows:

$$\ln \frac{P(FS \mid f_{\max})}{P(\neg FS \mid f_{\max})} = \sum_{i \in \text{ params}} \ln \frac{P(x_i \mid FS)}{P(x_i \mid \neg FS)}.$$



**Figure 4:** Diagram of an open reading frame fragmentation into two overlapping ORFs by a frameshift. A fragment of the Escherichia coli chromosome is shown with an artificial frameshift. Three curves indicate coding potentials in the three coding frames (averaged over 96-nucleotide windows). Open reading frames of significant size are indicated by horizontal lines plotted over the 0.5 line; start and stop codons are shown as upward and downward ticks, respectively. Gene predictions are indicated by grey bars. The frameshift prediction is marked by an arrow and shaded box.

If the ratio exceeds 0 (i.e., the cumulative probability of frameshift exceeds that of non- frameshift), the instance is classified as a frameshift; otherwise, as a nonframeshift (gene overlap). The distributions of attribute values were obtained by assuming Gaussian distributions and estimating the means and variances (given in Table 4).

### 3.7 Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Wenhan Zhu for providing the database of protein sequences, to Stephan Trong for the help with 454 pyrosequencing error analysis, to James McIninch and William Hayes for the valuable contribution into the "prior design" version of the algorithm.



**Figure 5:** Four frameshift verification scenarios. The thick bar represents a conceptual translation of the ORFs with the possible frameshift. The thinner bars below represent similarity search hits in the protein database; the hits providing critical information are highlighted in darker color. Cases 1 and 2 provide positive evidence of a frameshift. Cases 3 and 4 provide negative evidence of a frameshift.

**Table 2:** Accuracy parameters of the different versions of the algorithm as well as the FrameD program determined on genomic sequences with synthetic frameshifts. A/ for the old algorithm, described in the "Prior design" section in Appendix; B/for the new algorithm with coding potential analysis only (the classifier algorithm off); C/full ab initio prediction (includes the coding potential analysis and the classifier algorithm); D/ for the ab initio prediction followed by protein database search and alignment and rejection of ab initio predictions with negative evidence (scenarios 3 and 4, Fig. 2); E/for the ab initio prediction followed by the protein database search and alignment with acceptance of the predictions possessing a positive evidence (scenarios 1 and 2, Fig. 2); F/ for the FrameD program (Schiex et al., 2003). Bold numbers indicate best performance among A-E as measured by the average value (Sn+Sp)/2.

Species	G+C%		A Old algor	ithm	B New algor	ithm	C "Ab in B+cla	nitio" ssifier	D C+Rej negati evider	ecting ve ice	E C+Acc positiv eviden	cepting e ce	F Fram	eD
Mycoplasma mycoides	24	Sn Sn	0.11 0.54	0.32	0.65	0.59	0.61	0.61	0.59	0.62	0.45	0.67	0.75	0.46
Fusobacterium nucleatum	27	Sn Sp	0.14 0.69	0.41	0.32	0.65	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.74	0.56	0.73	0.70	0.73
Clostridium botulinum	28	Sn Sp	0.08 0.64	0.36	0.75 0.58	0.66	0.63 0.75	0.69	0.61 0.87	0.74	0.52 0.97	0.75	0.51 0.86	0.68
Rickettsia prowazekii str. Madrid-E	29	Sn Sp	0.14 0.55	0.34	0.69 0.44	0.56	0.67 0.65	0.66	0.65 0.78	0.72	0.56 0.87	0.72	0.50 0.72	0.61
Haemophilus influenzae	38	Sn Sp	0.28 0.50	0.39	0.74 0.49	0.62	0.62 0.63	0.62	0.60 0.75	0.67	0.53 0.79	0.66	0.71 0.64	0.67
Lactobacillus reuteri	38	Sn Sp	0.19 0.46	0.32	0.74 0.52	0.63	0.62 0.71	0.66	0.60 0.89	0.74	0.55 0.93	0.74	0.56 0.82	0.69
Bacillus subtilis	43	Sn Sp	0.32 0.32	0.32	0.65 0.48	0.56	0.56 0.62	0.59	0.53 0.73	0.63	0.42 0.87	0.64	0.54 0.82	0.68
Shewanella putrefaciens	44	Sn Sp	0.26 0.50	0.38	0.64 0.66	0.65	0.51 0.84	0.67	0.50 0.94	0.72	0.44 0.98	0.71	0.53 0.92	0.72
Escherichia coli	50	Sn Sp	0.38 0.34	0.36	0.69 0.58	0.63	0.59 0.75	0.67	0.55 0.90	0.73	0.48 0.95	0.72	0.65 0.85	0.75
Methanocorpusculum labreanum Z	50	Sn Sp	0.46 0.10	0.28	0.59 0.48	0.54	0.59 0.62	0.60	0.58 0.83	0.70	0.46 0.97	0.71	0.66 0.75	0.70
Shewanella loihica PV-4	53	Sn Sp	0.40 0.22	0.31	0.71 0.72	0.72	0.69 0.85	0.77	0.66 0.95	0.81	0.56 1.00	0.78	0.77 0.93	0.85
Mycobacterium tuberculosis CDC1551	65	Sn Sp	0.55 0.23	0.39	0.65 0.32	0.48	0.66 0.37	0.51	0.59 0.52	0.55	0.39 0.96	0.67	0.73 0.65	0.69
Frankia sp. EAN1pec	69	Sn Sp	0.54 0.21	0.37	0.61 0.40	0.51	0.64 0.45	0.54	0.58 0.51	0.54	0.37 0.96	0.66	0.69 0.65	0.67
Clavibacter michiganensis	72	Sn Sp	0.60 0.37	0.48	0.67 0.52	0.59	0.67 0.66	0.66	0.61 0.75	0.68	0.32 1.00	0.66	0.41 0.28	0.34
Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans 2CP-C	75	Sn Sp	0.56 0.52	0.54	0.61 0.51	0.56	0.61 0.67	0.64	0.56 0.79	0.67	0.27 0.99	0.63	0.31 0.16	0.24



Frameshift detection accuracy in 454 Pyrosequenced genomes

Figure 6: Sensitivity/specificity analysis of performance of the ab initio algorithm with homopolymer correction on 454 pyrosequenced genomes. Stars indicate trade-off points selected as optimal on the basis of a maximum (Sn+Sp)/2.

**Table 3:** Characteristics of the algorithm performance on genomes sequenced by 454 pyrosequencing method. Designations of the methods B and C are the same as in Table 2; C<sup>\*</sup>, D<sup>\*</sup>, E<sup>\*</sup> are analogous to Table 2; \* indicates that the algorithm was using the homopolymer correction (see text). Bold numbers indicate best performance among B-E<sup>\*</sup> as measured by the average, (Sn+Sp)/2.

Species	G+C %		B No cla	ssifier	C Ab ini	tio	C* Ab ini with H detecti	tio IMP on	D* C*+Re negative eviden	ejecting ve ice	E* C*+Ac positiv eviden	ccepting ve ice
Methanococcus aeolicus	30	Sn Sp	0.66 0.38	0.52	0.56 0.53	0.55	0.54 0.54	0.54	0.52 0.74	0.63	0.44 0.85	0.65
Shewanella putrefaciens	44	Sn Sp	0.41 0.39	0.40	0.30 0.63	0.47	0.24 0.74	0.49	0.23 0.93	0.58	0.21 0.98	0.60
Pseudomonas putida F1	61	Sn Sp	0.39 0.25	0.30	0.33 0.23	0.28	0.33 0.28	0.31	0.33 0.28	0.31	0.11 0.89	0.50

Long HMP overrepresentation in noncoding regions



**Figure 7:** Homopolymer (HMP) frequencies were computed for three genomes (M. aeolicus, P. putida F1, S. putrefaciens) and are shown by pairs of bars (for protein coding and non-coding regions) for each homopolymer longer than 1nt. Long homopolymers are relatively more frequent in non-coding sequence, making 454 pyrosequencing errors more likely to occur in non-coding sequence. For each homopolymer length, data for three G+C ranges are presented.







Figure 9: Histograms of the values of attributes used by the classifier to distinguish true frameshifts from gene overlap events. Data for genomes representative of the three G+C ranges are presented in the three columns. In a given genome the attribute values were tabulated from all ORF overlaps which satisfied the conditions for candidate pairs (see Methods). A putative frameshift location, f, was assigned for each ORF overlap; position-dependent attribute values were computed with regard to that location. Vertical bars indicate the means of the normal distributions fitted for attribute values characteristic for true frameshifts and gene overlaps, respectively. Negative values of the "gene overlap" parameter correspond to cases where no gene overlap is present, but instead a gap of the corresponding number of nucleotides exists between the upstream stop codon and the putative gene start. ORF overlaps are longer on average for higher GC due to lower frequencies of the three stop codons than in high AT genomes. Short "gene overlap" values are more frequent in non-frameshift events than in the cases of true frameshifts due to the fact that short gene overlaps and short intergenic distances are typical for prokaryotic genomes, while frameshift errors are more likely to produce longer apparent overlaps. RBS scores for frameshifts are lower on average than for gene overlaps due to the low probability of finding by chance a strong RBS motif outside a gene start region.

**Table 4:** Parameters of the fitted normal distributions for the values of orf\_overlap, gene\_overlap, ds\_stop\_dist, rbs\_score as observed in the sets of sequences with artificial frameshifts and sequences with gene overlaps. These parameters describing the "true frameshift" vs. "gene overlap" class distributions were used in the classifier algorithm.

	G+C%	% <b>&lt;40</b>			40<0	10 <g+c% <60<="" th=""><th colspan="4">G+C% &gt;60</th></g+c%>				G+C% >60			
	True FS		Non-FS		True FS		Non-FS		True FS		Non-FS		
Parameter	μ	σ	μ	σ	μ	σ	μ	σ	μ	σ	μ	σ	
orf_overlap	28	44	18	33.5	28	66	23	48	100	239	49	147	
gene_overlap	33	67	14	18	40	56	17.5	16	104	493	38	124	
ds_stop_dist	45	24	35	22	10	34	9.5	32	19	99	18	91	
rbs_score	0.35	2.6	1.6	2.5	0.3	2.02	1.32	1.89	0.24	1.55	1.0	1.38	

**Table 5:** Quantitative analysis of frameshift predictions. Designations for columns C, D, and E are identical to Table 2. FS/Kbp, artificial frameshifts per 1000 base pairs. Pred, predicted frameshifts. TP, true positives.

Species	G+C%	Length, Mbp	Total artificial frameshifts	FS/Kbp	С		D		Ε	
			in an a constant of the consta		Pred.	TP	Pred.	TP	Pred.	TP
Mycoplasma mycoides	24	1.21	242	0.2	242	148	223	143	122	109
Fusobacterium nucleatum	27	2.17	434	0.2	441	286	340	282	267	243
Clostridium botulinum	28	4.00	799	0.2	671	503	560	487	428	415
Rickettsia prowazekii str. Madrid-E	29	1.11	222	0.2	229	149	185	144	143	124
Haemophilus influenzae	38	1.83	366	0.2	360	227	293	220	246	194
Lactobacillus reuteri	38	2.00	399	0.2	348	247	269	239	236	219
Bacillus subtilis	43	4.21	842	0.2	761	472	611	446	406	354
Shewanella putrefaciens	44	4.66	931	0.2	565	475	495	466	418	410
Escherichia coli	50	4.64	927	0.2	729	547	567	510	468	445
Methanocorpusculum labreanum Z	50	1.80	360	0.2	343	212	252	209	171	166
Shewanella loihica PV-4	53	4.60	920	0.2	747	635	639	607	515	515
Mycobacterium tuberculosis CDC1551	65	4.40	880	0.2	1570	581	998	519	358	343
Frankia sp. EAN1pec	69	5.43	1086	0.2	1545	695	1235	630	419	402
Clavibacter michiganensis	72	3.30	659	0.2	669	442	536	402	211	211
Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans 2CP-C	75	5.01	1002	0.2	912	611	710	561	273	271

Parameter	G+C% <40	40 <g+c%<60< th=""><th>G+C% &gt;60</th></g+c%<60<>	G+C% >60
min_orflen	90	90	72
<pre>min_orf_overlap</pre>	5	10	15
coding_min	0.9	0.9	0.7
<pre>total_coding_min</pre>	0.85	0.85	0.6

**Table 6:** Parameters of the coding potential analysis algorithm

# 3.8 Funding

The work of AK, AL and MB presented in this chapter was supported in part by the NIH grant HG00783 to MB.
## CHAPTER IV

## GENOME ASSEMBLY AND ANNOTATION PIPELINE

New sequencing technologies have accelerated research on prokaryotic genomes and have made genome sequencing operations outside major genome sequencing centers routine. However, no off-the-shelf solution exists for the combined assembly, gene prediction, genome annotation, and data presentation necessary to interpret sequencing data. The resulting requirement to invest significant resources into custom informatics support for genome sequencing projects remains a major impediment to the accessibility of high-throughput sequence data.

We present a self-contained, automated high-throughput open source genome sequencing and computational genomics pipeline suitable for prokaryotic sequencing projects. The pipeline has been used at the Georgia Institute of Technology and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention for the analysis of *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Bordetella bronchiseptica* genomes. The pipeline is capable of enhanced or manually assisted reference-based assembly using multiple assemblers and modes; gene predictor combining; and functional annotation of genes and gene products. Because every component of the pipeline is executed on a local machine with no need to access resources over the Internet, the pipeline is suitable for projects of a sensitive nature. Annotation of virulence-related features makes the pipeline particularly useful for projects working with pathogenic prokaryotes. Although developed and tested on whole-genome sequencing projects, all stages of the pipeline are also applicable to metagenome data, with the caveat that the output can no longer be assumed to come from a single genome but must be analyzed on a contig-by-contig basis.

The pipeline is licensed under the open-source GNU General Public License and

available at the Georgia Tech Neisseria Base (http://nbase.biology.gatech.edu). The pipeline is implemented with a combination of Perl, Bourne Shell, and MySQL and is compatible with Linux and other Unix systems.

The rest of this chapter is based on published work which first appeared in the following article:

A. O. Kislyuk, L. S. Katz, S. Agrawal, M. S. Hagen, A. B. Conley, P. Jayaraman,
V. Nelakuditi, J. C. Humphrey, S. A. Sammons, D. Govil, R. D. Mair, K. M. Tatti,
M. L. Tondella, B. H. Harcourt, L. W. Mayer, and I. K. Jordan, "A computational genomics pipeline for prokaryotic sequencing projects," Bioinformatics, vol. 26, no. 15, pp. 1819-1826, August 2010.

## 4.1 Introduction

Genome sequencing projects, pioneered in the 1990s [58], require large-scale computational support in order to make their data accessible for use and interpretation by biologists. Large sequencing centers have traditionally employed or collaborated with teams of software engineers and computational biologists to develop the software and algorithms for sequencing hardware interfaces, enterprise data storage, sequence assembly and finishing, genome feature prediction and annotation, database mining, comparative analysis, and database user interface development. While many of the components developed by these teams are now available online under open-access terms, the development of new, high-throughput sequencing technologies has necessitated updates to these tools and development of even more sophisticated algorithms to address the challenges raised by the new data. These new technologies – 454 pyrosequencing [110], ABI SOLiD [152], and Illumina [20] – are now collectively referred to as second generation sequencing technologies. Similar updates will be needed as the third generation of sequencing technologies, such as Pacific Biosciences' SMRT sequencing [55], enter production use. New and improved tools released for these technologies on a monthly basis include assemblers, mapping algorithms, base calling and error correction tools, and a multitude of other programs. Because of this fast pace of development, few experts are able to keep up with the state of the art in the field of computational genomics. Accordingly, the rate limiting step in genome sequencing projects is no longer the experimental characterization of the data but rather the availability of experts and resources for computational analysis.

At the same time, the increased affordability of these new sequencing machines has spawned a new generation of users who were previously unable to perform their own genome sequencing, and thus collaborated with large sequencing centers for genome sequencing and subsequent computational analysis. While these users are now able to experimentally characterize genomes in house, they often find themselves struggling to take full advantage of the resulting data and to make it useful to the scientific community since the informatics support for their genome projects is not sufficient.

Several large sequencing consortia [15, 112, 149] have produced comprehensive, centralized web-based portals for the analysis of genomic and metagenomic data. While extremely useful for many types of projects and collaborations, these solutions inherently result in a loss of data processing flexibility compared to locally installed resources and may be unsuitable for projects dealing with sensitive data. Recently, another group [163] has published DIYA, a software package for gene prediction and annotation in bacterial genomes with a modularized, open source microbial genome processing pipeline. However, DIYA does not include a genome assembly component, and does not provide for the combination of complementary algorithms for genome analysis.

To address the outstanding challenges for local computational genomics support, we have developed a state of the art, self-contained, automated high-throughput open source software pipeline for computational genomics in support of prokaryotic sequencing projects. To ensure the relevance of our pipeline, we checked the latest developments in computational genomics software for all stages of the pipeline, such as new versions of assembly and gene prediction programs and comparative surveys, and selected what we deemed to be the most suitable software packages. The pipeline is self-contained; that is, we used locally installable versions of all third-party tools instead of web-based services provided by many groups. We chose to do so for three reasons: first, because some of the applications we envision for this pipeline are of sensitive nature; second, to enhance robustness to external changes (e.g., online API changes or website address changes); and third, to improve the ability of developers to customize and derive from our pipeline. The pipeline is also automated and highthroughput: all components are organized in a hierarchical set of readily modifiable scripts, and the use of safe programming practices ensures that multiple copies of the pipeline can be run in parallel, taking advantage of multiple processors where possible.

Importantly, by using and combining the outputs of competitive, complementary algorithms for multiple stages of genome analysis, our pipeline allows for substantial improvement upon single-program solutions. The use of multiple algorithms also provides a way to improve robustness and conduct more comprehensive quality control when the output of one program is significantly different from that of another.

Computational support provided to prokaryotic genome projects by our pipeline can be subdivided into three stages: first, sequencing and assembly; second, feature prediction; and third, functional annotation. For the assembly stage, we developed a custom protocol specific to 454 pyrosequenced data, which resulted in a significant improvement to assembly quality of our test data compared to the baseline assembler bundled by the manufacturer. Other assemblers can be plugged in if necessary, and data from other sequencing technologies such as ABI SOLiD, Illumina and Sanger capillary-based machines can be used. For the prediction stage, we again included a custom combination of feature prediction methods for protein-coding genes, RNA genes, operon and promoter regions, which improves upon the individual constituent methods. The annotation stage includes several types of protein functional prediction algorithms. We also developed components for comparative analysis, interpretation and presentation (a web-based genome browser), which can be used downstream of our pipeline.

We have tested the pipeline on the bacterium Neisseria meningitidis, which is a human commensal of the nasopharanx and which can sometimes cause meningitis or septicemia [143]. When N. meningitidis does cause disease, it can be devastating with an approximately 10% fatality rate and 15% sequelae rate. N. meningitidis is a highly competent organism with a high recombination rate, and large chromosomal changes are common [86, 146]. This complicates computational genome analysis and makes N. meningitidis an appropriately challenging test for our pipeline. To demonstrate the general applicability of the pipeline, we have also tested it on a different pathogen, Bordetella bronchiseptica. B. bronchiseptica is a Gram-negative bacterium that can cause bronchitis in humans, although it is more commonly found in smaller mammals [128]. Much like Neisseria, Bordetella has extensive plasticity, likely due to the large number of repeat elements [63]. Here, we analyze the first two complete genome sequences of B. bronchiseptica strains isolated from human hosts.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. The System and Methods section describes the genomes which we used to test our pipeline, overall organization of the pipeline, and details of the algorithms used to perform tasks in the pipeline. In the Discussion section, we discuss the objectives of our work on the pipeline and how these relate to larger developments in computational biology for next-generation sequencing.

## 4.2 System and Methods

## 4.2.1 Genome test data

*N. meningitidis* genomes were characterized via 454 pyrosequencing [110] using either a half or one quarter plate runs on the Roche 454 GS-20 or GS Titanium instrument (Table 7). For each genome, a random shotgun library was produced using Roche protocols for nebulization, end-polishing, adaptor ligation, nick repair and singlestranded library formation. Following emulsion PCR, DNA bound beads were isolated and sequenced using long read (LR) sequencing kits. The number of reads produced in the experiments ranged from 200,000 to 600,000, and the average read lengths were between 100 and 330 bases. These data yielded 47.6-94.3 million bases per genome amounting to 20-40x coverage for the approx. 2.1 megabase *N. meningitidis* genomes. After read trimming and re-filtering to recover short quality reads, the data were passed to the first stage of the pipeline - genome assembly.

## 4.2.2 Pipeline organization

The analytical pipeline consists of three integrated subsystems: genome assembly, feature prediction and functional annotation. Each subsystem consists of a top-level execution script managing the input, output, format conversion, and combination of results for a number of distinct software components. A hierarchy of scripts and external programs then performs the tasks required to complete each stage of analysis (Figure 4.2.2).

## 4.2.3 Assembly

Genome assembly was performed by evaluating multiple configurations of assemblers including the standard 454 assembler, Newbler (version 2.3), as well the Celera Assembler [118], the Phrap assembler (http://www.phrap.org/) and the AMOScmp mapped assembler [132]. Several other assemblers were evaluated but ultimately excluded from the pipeline due to use limitations: for instance, the ALLPATHS 2

**Table 7:** Summary of sequencing projects used in the pipeline development. Data for each strain are presented in rows.

Strain ID	Sequence type <sup>a</sup>	Serogroup <sup>b</sup>	Geographic origin <sup>c</sup>	Date collecte d	Genome size	e Closest reference <sup>d</sup>	Substitutions per position vs. ref. <sup>e</sup>	Total reads	Total bases sequenced	Average rea length	Instrument standard <sup>g</sup>	
					1	Veisseria m	eningitidis					
NM13220	ST-7	А	Philippines	2005	2.2M	Z2491	0.076	197067	47569493	241	21×	GS-20
NM10699	ST-32	В	Oregon, USA	2003	2.2M	MC58	0.053	418751	81775264	195	37×	GS-20
NM15141	ST-11	С	New York, USA	2006	2.2M	FAM18	0.028	378773	94288660	249	42×	GS-20
NM9261	ST-11	W135	Burkina Faso	2002	2.2M	FAM18	0.030	206634	69957473	338	31×	GS Ti
NM18575	ST-2859	А	Burkina Faso	2003	2.2M	Z2491	0.033	283888	84013571	296	38×	GS Ti
NM5178	ST-32	В	Oregon, USA	1998	2.2M	MC58	0.050	270332	88664981	328	40×	GS Ti
NM15293	ST-32	В	Georgia, USA	2006	2.2M	MC58	0.054	276733	90951566	329	41×	GS Ti
					Bo	ordetella bro	onchiseptica					
BBE001	N/A <sup>g</sup>	N/A	Georgia, USA	1956	5.3M	RB50	0.056	566834	229098141	404	43×	GS Ti
BBF579	N/A	N/A	Mississippi, USA	2007	5.3M	RB50	0.104	533099	228467710	429	43×	GS Ti

**Figure 10:** Chart of data flow, major components and subsystems in the pipeline. Three subsystems are presented: genome assembly, feature prediction and functional annotation. Each subsystem consists of a top-level execution script managing the input, output, format conversion, and combination of results for a number of components. A hierarchy of scripts and external programs then performs the tasks required to complete each stage.



assembler [106] required paired-end reads to operate; our evaluation data contained no paired-end reads, and such a requirement unnecessarily constrains the user's options. The widely used Velvet assembler [189] was originally developed as a de novo assembler for Illumina sequencing technology, but its capability has been extended to accommodate 454 data as well. However, we were unable to configure the Velvet assembler to produce a usable assembly or take advantage of reference genomes using 454 data alone.

Evaluation of the results indicated that mapped assemblies of *N. meningitidis* genomes using previously finished strains were of superior quality to de novo assemblies. Using the most appropriate reference strains, it was found that Newbler and AMOScmp complement each other's performance in the assembly stage, with Newbler being able to join some contigs AMOScmp left gapped and vice versa. As a result, we decided to use a combination of these two assemblers' outputs for the final assembly. Then, the Minimus assembler [159] from the AMOS package, a simple assembler for short genomes, was used to combine the constituent assemblies.

We also evaluated alternative base calling algorithms for 454 pyrosequencing data [135] but detected no improvement. Over the course of our project, accuracy of base calling in the Newbler assembler was reported to be significantly improved. We used the latest version of the assembler available at publication time (2.3).

An optional component of the pipeline was created for frameshift detection using FSFind (see Chapter 3). Frameshifts in protein-coding sequences are a known result of pyrosequencing errors caused by undercalls and overcalls in homopolymer runs [97]. The error-correcting algorithm predicts sites of frameshifts caused by sequencing errors, which can then be verified experimentally or corrected speculatively. The user can inspect the dataset to decide whether locations predicted to contain frameshifts break gene models, and patch the sequences to fix up these positions. The prediction stage can then be re-run to correct the gene predictions. While further experimental analysis to address such errors is desirable (e.g., targeted PCR of predicted error locations or a recently popular choice of combining sequencing technologies such as 454 and Illumina), it incurs extra costs which we aim to avoid.

Unfinished assemblies produced in this stage contained 90-300 contigs each. No paired-end libraries or runs were available for the strains analyzed, and therefore scaffolding of the contigs was a challenge. Manual examination of the assemblies using the MAUVE [44] multiple whole-genome alignment and visualization package revealed numerous locations where contigs could be scaffolded with a small gap or minimal overlap (Figure 11). As an optional step, we produced a table of such positions and a script which would scaffold contigs joined by the gap. Although there is a possibility that rearrangements exist in those gaps as mapped to the closest reference genome, joining was only done after manual examination on a case-by-case basis in positions of high homology and full consensus between four of the reference strains, to minimize this possibility. While we provide the scripts and data format definitions necessary to complete this stage of the pipeline, it involves manual processing of the assembly and is therefore optional. This component is similar in function to Mauve Contig Mover [140] but expands upon it in several ways. An option is provided in the pipeline to use Mauve Contig Mover.

The manually assisted genome assembly procedure resulted in an order-of-magnitude decrease in the number of gaps in comparison to the Newbler assembler (which in turn performed the best out of all standalone assemblers evaluated). In addition, the fully automated assembly metrics (N50 and contig count at equal minimal size) are an approximately 20-50% improvement upon baseline Newbler performance (Table 8).

The contigs in the assembly stage output were named according to the following format: prefix\_contig#, where the prefix represents a unique strain identifier and # represents the zero-padded sequential number indicating the contig's predicted order



Figure 11: Comparative analysis of draft assembly with MAUVE. The top pane represents the active assembly; vertical lines indicate contig boundaries (gaps). The reference genomes are arranged in subsequent panes in order of phylogenetic distance. Blocks of synteny (LCBs) are displayed in different colors (an inversion of a large block is visible between panes 1-2 and 3-5). Most gaps within LCBs were joined in the manually assisted assembly, while considering factors such as sequence conservation on contig flanks and presence of protein-coding regions.

**Table 8:** Summary of assembler performance. Data for each strain are presented in rows. Statistics from standalone assemblers (Newbler and AMOScmp) are presented together with results of the combining protocol (default output of the pipeline) and an optional, manually assisted predictive gap closure protocol. (a) N50 is a standard quality metric for genome assemblies that summarizes the length distribution of contigs. It represents the size N such that 50% of the genome is contained in contigs of size N or greater. Greater N50 values indicate higher quality assemblies. (b) No improvement was detected from the combined assembly in strain BBF579, and the original Newbler assembly was automatically selected. (c) The manual combined assembly protocol was not performed for these projects.

Strain ID	Newbler statistics		AMOScmp statist	ics	Automatic combin	ned assembly	Manual combined	assembly
	Contigs $> 500$ nt,	N50 <sup>a</sup> ,	Contigs $> 500$ nt,	N50,	Contigs > 500 nt,	N50,	Contigs $> 500$ nt,	% gapfill,
	total size	Longest contig	total size	Longest contig	total size	Longest contig	total size	Longest contig
NM13220	175	22K	202	21K	195	31K	57	1.8%
	2.07M	106K	2.06M	77K	2.25M	107K	2.30M	398K
NM10699	102	52K	116	43K	83	59K	40	1.1%
	2.10M	143K	2.10M	113K	2.17M	143K	2.18M	435K
NM15141	147	33K	190	22K	139	36K	50	2.0%
	2.06M	171K	2.05M	115K	2.21M	171K	2.28M	759K
NM9261	99	51K	133	37K	128	64K	27	1.6%
	2.09M	184K	2.07M	170K	2.16M	231K	2.21M	866K
NM18575	133	30K	147	29K	220	53K	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
	2.09M	172K	2.09M	88K	2.40M	231K		
NM5178	89	56K	107	42K	104	59K	N/A	N/A
	2.13M	136K	2.12M	131K	2.17M	136K		
NM15293	92	52K	110	42K	107	59K	N/A	N/A
	2.08M	144K	2.06M	132K	2.10M	144K		
BBE001	146	70K	178	61K	214	80K	N/A	N/A
	5.05M	212K	5.04M	173K	5.03M	252K		
BBF579	272	57K	321	46K	272 <sup>b</sup>	57K	N/A	N/A
	4.84M	88K	4.84M	94K	4.84M	88K		

on the chromosome. For example, the 25th contig for the *N. meningitidis* strain M13220 assembly would be named as CDC\_NME\_M13320\_025. The prefix used in the pipeline is configurable by the user with a command line option.

## 4.2.4 Feature prediction

Feature prediction was performed in the genome using a suite of several programs. To predict genes, we used a combination of de novo and comparative methods. The Glimmer [46] and GeneMark [24] microbial gene predictors were used for de novo prediction, and BLASTp alignment [12] of putative proteins was used for comparative prediction. Self-training procedures were followed for both de novo predictors, and the results, while highly concordant, were different enough (Table 9) to justify the inclusion of both algorithms. BLASTp alignment of all open reading frames (ORFs) at least 90 nt long was performed using the Swiss-Prot protein database [27].

The results of these three methods were combined together using a combiner strategy outlined in Figure 12. In this strategy, we first check that at least half of the predictors report a gene in a given ORF – in our configuration, 2 of the 3 predictors. Then the Met (putative translation start) codon closest to the beginning of the BLAST alignment is found and declared to be the gene start predicted by BLAST. We then find the gene start coordinate reported by the majority of the three predictors and report the resulting gene prediction. If no majority exists, we select the most upstream gene start predicted.

In addition to protein-coding gene prediction, ribosomal genes were predicted using alignment to a reference database of ribosomal operons, and tRNA genes were predicted using the tRNAScan-SE package [104]. The results are summarized in Table 9.



**Figure 12:** Schematics of combining strategy for prediction stage. BLAST alignment start, which may not coincide exactly with a start codon, is pinned to the closest start codon. Then, a consensus or most upstream start is selected.

**Table 9:** Prediction algorithm performance comparison and statistics. Data for each strain are presented in rows. Prediction counts from the 3 standalone gene prediction methods are presented. Counts of protein-coding gene predictions reported by our algorithm and tRNA genes are also shown. Data presented are based on the automatic combined assemblies from Table 8. (a) Number of ORFs with protein-coding gene predictions where all 3 predictors agreed exactly or with a slight difference in the predicted start site. (b) ORFs where only 2 of the 3 predictors made a prediction. (c) Total protein-coding gene predictions reported by the pipeline.

Strain ID	Gene predictions by GeneMark	Gene predictions by Glimmer3	Gene predictions by BLAST	ORFs with full consensus <sup>a</sup>	ORFs with partial consensus <sup>b</sup>	Total gene predictions reported <sup>c</sup>	tRNAs predicted by tRNAScan-SE
NM13220	2530	2725	1353	1325	974	2299	52
NM10699	2366	2494	1317	1284	826	2110	51
NM15141	2411	2578	1369	1343	841	2184	57
NM9261	2370	2553	1341	1308	802	2110	51
NM18575	2751	2927	1495	1448	1023	2471	63
NM5178	2377	2510	1315	1281	816	2097	52
NM15293	2062	2040	1285	1261	802	2063	51
BBE001	4793	4793	2744	2732	2067	4799	48
BBF579	4649	4646	2652	2635	2021	4656	48

Results of the feature prediction stage are saved in a multi-extent GenBank formatted file. Features were named according to the following convention: contigname\_feature-id, where contig-name is as described earlier, and feature-id is a sequential zero-padded number unique to the feature across all contigs. For example, a gene with feature ID 1293 on contig 25 might have the name CDC\_NME\_M13320\_025\_1293.

To validate the overall accuracy of the gene prediction stage of the pipeline, we ran our gene prediction tools on the genome of Escherichia coli K12, one of the bestannotated bacterial genomes. Our pipeline was able to detect 97.6% of the annotated E. coli K12 protein-coding genes (analysis described in Section 4.4).

## 4.2.5 Functional annotation

Functional annotation of genome features was also performed using a combination of tools. Annotation of protein coding genes was based on an integrated platform that makes use of six distinct annotation tools, four of which employ intrinsic sequence characteristics for annotation and two that use extrinsic homology-based approaches to compare sequences against databases of sequences and structures with known functions. Information on Gene Ontology (GO) terms, domain architecture and identity, subcellular localization, signal peptides, transmembrane helices and lipoprotein motifs is provided for each protein coding gene (Figure 13).

BLASTp alignment of predicted proteins was performed against the UniProt database (Uniprot, 2009). Homology-based searches were also made across thirteen sequence and protein domain databases with the InterProScan suite [122]. Parsing of the results was carried out against the corresponding InterPro database. The pipeline also stores the top five hits for each gene against the NCBI non-redundant protein database, to provide potentially useful information. All homology searches were run locally. Signal peptides were annotated using the SignalP package [18] and transmembrane domains were annotated with the TMHMM package [93]. State of the art in subcellular localization algorithms was examined to ensure the best performance given our operational requirements. Insertion sequences (transposases) and proteins reported as virulence factors by VFDB [38, 187] were also annotated. These annotations of virulence-related features make the pipeline particularly useful for projects working with pathogenic prokaryotes. Results of this analysis are summarized in Table 10.

After the functional annotations were determined, a naming scheme was employed for each locus to conform to standard annotation terminology. Specific gene names were assigned according to homology-based results. For genes that had a Uniprot result with a best hit at greater than 91% amino acid sequence identity and an evalue less than 1e-9, the gene assumed the best hit's name. If the best hit had the keyword "hypothetical," then we used a domain name from InterPro to name the gene. For example, if a gene was given the name "hypothetical" from Uniprot and a domain name of "transferase" from InterPro, then the final name was "hypothetical transferase protein."

Therefore most genes that were given "hypothetical" or "putative" prefixes could then be given a more comprehensive name based on further information such as domain names or protein functions. Genes with unknown functions found across many genomes were given the name "conserved hypothetical protein," and all other putative genes with unknown functions were given the name "putative uncharacterized protein."

#### 4.2.6 Availability

The pipeline software package is available at our website (http://nbase.biology.gatech.edu). The package contains detailed instructions and scripts for installation of the pipeline and all external programs, documentation on usage of the pipeline and its organization. Components which require large biological databases automatically download

68



**Figure 13:** Example functional annotation listing of a *N. meningitidis* gene in the Neisseria Base. Draft genome data are shown including gene location, prediction and annotation status, peptide statistics, BLAST hits, signal peptide properties, transmembrane helix presence, DNA and protein sequence. All names, locations, functional annotations, and other fields are searchable, and gene data are accessible from GBrowse genome browser tracks.

**Table 10:** Feature annotation statistics. Data for each strain are presented in rows. Data presented are based on the automatic combined assemblies from Table 8 and the gene predictions from Table 9. (a) Total putative protein-coding sequences analyzed. (b) As predicted by SignalP (Bendtsen, et al., 2004); percentage of total CDS indicated in parentheses. (c) As predicted by TMHMM [93]. (d) As predicted by BLASTp alignment against VFDB [38, 187]; http://www.mgc.ac.cn/VFs/

Strain ID	Total number of CDS <sup>a</sup>	Signal peptides <sup>b</sup>	Transmembrane helices <sup>c</sup>	Conserved hypothetical proteins	Putative uncharacterized proteins	Functional assignment inferred from homology	Virulence factors <sup>d</sup>
NM13220	2299	326 (14.2%)	184 (8.0%)	10 (0.4%)	708 (30.8%)	603 (26.2%)	36 (1.6%)
NM10699	2110	310 (14.7%)	180 (8.5%)	5 (0.2%)	652 (30.9%)	577 (27.3%)	45 (2.1%)
NM15141	2184	317 (14.5%)	173 (7.9%)	16 (0.7%)	590 (27.0%)	583 (26.7%)	50 (2.3%)
NM9261	2110	303 (14.4%)	166 (7.9%)	13 (0.6%)	591 (28.0%)	558 (26.4%)	37 (1.8%)
NM18575	2471	349 (14.1%)	193 (7.8%)	13 (0.5%)	725 (29.3%)	668 (27.0%)	48 (1.9%)
NM5178	2097	298 (14.2%)	177 (8.4%)	3 (0.1%)	646 (30.8%)	572 (27.3%)	45 (2.1%)
NM15293	2063	304 (14.7%)	168 (8.1%)	6 (0.3%)	613 (29.7%)	567 (27.5%)	47 (2.3%)
BBE001	4799	977 (20.4%)	368 (7.7%)	9 (0.2%)	807 (16.8%)	1184 (24.7%)	54 (1.1%)
BBF579	4656	934 (20.1%)	339 (7.3%)	9 (0.2%)	739 (15.9%)	1171 (25.2%)	45 (1.0%)

local copies of those databases upon installation. All of the *N. meningitidis* genomes reported here, along with custom annotations and tools for searching and comparative sequence analysis, are available for researchers online at our genome browser database (http://nbase.biology.gatech.edu).

## 4.3 Discussion

#### 4.3.1 Genome biology of N. meningitidis and B. bronchiseptica

We have used the pathogen N. meningitidis for the majority of developmental and production testing of our pipeline. Although N. meningitidis gains no fitness advantage from virulence, it occasionally leaves its commensal state and causes devastating disease [117]. Several recent studies have used whole-genome analysis to determine the basis of virulence in this species but none have been conclusive [80, 130, 146]. With the recent advent of next-generation sequencing and the application of an analytical pipeline, such as presented here, this problem and other problems like it can be addressed in individual laboratories on a genome-wide scale. Here, we briefly speculate on a few of the implications of our findings for the genome biology of N. meningitidis to underscore the potential utility of our pipeline.

Whole genome analysis of microbes has led to the development of the "pangenome" concept [170]. A pan-genome refers to the collection of all genes found within different strains of the same species. An open pan-genome means that the genome of any given strain will contain unique genes not found within the genomes of other known strains of the same species. The extent to which microbial pangenomes are open is a matter of debate [99]. Recent studies have suggested that the N. meningitidis pan-genome is essentially open [146], consistent with the fact that it is known to be a highly com-petent species [37, 94]. We evaluated this hypothesis by finding the number of unique genes in each of the seven strains reported here along with seven previously published strains, using the results of our analytical pipeline. Our findings are consistent with [146] in the sense that every genome sequence was found to contain at least 43 unique genes not found in any other strain. Thus, the N. *meningitidis* pan-genome does appear to be open.

*N. meningitidis* is a human commensal that most often does not cause disease, and avirulent strains of the species are referred to as carriage strains. Results of previous comparative genomic analyses have been taken to suggest that carriage strains represent a distinct evolutionary group that is basal to a group of related virulent strains of N. meningitidis [146]. We tested this hypothesis using the results of our analytical pipeline applied to three carriage strains and eight virulent strains of N. meningitidis. Whole genome sequences were aligned and pairwise distances between genomes, based on nucleotide diversity levels, were compared within and between groups of carriage and virulent strains. We found that average of the pairwise genome sequence distances within (w) the carriage and virulent groups of strains was not significantly different from the average pairwise distances between (b) groups ( $w = 0.074 \pm 0.027$  $b = 0.090 \pm 0.014$ , t = 0.693, P = 0.491). This result is inconsistent with the previously held notion that carriage and virulent strains represent distinct evolutionary groups based on whole genome analysis. However, our findings are consistent with earlier work that found little genetic differentiation between carriage and virulent strains of N. meningitidis [86].

Currently, there is no unambiguous molecular assay to distinguish *B. bronchiseptica* from other *Bordetella* species. One reason the two *B. bronchiseptica* genomes reported here were characterized was to discover genes unique to the species (i.e. not present in any other *Bordetella* species) to facilitate the development of a *B. bronchiseptica*-specific PCR assay. To identify such genes, we performed BLASTn with *B. bronchiseptica* query genes uncovered by our pipeline against other *B. bronchiseptica* strain genomes along with four genomes of closely related *Bordetella* species. We uncovered a total of 223 genes that are present in all *B. bronchiseptica* strains and absent in all other *Bordetella* species. To narrow down this set of potential PCR assay targets, we searched for the most conserved *B. bronchiseptica*-specific genes. As a point of reference, we determined the sodC gene used in the *N. meningitidis*-specific PCR assay [94] to be 99.6% identical among all six completely sequenced strains of *N. meningitidis*. There are 7 *B. bronchiseptica*-specific genes with  $\geq$ 99.6% sequence identity; these genes represent a prioritized list of potential PCR assay targets.

## 4.3.2 Computational genomics pipeline

We have presented our computational genomics pipeline, a local solution for automated, high-throughput computational support of prokaryotic genome sequencing projects. While the revolution in sequencing technology makes possible the execution of genome projects within individual laboratories, the computational infrastructure to fully realize this possibility does not yet exist. We made a comprehensive effort to put the tools required for this infrastructure into the hands of biologists working with next-generation sequencing data. Our aim in the course of this project was to facilitate decentralized biological discoveries based on affordable whole-genome prokaryotic sequencing, a mode of science termed "investigator-initiated genomics". For example, one project enabled by the pipeline in our laboratory is a platform for SNP detection and analysis in groups of bacterial genomes.

One of our major goals was to provide full automation of our pipeline's entire workflow, and this has been achieved. On the other hand, to allow computationally savvy users to realize the power of customizability, a semi-automated process is desirable. We have made an effort to strike a balance between these objectives, and provide a modular, hierarchically organized structure to permit maximum customization when so desired.

The state of the art in prokaryotic computational genomics moves at a formidable

pace. The modular organization of our pipeline, along with the emphasis on integration of complementary software tools, allows us to continually update our platform to keep pace with developments in computational genomics. For instance, if a new, better assembler becomes available, we can include its results in the assembly stage with a simple change to the pipeline code.

## 4.4 Validation on known data

Optional parts of the assembly stage included manual gap joining curation for scaffolding in the absence of paired-end reads, and frameshift detection for homopolymerinduced frameshifts.

The manual gap joining stage involved the layout of contigs according to their aligned position on the reference using the AMOS package and manual examination of each gap, adjacent contig alignments and reference annotation in the MAUVE visualization tool. We then recorded all gaps considered safe to join on the basis of this information into a gap fill specification file, which is a tabulated file in the format "contig 1 name, contig 1 end position, reference start position, gap length, reference end position, contig 2 name, contig 2 start position", with one gap fill description per line. A script was then used to produce the final FASTA formatted output, with gaps filled with N (unknown nucleotides) by default, or optionally with sequence from the reference strain.

The homopolymer-induced frameshift stage used the FSFind package from (Kislyuk et al., 2009). Briefly, this package creates a GeneMark model of the genome, makes gene predictions, and then scans the genome for possible frameshift positions on the basis of ORF configuration and coding potential. Once the possible frameshift sites are identified, a putative translation of the protein possibly encoded by the broken gene is compared against a protein database (SwissProt by default). The predicted frameshift site is also scanned for adjacent homopolymers. A heuristic set of confidence score cutoffs is then used to provide a set of frameshift predictions while minimizing the false positive rate. The resulting homopolymer error predictions can be used for either targeted re-sequencing or predictive correction using a supplied script. The output can be manually run through the gene prediction and annotation stages of the pipeline again.

To demonstrate the overall accuracy of the prediction stage, we ran it on the genome of E. coli K12, one of the best-annotated bacterial genomes. Our stage was able to detect 97.6% of intact ORFs annotated as protein-coding, and exactly predict starts in 74% of those.

The complete genome of Escherichia coli K12, accession number NC\_000913.2, was downloaded from GenBank and its DNA sequence extracted into a FASTA file. The file was then given as input to the prediction component of the pipeline, which utilized the combination of GenMark, Glimmer3 and BLAST vs. SwissProt. To remove bias caused by the presence of most E. coli protein-coding sequences in SwissProt, we also ran the same component configured to run without BLAST based prediction, using only the de novo predictors. The component used the input data to self-train the predictors. See main text for details of the combination algorithm.

GenBank-formatted output of the component was tabulated to include only CDS sequence annotation boundaries. The same procedure was done for the reference E. coli annotation from the original file. Sequences with frameshifted and interrupted CDS (i.e. non-intact ORFs) were omitted from the comparison due to lack of capability in our prediction component to detect such structures at this time.

## 4.5 Acknowledgements

We are grateful to all participants of the Georgia Tech Computational Genomics class; to Leonardo Mariño-Ramírez for valuable guidance and input; and to Joshua S. Weitz for his support.

# 4.6 Funding

The work presented in this chapter was supported by Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency [A.O.K. by HR0011-05-1-0057]; The Alfred P. Sloan Foundation [I.K.J. by BR-4839]; Georgia Research Alliance [I.K.J., P.J., S.A. by GRA.VAC09.O]; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [L.S.K. by 1 R36 GD 000075-1]; and Bioinformatics program, Georgia Institute of Technology [J.H., P.J, V.N., S.A.].

## CHAPTER V

## METAGENOMIC BINNING

The development of effective environmental shotgun sequence binning methods remains an ongoing challenge in algorithmic analysis of metagenomic data. While previous methods have focused primarily on supervised learning involving extrinsic data, a first-principles statistical model combined with a self-training fitting method has not yet been developed.

We derive an unsupervised, maximum-likelihood formalism for clustering short sequences by their taxonomic origin on the basis of their k-mer distributions. The formalism is implemented using a Markov Chain Monte Carlo approach in a k-mer feature space. We introduce a space transformation that reduces the dimensionality of the feature space and a genomic fragment divergence measure that strongly correlates with the method's performance. Pairwise analysis of over 1000 completely sequenced genomes reveals that the vast majority of genomes have sufficient genomic fragment divergence to be amenable for binning using the present formalism. Using a highperformance implementation, the binner is able to classify fragments as short as 400 nt with accuracy over 90% in simulations of low-complexity communities of 2 to 10 species, given sufficient genomic fragment divergence. The method is available as an open source package called LikelyBin.

An unsupervised binning method based on statistical signatures of short environmental sequences is a viable stand-alone binning method for low complexity samples. For medium and high complexity samples, we discuss the possibility of combining the current method with other methods as part of an iterative process to enhance the resolving power of sorting reads into taxonomic and/or functional bins. The rest of this chapter is based on published work which first appeared in the following article:

A. Kislyuk, S. Bhatnagar, J. Dushoff, and J. Weitz, "Unsupervised statistical clustering of environmental shotgun sequences," BMC Bioinformatics, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 316+, 2009.

## 5.1 Background

Metagenomics, the study of the combined genomes of communities of organisms, is a rapidly expanding area of genome research. The field is driven by environmental shotgun sequencing (ESS), a technique of applying high-throughput genome sequencing to non-clonal DNA purified directly from an environmental sample. This removes the requirement to isolate and cultivate clonal cultures of each species, allowing an unprecedented broad view of microbial communities.

Thus far, environments such as acid mine drainage [174], Scottish soil [173], open ocean [144], termite gut [179], human gut [67], and neanderthal [126] have been sequenced, to name a few. Attention has been directed to bacterial and viral fractions of these communities, with eukaryotic metagenomics pioneered by projects such as the marine protist census [127]. Complexity of these communities varies greatly from 5 to several thousand identifiable bacterial species. These projects have uncovered vast amounts of previously unobserved genetic diversity [13, 82]. For example, "deep sequencing" using 454 pyrosequencing suggests that possibly tens of thousands of species coexist in a single ml of seawater [157].

Given this wealth of genomic data it is becoming possible to make increasingly precise biological inferences regarding the structure and functioning of microbial communities [74, 188, 51]. As but one example, the discovery of a novel proteorhodopsin gene was the first step in uncovering a previously unknown, yet apparently dominant, mechanism for phototrophy in the oceans [17]. Characterization of functional diversity is limited by our ability to classify sequences into distinct groups that reflect a desired taxonomic or functional resolution.

Shotgun metagenomic DNA is sequenced in fragments of 50 to 1000 nucleotides, then possibly assembled into longer sequences (contigs). Phylogenetic binning, the task of classifying these sequences into bins by taxonomic origin, then becomes critical to separate metagenomic data into coherent subsets plausibly belonging to separate organisms. This task is challenging due to the short length of available fragments. Bacterial communities of very high complexity, with thousands of species present, further complicate the task.

While methods such as 16S bacterial community censuses [123] and functionalor sequence-based screening surveys are the forerunners of modern metagenomics, indiscriminate whole-genome shotgun sequencing may be the defining approach of the discipline today. This approach has recently generated vast amounts of data, facilitated by continual capacity increases and quality improvements at major sequencing centers and the emergence of cost effective very high throughput Next Generation sequencing (NGS) (454 pyrosequencing [111], Illumina [21] and SOLiD [153]). At the highest diversity levels, the reads may not be assembled at all due to the sparseness of even the highest throughput sequencing methods and the danger of chimeric assemblies, arising from sampling so many organisms at once, leaving the binner with raw reads. Binning methods therefore aim to be able to operate on very short read lengths provided by next-generation sequencing, although most, including the present approach, are only able to go down to 454 pyrosequencing read length (about 400 nt) and not to microread length (30 to 100 nt).

Classic approaches to phylogenetic determination of species identities from environmental sequences rely on identifying variants of highly conserved genes, like 16S rRNA or recA [98]. This approach is not applicable on a full metagenomic scale for two reasons: first, ribosomal or marker gene sequences comprise a small fraction of the bacterial genome, so most shotgun sequences do not contain them and cannot be classified this way; and second, organisms with identical or closely related 16S genes have been shown to exhibit variations in essential physiological functions [177]. Other approaches are broadly divided into sequence similarity based classifiers such as MEGAN [83], which rely on BLAST or other alignments, and sequence composition based classifiers, which rely on statistical patterns of oligonucleotide distributions.

Many solutions integrate the task of phylogenetic assignment (labeling) together with that of binning per se (clustering) of genomic fragments. However, with unsupervised methods, like the one presented here, labeling is not possible as part of the algorithm and has to be performed by other means, like analyzing the correspondence of generated clusters to known phylogenies.

Sequence classification based on oligonucleotide distributions has been the basis for gene finding applications since the early 1990s. In 1995, Karlin and Burge [88] noted that dinucleotide distribution is relatively constant within genomes but varies between genomes. Since then, this property has been extensively studied and generalized to other oligonucleotide lengths [49]. With the advent of ESS, several binning methods have used oligonucleotide distributions of various orders to build supervised and semisupervised classifiers. These include PhyloPythia [115], CompostBin [36], and selforganizing map (SOM) based methods [7, 34, 35].

Machine learning-based classification algorithms like those used for binning are categorized into supervised, semi-supervised, and unsupervised classes. Supervised algorithms accept a training set of labeled data used to build their models, which are then applied to the query data. In case of binning, this training set consists of genomic sequences labeled according to the species they originate from. Semisupervised algorithms use both training set data and query data to build their models. Unsupervised algorithms use no training data and derive their models directly from the query input. While methods described above have achieved considerable success in classifying short anonymous genomic fragments, their supervised nature makes them reliant on previously sequenced data. For example, BLAST-based methods are completely dependent on the presence of sequences related to the query in the database. While semi-supervised clustering methods can have significant generalizing power, their accuracy still depends on similarity of input data to their training set.

To our knowledge, two approaches to unsupervised metagenomic binning have been published. TETRA [168, 169] explores the applications of k-mer frequency statistics to metagenomic data. The authors state that their method is suitable as a "fingerprinting technique" for longer DNA fragments, though not as a generalpurpose binning method for single-read 454 pyrosequenced or Sanger fragments, and an application of methods including TETRA to binning of fosmid-sized DNA is used in [183]. Abe *et al.* [7] used self-organizing maps (SOM) in combination with principal component analysis (PCA) on 1- and 10-Kb fragments, and this method was evaluated and enhanced in [34] using growing self-organizing maps (GSOM), an extension of SOM, on 8- and 10-kb fragments.

Given the apparent diversity of metagenomic samples and the significant fraction of the full bacterial phylogeny with no sequenced representatives [3, 177], as well as possible undiscovered diversity of the tree of life, binning methods must perform well on previously unseen data. Semi-supervised methods may be able to extrapolate on this data, but if not, unsupervised clustering will be a necessary part of a combinedmethod binning approach. We present LikelyBin, a new statistical approach to unsupervised classification of metagenomic reads based on an explicit likelihood model of short genomic fragments [5].

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. The Methods section introduces a formal definition of the binning problem, the application of the Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) formalism, and the feature space and likelihood model used. We discuss numerical methods used in the implementation, including a novel coordinate transformation which achieves dimension reduction for the feature space of k-mer frequencies, and the genomic fragment divergence measure  $D_n$ , a novel statistical measure we developed for performance evaluation of our algorithm. The Results section presents performance evaluations of our method on mixtures of 2 to 10 species compiled from completed genomes available in GenBank, with fragment lengths starting at 400 nt, as well as accuracy trends over different fragment lengths and mixing ratios. We also present results on the FAMeS [114] dataset and compare the current method to a semi-supervised binning method based on k-mer distributions [36]. The Conclusion section explains the applicability of our method, its speed and availability, as well as important future directions for improvement.

## 5.2 Methods

## 5.2.1 The binning problem

We state the problem as follows: given a collection of N short sequence reads from M complete genomes, how can we predict which sequences derive from the same genome? In our model, we represent a genome as a string of characters deriving from a stochastic model with parameters  $\Theta$ , referred to here as a master distribution. We make the simplifying assumption that the oligonucleotide distribution is uniform across the bacterial chromosome. This assumption is not satisfied biologically; gene-coding, RNA-coding, and noncoding regions, leading and lagging strands of replication, and genomic islands resulting from horizontal gene transfer can all exhibit distinct oligonucleotide distributions. Accurate classification of these regions in metagenomic fragments is an open problem which requires complex statistical models that we have yet to incorporate into our framework, and which are targets for subsequent model development. Nonetheless we have found that clustering of short reads using the above assumption is sufficiently accurate for use in low complexity

metagenome samples.

Given this assumption of statistical homogeneity, we model a collection of sequences from a single genome as realizations of a single stochastic process. Similarly, we model a collection of sequences from multiple genomes as realizations of multiple stochastic processes, one per genome, each with its own master distribution. We are interested in determining which sequences in a metagenomic survey are likely to have been drawn from the same genome and, consequently, the statistical distributions of oligonucleotides within each of the master distributions. If the number of master distributions is unknown, then we must include some prior estimate to close the model. Thus, even in cases where due to insufficient coverage it is impossible to assemble disparate segments of a consensus genome together, a binning algorithm should still be able to group reads together based on their statistical distribution of oligonucleotides.

The simplest model of a genome would be a random collection of letters, A, T, C, and G. The master distribution of a single genome can then be represented as a single probability,  $p_A$ , denoting the fraction of A-s in the genome. Base complementarity requires  $p_A = p_T$  and  $p_C = 1/2 - p_A = p_G$ . A more complex representation would be to assume that genomes are random collections of k-mers. When k = 1, each nucleotide is independent of the previous. When k = 2, the genomes are random collections of dimers and so on. However, when  $k \ge 2$ , inherent symmetries are present in this representation since all but the first letters of the current k-mer are also contained in the next k-mer. In a metagenomic dataset, each short fragment derives from a single master distribution,  $\theta_i$ , which is represented a fraction  $f_i$  of times.

How then can we infer the most likely  $\Theta \equiv (\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_M)$  and  $F \equiv (f_1, f_2, \dots, f_M)$ given a set of N sequences  $S \equiv (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_N)$ ? To do so, we must calculate the likelihood  $\mathcal{L}(S|\Theta, F)$  of observing the sequences S given the parameters  $\Theta$  and F. Then, we must estimate the values of  $\Theta$  and F that maximize the likelihood  $\mathcal{L}$ . Below, we demonstrate the use of a MCMC algorithm to perform this task.



Figure 14: Diagram of binning data pathways and main MCMC iteration loop.

#### 5.2.2 MCMC framework

We are interested in finding the values of  $\Theta$  and F that maximize the likelihood,  $\mathcal{L}$ . The MCMC approach has been described in detail elsewhere [160]. Given an initial parameter setting and a metagenomic data set, we implement the following Metropolis-Hastings algorithm to MCMC maximum likelihood estimation: (i) Determine the likelihood of the dataset  $\mathcal{L}(\Theta, F|S)$ ; (ii) Choose some  $\Phi = \Theta + d\Theta$ , and G = F + dF and determine its likelihood,  $\mathcal{L}'(\Phi, G)$ , such that both  $\Phi$  and G exist in the same high-dimensional simplex as  $\Theta$  and F respectively; (iii) Accept the new value given a probability 1 if  $\mathcal{L}'(\Phi, G) > \mathcal{L}(\Theta, F)$  and with probability  $\mathcal{L}'(\Phi, G)/\mathcal{L}(\Theta, F)$ otherwise; (iv) Repeat, and after a burn-in period determine the values  $\hat{\Theta}$  and  $\hat{F}$ which maximize  $\mathcal{L}(S|\Theta, F)$ . We can then utilize the resulting model of sequence parameters to classify sequences and estimate the most likely oligonucleotide distribution of each of the originating master distributions. The iterative process, together with key stages of the entire binning algorithm, is illustrated in Figure 14. Some technical details necessary for the implementation follow.

#### 5.2.2.1 Likelihood model.

Consider a nucleotide sequence  $s = c_1 c_2 c_3 \dots c_\ell$ . We would like to know the probability of observing such a sequence given some underlying model. We assume that our sequence is selected from broken pieces of double-stranded DNA, and thus that complementary nucleotide sequences have the same probability: i.e., L(s) = L(s'), where  $s' = c'_{\ell} \dots c'_1$ , and  $c'_i$  is the nucleotide complementary to the nucleotide  $c_i$ .

We assume that the probability of our sequence is determined by a set of  $2^k$  k-mer probabilities  $p_{c_1...c_k}$ . That is, we write:

$$P(s) = p_{c_1...c_k} \prod_{j=k+1}^{\ell} P(c_j | c_{j+1-k} \dots c_{j-1})$$
(4)

Assuming we know probabilities for all of our k-mers, we have probabilities for k-1-mers as marginals. Thus we can write:

$$P(s) = p_{c_1...c_k} \prod_{j=k+1}^{\ell} \frac{p_{(c_{j+1-k}...c_j)}}{p_{(c_{j+1-k}...c_{j-1})}}$$
(5)

As an example, the probability of a sequence given a set of known dimer frequencies is:

$$P(s) = p_{c_1 c_2} \prod_{j=3}^{\ell} \frac{p_{(c_{j-1} c_j)}}{p_{(c_{j-1})}}$$
(6)

Note that we assume the marginal probabilities are well defined: i.e., that we get the same marginal probability if we collapse a k-mer to a k - 1-mer by summing over the first, or the last, nucleotide.

The likelihood of observing N sequences given M master distributions is

$$\mathcal{L} = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left( \sum_{m=1}^{M} f_m P_m(s_i) \right), \tag{7}$$

where  $P_m(s_i)$  is the probability of generating the *i*-th sequence given the *m*-th master distribution.

A simple example of likelihood computation according to the described model is given in the Appendix.

## 5.2.2.2 The space of k-mer frequencies.

Given the assumption of uniformity of the k-mer (oligonucleotide) distribution across each genome, we can impose three kinds of constraints on the k-mer frequency space. This space is a subspace of  $\mathbf{R}^{4^k}$ , subject to three kinds of constraints: all k-mer frequencies sum to 1, e.g.

$$p_{AAA} + p_{AAT} + \ldots + p_{CCC} = 1;$$

each k-mer has the same frequency as its complement; and all marginal probabilities are consistent over all margins, e.g.

$$p_{AAA} + p_{AAT} + p_{AAG} + p_{AAC} = p_{AA}.$$

We then derive a transformation of the original k-mer frequency vector,

$$x = [p_A, p_T, p_G, p_C, p_{AA}, p_{AT}, p_{AG}, p_{AC}, p_{TA}, \ldots],$$

into the independent coordinate space. To generalize and automate the process, we perform it for each case from 1-mers (4 dimensions before removing redundancies) to 5-mers (1364 dimensions before removing redundancies) by generating all equations governing the constraints above. We use the notation [A|b] to denote the matrices of the constraint equation Ax = b by generating rows for each constraint type. For example, for k = 2, we write the summation, complementarity and marginality constraints as follows:

k	Total dimensions	Independent dimensions
1	4	1
2	20	7
3	84	25
4	340	103
5	1364	391

 Table 11: Redundancies in oligonucleotide dimension space

		[ ]	L	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	]	
C I I			)	0	1	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		( <b>0</b> )
Complementarity			)	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	,	(9)
												:													
		L																					I	-	
-																						1	-	,	
	1	0	0	0	-1	0		0	0	$^{-1}$	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0	_	-1	0	0	0	0		
Marginality:	1	0	0	0	-1	-1	-	-1	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	0	0	0	0	0		(10)

We find the nullspace of the resulting matrix A and use it to perform the transformation. The resulting number of independent dimensions is shown in Table 11. The MCMC simulation then performs the search in the independent coordinate space. For k > 6, the matrix A becomes too big to compute its nullspace using a non-parallelized algorithm. Even for k = 6, the number of independent dimensions is so large that the MCMC simulation takes an intractable amount of time. Therefore, we only generalize our algorithm up to k = 5.

#### 5.2.2.3 Initial conditions.

The choice of initial conditions can dramatically alter the speed of convergence of a MCMC solver. We used the same initial conditions for comparison of model results, specified by the frequencies of k-mers in the entire dataset provided as input (i.e., the weighted average of all sources' contributions to the dataset). Other possibilities, implemented but not chosen as the default, include taking uniformly distributed frequencies, randomizing the starting condition, or using principal components analysis with K-means clustering to obtain initial cluster centroids. We verified that convergence, when it did occur, did not depend sensitively on initial conditions (Additional files 20 and 21).

#### 5.2.2.4 Finding the maximum likelihood model.

Once the predefined number of timesteps has elapsed, the model with the largest log likelihood is selected.

Note that the MCMC framework is amenable to a Bayesian approach, which we implemented as an alternative. Once the equilibrium state has been reached we calculate the autocorrelation of frequencies and estimate a window over which frequencies show no significant autocorrelations. Given a specified prior distribution  $p(\Theta, F)$  for the master distribution and frequencies, the Metropolis-Hastings approach will converge to the true posterior distribution of  $\pi(\Theta, F|S) \propto \mathcal{L}(S|\Theta, F)p(\Theta, F)$ . In our case we used an uninformed prior distribution so long as positivity and all other specified constraints among k-mer probabilities were preserved. We then sample from the equilibrium state to find  $\pi(\Theta, F)$ . Averages of master distributions in the posterior distribution also preserve the constraint conditions because of the linearity of the averaging operator. Accuracy of the model was similar whether using the maximum likelihood model or the average of the posterior distribution (Additional file 22). Full posterior distributions of k-mer models could be used to estimate posterior distributions of binning accuracy.

#### 5.2.3 Numerical details

#### 5.2.3.1 Precision.

Due to precision limitations of the machine double precision floating point format, the model likelihood calculation is performed in log space. Denote the old model under consideration as  $\mathbf{M} = \{M_1, M_2, \dots, M_m\}$ , and the new (perturbed) model as  $\tilde{\mathbf{M}} = \{\tilde{M}_1, \tilde{M}_2, \dots, \tilde{M}_m\}$ . The log likelihood of a single model is

$$\log \mathcal{L} = \log \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left( \sum_{m=1}^{M} f_m P_m(s_i) \right),$$
  
=  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \log \sum_{m=1}^{M} f_m P_m(s_i),$   
=  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \log \sum_{m=1}^{M} f_m \left( p_{c_1c_2}^m \prod_{j=3}^{l} \frac{p_{c_{j-1}c_j}^m}{p_{c_{j-1}}^m}, \right)$ 

and note that the innermost fraction contains higher-order terms when working with Markov chain orders higher than 2. The innermost product term is a product of on the order of 1000 terms of magnitude  $\approx 1/4$ . However,  $1/4^n$  exceeds double floating point precision at  $n \approx 540$ . To prevent underflow, we find the  $P_m(s_i)$  of highest magnitude and divide the inner sum by it. This allows log space evaluation of the highest magnitude term and ensures that any terms whose precision is lost are at least  $\approx 1e300$  times smaller.

The model log likelihood ratio is then  $\log \frac{\mathcal{L}(\tilde{\mathbf{M}}|\mathbf{S})}{\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{M}|\mathbf{S})} = \log \mathcal{L}(\tilde{\mathbf{M}}|\mathbf{S}) - \log \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{M}|\mathbf{S})$ . If this term exceeds 0, the new model is more likely to be observed than the old.

The MCMC iteration loop was implemented with the Metropolis-Hastings criterion. From an initial model, a perturbed model  $M_N$  is generated. The new model's probability is evaluated as above and compared to that of the currently selected model  $M_C$ . If higher, the new model is selected; otherwise, the new model is selected with probability  $p = \exp(\log \mathcal{L}(M_N|S) - \log \mathcal{L}(M_C|S))$ . The step is repeated N times (N is fixed at 40000 for the experiments described). Each selected model is stored in a model record for later sampling.

#### 5.2.3.2 Computing the perturbation.

The statistical model consists of sub-models for each source. The perturbation step is performed for every sub-model independently. Every sub-model consists of a complete k-mer frequency vector,  $\{p_A, p_T, p_G, p_C, p_{AA} \dots\}$ . It is perturbed by scaling each vector of the basis matrix A by a random number  $r_i$  drawn from a Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and constant variance (computed as described below), then adding each scaled vector in succession to the frequency vector. The basis matrix A is precomputed for each k-mer model order from 2 to 5 and supplied with the program. The computation is performed by generating a system of equations representing the base complementarity, marginal, and summation constraints and using the standard nullspace algorithm supplied with GNU Octave.

The perturbation step variance must be calibrated independently for each dataset. An excessive variance will result in too many suboptimal perturbations as well as perturbations placing the frequency vector outside the unit hypercube (those perturbations are rejected). A variance that is too small can result in an inability to escape local maxima in the model search space and an inability to reach the stationary phase before the pre-determined number of steps is taken. To calibrate the variance, the MCMC iteration is started independently for a reduced number of steps, and different variances ranging from 1e - 3 down to 1e - 8 are tried. With each trial, the number of new model acceptances is recorded. We consider the fraction  $f = \frac{\#acceptances}{\#timesteps}$ . Once the variance yielding f closest to 0.234 is found (a heuristic level of acceptances that has become standard[160], p. 504), we use this variance for the main run. Convergence to the stationary phase occurred after 40,000 iterations in all cases of interest.

#### 5.2.3.3 Computing the prediction.

To derive the final model prediction, the model with the overall maximum log likelihood is selected.

The full MCMC simulation is repeated a selected number of times (to increase performance, the classifier was run in parallel on an 8-core machine; each core was


Figure 15: Log likelihood values of fragments from pairs of species according to models fitted by the classifier. Points' positions on the two axes represent log likelihoods of each fragment according to the first and second model, respectively. A, *Helicobacter acinonychis* vs. *Vibrio fischeri*, good separation (98% accuracy, D=1.31); B, *Streptococcus pneumoniae* vs. *Streptococcus pyogenes*, poor separation (57% accuracy, D=0.22). Fragment length was 800 in both cases. 500 fragments per species were supplied.

assigned to run one MCMC simulation for a total of 8 restarts). Final model predictions are compared between different runs, and the best overall prediction is selected according to its model likelihood (described above).

The classifier then assigns a putative source to each sequence fragment it was initially queried with. For every fragment, its likelihood according to each sub-model in the final predicted model is computed, and the sub-model supplying the highest likelihood is selected. Since the sources are anonymous, they are referred to simply by indices from 1 to n corresponding to each sub-model's index in the final predicted model. Figure 15 illustrates the log likelihood comparison process for all fragments in a given dataset, according to the best model selected as a result of this process.

#### 5.2.4 Testing methodology

Simulated metagenomic datasets were created by selecting two or more genomic sequences as source DNA. Sequence fragments were selected at random positions within source sequences; overlaps were allowed to occur. Fragment size was fixed for all fragments for each experiment. The total number of fragments per source was selected either according to overall source length or at specified frequency ratios (e.g., 2:1, 10:1:1). The number of sources in each testing dataset was supplied to the classifier.

Accuracy of the classifier is calculated as follows. Every possible matching of source genomic sequence names to classifier output indices is considered, e.g.  $\{seq1 \rightarrow 1, seq2 \rightarrow 2\}, \{seq1 \rightarrow 2, seq2 \rightarrow 1\}$ . The number of correct assignments made by the classifier is then counted for each matching and the matching with the highest number of correct assignments is selected. Accuracy is then given as  $\frac{\# \text{correct assignments}}{\# \text{fragments}}$ .

To evaluate separability of the randomly generated datasets according to the classifier's model, we also define and compute the genomic fragment divergence between two sources' k-mer distributions. First, we compute the mean,  $\mu$ , and standard deviation,  $\sigma$ , of each k-mer frequency for each source across fragments originating from that source. The genomic fragment divergence of k-mer order n is then given by

$$D_n(S_1, S_2) = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{4^k} \sum_{\substack{i \in \{k \text{-mers} \\ \text{of order } k\}}} \frac{(\mu_i^{S_1} - \mu_i^{S_2})^2}{(\sigma_i^{S_1})^2 + (\sigma_i^{S_2})^2}.$$
 (11)

Generalizing to M species, let  $\{S\} = \{S_1, S_2, \dots, S_M\}$ . Then we define

$$D_n(\{S\}) = \min_{\substack{\forall i, j \in [1,M]\\i \neq j}} (D_n(S_i, S_j)).$$

$$(12)$$

Figure 17 illustrates the distribution of genomic fragment divergences between completed bacterial genomes.

A different formula for intergenomic difference, called the *average absolute dinu*cleotide relative abundance difference is [33]:  $\delta^*(f,g) = \frac{1}{16} \sum_{X,Y} |\rho_{XY}^*(f) - \rho_{XY}^*(g)|$ , where  $\rho_{XY}^* = \frac{f_{XY}^*}{f_X^* f_Y^*}$ . This formula encompasses dinucleotides and pairwise comparisons of entire sequences only, and uses dimer frequency biases instead of absolute frequencies and their deviations in a hierarchical fashion. The advantage of the proposed genomic fragment divergence is in its consideration of fragment length induced variation in k-mer frequency distributions and integration of information content from multiple k-mer lengths into one measure.

## 5.3 Results and Discussion

The accuracy and applicability of the present method in binning short sequence fragments from low complexity communities (2-10 species) was systematically analyzed using a variety of species, varying fragment lengths, and varying ratios of fragment representation.

First, a set of 1055 completed bacterial chromosomes was retrieved from Gen-Bank. This set was randomly sampled for sets of 2, 3, 5, 10 genomes at a time, representative of various genomic fragment k-mer distribution divergences. Binning results for nearly 1800 simulated communities comprised of 2 or 3 genomes at a time are summarized in the top panels of Figure 16. There is a strong positive correlation between genomic fragment divergence and average performance. Classification accuracy was consistently above 85% for fragment divergences when  $D_3 > 2$ . Results for Bayesian posterior distribution sampling were not substantially different (Additional file 22).

Accuracy of binning simulated communities of 5-10 species was consistent with the results from 2-3 species communities. The accuracy of binning was strongly positively correlated with genomic fragment divergence with accuracies consistently above 85% for  $D_3 > 2$ . Note that accurate binning was possible when fragment length was either L = 400 nt or L = 800 nt (middle and bottom panels of Figure 16 respectively). For 5 and 10 species, a total of 1815 simulated communities were tested in the L = 400 nt case and a total of 425 simulated communities were tested in the L = 800 nt case.

Next, we evaluated the robustness of our binning method to changes in fragment length and to changes in fragment ratios using five distinct genome pairs from the



Figure 16: Sets of 2, 3, 5, 10 genomes were sampled randomly from a set of 1055 completed bacterial chromosomes, and experiments were conducted as described in Materials and Methods. Trials were conducted with 400- and 800-nt long fragments. Classification accuracy for the majority of genome pairs above overall divergence 1 is in the high performance range (accuracy > 0.9), while above divergence 3 accuracy is above 0.9 for over 95% of the trials. Results for Bayesian posterior distribution sampling were not significantly different (Additional file 22).

Species composition	GC con-	$p_A$	$p_{AA}$	$p_{AC}$	$p_{AT}$	$p_{CA}$	$p_{CG}$	$p_{GC}$
	tent							
Arthrobacter aurescens TC1	63%	0.186	0.041	0.044	0.048	0.054	0.127	0.114
Sinorhizobium meliloti 1021	62%	0.189	0.040	0.057	0.037	0.068	0.097	0.098
Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris MG1363	36%	0.322	0.128	0.046	0.092	0.063	0.025	0.037
Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica FTA	32%	0.337	0.118	0.047	0.109	0.059	0.015	0.038
Helicobacter pylori HPAG1	40%	0.301	0.105	0.050	0.082	0.066	0.027	0.042
Streptococcus pneumoniae R6	39%	0.303	0.126	0.040	0.079	0.058	0.037	0.060
Staphylococcus aureus RF122	35%	0.324	0.122	0.042	0.097	0.060	0.017	0.037
Prochlorococcus marinus str. NATL2A	33%	0.333	0.121	0.053	0.110	0.066	0.026	0.035
Staphylococcus aureus subsp. aureus COL	31%	0.343	0.134	0.038	0.110	0.055	0.008	0.027
Methanocaldococcus jannaschii DSM 2661	33%	0.335	0.122	0.053	0.112	0.065	0.026	0.033

**Table 12:** Summary of species' characteristics, including all independent monomer and dimer frequencies, in the subset of trials on 5 pairs of genomes performed in Figures 18 and 19.

preceding experiment (see Table 12). The pairs were selected based on their relatively low genomic fragment divergence,  $D_3 \approx 1$ , given a fragment length of L = 400nt. Binning results on these 2-species tests were evaluated using sequence fragments whose lengths ranged from 40 to 1000 nt. The results are shown in Figure 18. Performance stabilizes close to its optimal value at fragment length 400. Again, results for Bayesian posterior distribution sampling were not substantially different than the maximum likelihood approach (Table 15).

For the same five pairs as in Figure 18, we performed a test of fragment ratiodependent contributions to accuracy (Figure 19). The binner successfully classifies mixtures with species' fractional content of 20% and above. Although robust to moderate variation in fragment ratios, these results indicate that binning relatively rare species may require modifications to the present likelihood formalism.

We also tested our method using subsets of the JGI FAMeS [1, 114] simulated low-complexity dataset (simLC). We took 5 genomic sources at a time, using 500 fragments, each of length L = 400 nt. The accuracy results for binning these simulated low complexity communities are summarized in Table 13. The binning method has approximately 80% accuracy for a five-species community despite the genomic divergence,  $D_3$ , being approximately 1.5 (an indicator of a community with similar k-mer distributions).

**Table 13:** Summary of algorithm performance on JGI FAMeS data. Random subsets of 5 sources each were selected from the FAMeS simLC dataset, with a genomic fragment divergence,  $D_3$ , as shown. Fragments were truncated to the indicated length where appropriate. Reads from the dataset were used raw with no trimming.

$\min D_3$	Fragment	Fragment	Accuracy
	count	length	
2.3451	500	400	0.87
1.9598	500	400	0.69
1.9314	500	400	0.85
1.8881	500	400	0.89
1.8032	500	400	0.86
1.3563	500	400	0.81
1.2429	500	400	0.79
1.1571	500	400	0.87
1.0279	500	400	0.72
0.9987	500	400	0.65
0.9856	500	400	0.72
0.8884	500	400	0.78
1.46	500	400	0.79
	$\begin{array}{c} \min D_3 \\ \hline 2.3451 \\ 1.9598 \\ \hline 1.9314 \\ 1.8881 \\ \hline 1.8032 \\ \hline 1.3563 \\ \hline 1.2429 \\ \hline 1.1571 \\ \hline 1.0279 \\ \hline 0.9987 \\ \hline 0.9856 \\ \hline 0.8884 \\ \hline 1.46 \end{array}$	min $D_3$ Fragment count2.34515001.95985001.93145001.88815001.80325001.35635001.24295001.15715001.02795000.99875000.88845001.46500	min $D_3$ FragmentFragmentcountlength2.34515004001.95985004001.93145004001.88815004001.80325004001.35635004001.24295004001.15715004001.02795004000.98565004000.88845004001.46500400

We also compared our method to CompostBin [36], a semi-supervised algorithm that utilizes a PCA method to bin fragments based on their k-mer distributions (Table 5.3). We performed comparisons on pairs of genomes with fragment divergence  $D_3 \approx 1$  using the same dataset analyzed in Figures 18, 19 and Table 12. The results indicated that our method performs on par with or better than CompostBin, even though CompostBin required a fraction of input fragments to be labeled to initialize its clustering algorithm. Run time and memory performance was comparable between the two methods.

The algorithm is implemented in portable Perl and C code that can be compiled and run on any platform supporting a Perl interpreter. Both memory use and run time scale linearly with the number of fragments and species, and sub-linearly with fragment length. Memory complexity scales quadratically with the number of dimensions in the search space, or exponentially with k (as shown in Table 11). We selected



Figure 17: Cumulative distributions of pairwise divergences  $(D_n)$  between all completed bacterial genomes retrieved from GenBank. Fragment lengths of 400 to 1000 were used to compute  $D_n$ . Divergences based on k-mer order 2, 3, and 4 are represented in panels A, B, and C, respectively. The vertical cut-off line at D = 1 indicates an empirical boundary above which the binning algorithm works with high accuracy. For fragment length 400, over 80% of all randomly selected pairs are observed to have divergences above this line.



**Figure 18:** Fragment length-dependent performance on 2-species datasets. Same trials as in Figure 16 were performed on a subset of pairs of genomes while varying simulated fragment size from 40 to 1000. The species' characteristics are given in Table 12.

**Table 14:** Performance comparison of LikelyBin and CompostBin on pairs of genomes analyzed in Figures 18, 19, Table 12. *Frag L*, Fragment length; *Frag N*, Number of fragments per source; *CB seeds*, labeled fragments supplied to CompostBin for training. LikelyBin consistently performed equally to or above CompostBin performance despite being completely unsupervised, while CompostBin required a fraction of input fragments to be labeled to seed its clustering alorithm. We supplied training fragments to CompostBin without regard to their origin (protein or RNA-coding). In a likely practical scenario, only 16S RNA-coding fragments would be labeled, but would have different *k*-mer distributions from protein-coding regions, possibly confounding classification. (\*) Convergence toward a good clustering was not observed in CompostBin for these datasets; accuracy can be less than 50% due to labeled input.

Org 1	Org 2	Frag L	Frag N	$D_3$	LikelyBin	CB	CompostBin
					accuracy	seeds	accuracy
S. meliloti	A. aurescens	400	500	1.02	0.94	10	0.93
						25	0.93
L. lactis	F. tularensis	400	500	1.15	0.92	10	0.76
						25	0.12*
S. pneumoniae	H. pylori	400	500	0.97	0.96	10	0.12*
						25	0.96
P. marinus	S. aureus	400	500	0.99	0.93	10	0.73
						25	0.83
M. jannaschii	S. aureus	400	500	0.09	0.04	10	0.17*
		400	000	0.92	0.94	25	0.91

k = 3 as the default k-mer length, with user-defined options for 2, 4, or 5 available. We have not yet formalized convergence time performance as a function of k. In practice, a 3-species dataset of 1000 fragments per species, with k-mer order set to 3, takes approximately 2 minutes to run on an Intel Core 2 Duo-class processor.

## 5.4 Conclusions

We developed an unsupervised, maximum likelihood approach to the binning problem - called LikelyBin. LikelyBin uses a MCMC framework to estimate the set of master distributions and relative frequencies most likely to give rise to an observed collection of short reads. The likelihood approach is based on *k*-mer distributions, for which we developed an index of separability of any pair of genomes, which we termed the genomic fragment divergence measure,  $D_n$ . We found that the vast majority of genomes have sufficient divergence to be distinguished using the present method (Figure 17).

Using a high-performance implementation, LikelyBin can be used to cluster sequences with high accuracy (in some cases, > 95%) even when the mononucleotide content of the original genomes is essentially identical (Figure 16). The method does as well or better than a comparable semi-supervised method (CompostBin [36]) that also uses k-mer distributions as the statistical basis for binning (Table 5.3). Performance of LikelyBin is consistently good for synthesized low-complexity datasets (2-10 species) with fragments of length as low as 400 nt, which corresponds to the characteristic single-read length of a 454 pyrosequencing FLX machine. Microread sequencing technologies such as Solexa and SOLiD are currently out of reach of any non-alignment-based binning method when applied to single reads, which range from 30 to 50 base pairs with these technologies.

The unsupervised nature of our approach makes it potentially useful for classifying mixtures of novel sequences for which supervised learning-based methods may have difficulties. A future direction for our work is to combine our statistical formalism with alignment and supervised composition-based models. For example, we could develop a feature selection framework that would transform the input fragments' features such as k-mer statistics, coding frame information, and variable-length motifs into a lower-dimensional space. We could then feed these features to an unsupervised MCMC-based classifier in tandem with an alignment-based classifier that can partially label fragments based on known taxonomic information, then compare and combine their results.

A number of challenges remain to broaden the scope and applicability of the current method. At present, our method is scalable for k-mer length from k = 2 to k = 5. We intend to expand the method's ability to capture longer motif

frequencies by using dimension transformation or feature selection in a future work. Intra-genomic heterogeneity of oligonucleotide distributions is another topic that is yet to be addressed. A confidence measure that serves as a performance self-check is already available as part of our method but we have not incorporated it into the program's output yet.

Further, applying the current method in an environmental context requires an estimation of the number of bins. The problem of identifying the necessary number of distinct models, or groups thereof, to represent all components of a given genome, is related to the problem of identifying the number of distinct genomes in the mixture. A combination of jump diffusion and grouped models is our currently planned solution. In this respect, the use of phylogenetic markers to estimate the number of bins will provide important prior information.

In summary, the unsupervised method we proposed is based on a maximum likelihood formalism and can bin short fragments (L = 400 nt) of low complexity communities (2-10 species) with high accuracy (in some cases, > 95%) given sufficient genomic divergence. The maximum likelihood formalism and its MCMC implementation make the current approach amenable to extension and incorporation into other packages.

The MCMC binner application is provided as an open-source downloadable package, LikelyBin [5], that can be installed on any platform that supports Perl and C and is fully automated to facilitiate use in genome processing pipelines. The latest version of the source code is available on our website [5].

#### 5.4.1 Example application of likelihood model

Suppose we have two source genomes,  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ , with two fragments from each:  $G_1 \rightarrow \{\text{ATGTTA}, \text{TGTAAT}\}, G_2 \rightarrow \{\text{CCTGTC}, \text{AGGCCTC}\}.$  We wish to evaluate the likelihood of observing these sequences according to a dimer model of 2 sources, M =  $\{S_1, S_2\}$ , which we have generated. Assume the model's source frequency vector is F = [0.6, 0.4], its monomer frequencies are  $\{S_1 : \{p_A = 0.3, p_T = 0.3, p_G = 0.2, p_C = 0.2\}, S_2 : \{p_A = 0.2, p_T = 0.2, p_G = 0.3, p_C = 0.3\}\}$  and its dimer frequencies are  $\{S_1 : \{p_{AA} = 0.09, p_{AT} = 0.09, p_{AG} = 0.06, p_{AC} = 0.06, p_{TA} = 0.07, p_{TT} = 0.09, p_{TG} = 0.06, p_{TC} = 0.08p_{GA} = 0.08, p_{GT} = 0.06, p_{GG} = 0.04, p_{GC} = 0.02p_{CA} = 0.06, p_{CT} = 0.06, p_{CG} = 0.04, p_{CC} = 0.04\},$ 

 $S_2 : \{ p_{AA} = 0.02, p_{AT} = 0.04, p_{AG} = 0.08, p_{AC} = 0.06, p_{TA} = 0.04, p_{TT} = 0.02, p_{TG} = 0.06, p_{TC} = 0.08 p_{GA} = 0.08, p_{GT} = 0.06, p_{GG} = 0.07, p_{GC} = 0.09 p_{CA} = 0.06, p_{CT} = 0.08, p_{CG} = 0.09, p_{CC} = 0.07 \} \}$ 

Then the likelihoods of observing the first fragment, ATGTTA, given master distributions  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ , respectively, are

$$\begin{split} P(\texttt{ATGTTA}|S_1) &= p_{c_1c_2}^{S_1} \prod_{j=3}^{\ell} \frac{p_{(c_j-1c_j)}^{S_1}}{p_{(c_j-1)}^{S_1}} = \frac{p_{\texttt{AT}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{TG}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{GT}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{TT}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{TA}}^{S_1}}{p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{G}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_1} p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_1}} \\ &= \frac{0.09 \cdot 0.06 \cdot 0.06 \cdot 0.09 \cdot 0.07}{0.3 \cdot 0.2 \cdot 0.3 \cdot 0.3} = 0.000378 \\ P(\texttt{ATGTTA}|S_2) &= p_{c_1c_2}^{S_2} \prod_{j=3}^{\ell} \frac{p_{(c_j-1c_j)}^{S_2}}{p_{(c_j-1)}^{S_2}} = \frac{p_{\texttt{AT}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{TG}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{TT}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{TA}}^{S_2}}{p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{G}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_2} p_{\texttt{T}}^{S_2}} \\ &= \frac{0.04 \cdot 0.06 \cdot 0.06 \cdot 0.02 \cdot 0.04}{0.2 \cdot 0.3 \cdot 0.2 \cdot 0.2} = 0.000048 \end{split}$$

where superscripts  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  denote the master distribution. Similarly,

$$\begin{split} P(\mathsf{TGTAAT}|S_1) &= 0.000378; P(\mathsf{TGTAAT}|S_2) = 0.000048; \\ P(\mathsf{CCTGTC}|S_1) &= 0.000192; P(\mathsf{CCTGTC}|S_2) = 0.000448; \\ P(\mathsf{AGGCCTC}|S_1) &= 0.0000056\bar{8}; P(\mathsf{AGGCCTC}|S_2) = 0.0004704 \end{split}$$

The overall posterior likelihood of the model is then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L} &= \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left( \sum_{m=1}^{M} f_m P_m(s_i) \right) = \\ &= (f_{S_1} P(\text{ATGTTA}|S_1) + f_{S_2} P(\text{ATGTTA}|S_2)) \cdot (f_{S_1} P(\text{TGTAAT}|S_1) + f_{S_2} P(\text{TGTAAT}|S_2)) \\ &\cdot (f_{S_1} P(\text{CCTGTC}|S_1) + f_{S_2} P(\text{CCTGTC}|S_2)) \cdot (f_{S_1} P(\text{AGGCCTC}|S_1) + f_{S_2} P(\text{AGGCCTC}|S_2)) \\ &= (0.6 \cdot 0.000378 + 0.4 \cdot 0.000048) \cdot (0.6 \cdot 0.000378 + 0.4 \cdot 0.000048) \\ &\cdot (0.6 \cdot 0.000192 + 0.4 \cdot 0.000448) \cdot (0.6 \cdot 0.000056\overline{8} + 0.4 \cdot 0.0004704) \\ &= 3.4131 \text{E} - 15 \end{aligned}$$

## 5.5 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Jonathan Eisen for many inspiring discussions. We would also like to thank Amol Shetty, Michael Raghib-Moreno, Sourav Chatterji, Luca Giuggoli, and Simon Levin for their suggestions on a preliminary version of the present model, and thank three anonymous reviewers for their helpful suggestions. We are grateful to Sourav Chatterji, Jonathan Eisen, and Ichitaro Yamazaki for their help in the utilization of CompostBin.

# 5.6 Funding

The work presented in this chapter was supported by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency under grant HR0011-05-1-0057. Joshua S. Weitz, Ph.D., holds a Career Award at the Scientific Interface from the Burroughs Wellcome Fund.

**Table 15:** The method of sampling the posterior distribution of the MCMC chain by averaging random accepted models from the steady state was compared to the method of selecting the model with the overall maximum log likelihood. The resulting accuracy differences were negligible. Accuracy was also compared in 3-mer models vs. 4-mer models. While 4-mer models slightly outperformed 3-mer models on average, a significant run time increase was observed (not shown). NC<sub>-</sub> identifiers refer to GenBank accession numbers for genomes listed in each trial.

0== 1 0== 2	Eng I Sampling type		Order 3 model			Order 4 model			
Org 1 Org 2		Frag L	Sampling type	$D_3$	Accuracy	LL	$D_4$	Accuracy	LL
Arthrobacter aurescens TC1 vs. Sinorhizobium meliloti 1021									
		400	Steady state sampled	1.08	0.95	-1054490.36			
NC_003047 NC_008711	NC 008711	400	Maximum log likelihood	1.02	0.94	-1055584.16	1.09	0.94	-1040007.41
	NC_008711	1000	Steady state sampled	1.95	0.97	-2648159.80			
		1000	Maximum log likelihood	2.12	0.98	-2645204.57	2.52	0.99	-2637429.69
Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris MG1363 vs. Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica FTA									
		400	Steady state sampled	1.08	0.90	-1045063.72			
NC 000004	NC 000740	400	Maximum log likelihood	1.15	0.92	-1047966.99	1.33	0.95	-1040811.10
100_009004	NC_009749	1000	Steady state sampled	2.02	0.96	-2624742.76			
		1000	Maximum log likelihood	2.19	0.96	-2626080.18	2.22	0.97	-2615376.71
		Helicob	acter pylori HPAG1 vs. Stre	ptococcu	s pneumoniae	: R6			
		400	Steady state sampled	0.93	0.96	-1059955.55			
NC 002008	NC 008086	400	Maximum log likelihood	0.97	0.96	-1061298.85	1.18	0.93	-1045561.25
NC_003098	NC_008080	1000	Steady state sampled	1.71	0.99	-2656860.50			
	1000	Maximum log likelihood	1.69	0.98	-2658488.27	2.28	0.99	-2634722.55	
Staphylococcus aureus RF122 vs. Prochlorococcus marinus str. NATL2A									
NC_007335 NC_007622	400	Steady state sampled	0.99	0.90	-1049716.33				
	NC 007622	400	Maximum log likelihood	0.99	0.93	-1050316.80	1.00	0.95	-1045188.54
	102007022	1000	Steady state sampled	1.92	0.97	-2636903.64			
		1000	Maximum log likelihood	1.75	0.97	-2636046.52	2.21	0.97	-2624299.41
Staphylococcus aureus subsp. aureus COL vs. Methanocaldococcus jannaschii DSM 2661									
NC-000909 NC		400	Steady state sampled	0.96	0.95	-1037936.55			
	NC 002051	400	Maximum log likelihood	0.92	0.94	-1037505.67	1.05	0.89	-1033285.36
	110-002931	1000	Steady state sampled	1.84	0.98	-2598584.81			
		1000	Maximum log likelihood	1.94	0.98	-2601394.32	2.36	0.99	-2581181.80
	Frag L, Fragment length; LL, Output model log likelihood								

Frag L, Fragment length; LL, Output model log likelihood



Figure 19: Fragment ratio-dependent performance on 2-species datasets. Same trials as in Figure 16 were performed on a subset of pairs of genomes while varying species' contributions to the dataset from 2% to 98%. Fragment sizes were fixed at 400 nt (A) and 1000 nt (B). The species' characteristics are given in Table 12.



Figure 20: Convergence dynamics for good accuracy, Mycoplasma capricolum subsp. capricolum ATCC 27343 vs. Campylobacter jejuni subsp. jejuni 81-176 ( $D_3 = 2.8$ ). A single MCMC simulation was completed for this pair of genomes as described in Methods. k-mer order 3 model was used with 30000 steps, and expected nucleotide frequencies in accepted models were plotted over time for all independent monoand dinucleotides in the model. Two starting conditions were compared: uniform initial frequencies (solid line) and frequencies at dataset mean (dashed line). Dotted lines indicate true average frequencies in the constituent species' fragment datasets. Convergence was observed to be substantially the same, demonstrating robustness of the algorithm to initial starting conditions. Final model accuracy was  $\approx 95\%$  in both cases.



**Figure 21:** Convergence dynamics for poor accuracy, *Granulibacter bethesdensis* CGDNIH1 vs. Gluconobacter oxydans 621H ( $D_3 = 0.45$ ). Details are identical to Additional file 20, but final model accuracy was  $\approx 60\%$  in both cases.



**Figure 22:** Pairs and triples of genomes were sampled randomly from a set of 1055 completed bacterial chromosomes, and experiments were conducted using Bayesian posterior distribution sampling on the stationary distribution of the MCMC simulation. The results were found to not be significantly different from those for maximum likelihood sampling (Figure 16).

# CHAPTER VI

# **CORE- AND PAN-GENOMES**

The dual concepts of pan and core genomes have recently been utilized to assess the distribution of gene families within genomes of closely related organisms, e.g., a bacterial species or genus. The estimation of both pan and core genome sizes has led to incongruous results such as claims that the pan genomes of a given microbial species range from infinite to finite, but strongly dependent on the number of genomes sampled. Here, we demonstrate mathematically that pan and core genome sizes cannot be estimated accurately except in highly contrived settings. Instead, we introduce an alternative metric, genomic fluidity, which represents an integrative measure of the relative dissimilarity of gene families within a group of closely related organisms. Fluidity can be accurately estimated from a small number of sequenced genomes and comparisons of fluidity between groups is robust to variation arising in gene alignment parameters used in tabulating gene families. We estimate genomic fluidity in 7 multiply-sequenced species containing 109 sequenced genomes using an automated bioinformatics pipeline. Using fluidity estimates, we are able to reliably rank order the cumulative effect of gene acquisition and loss within bacterial species. In so doing, we demonstrate the limits to what can be known about the gene diversity of an entire group of organisms when analyzing the properties of just a few.

The rest of this chapter is based on unpublished work currently submitted for peer review and publication:

A. O. Kislyuk, B. Haegeman, N. H. Bergman, and J. S. Weitz, "Genomic fluidity: an integrative view of gene diversity within microbial populations." Submitted (2010).

## 6.1 Introduction

The advent of technologies to rapidly sequence entire genomes provides a resource of sequenced genomes spanning the entire tree of life [85, 186, 109, 151]. Indeed, as the cost and time to sequence genomes have decreased, it has become possible to sequence multiple individuals from within a species. Re-sequencing efforts have led to the following discovery: the representation of gene families in isolates from the same bacterial species is highly variable [170, 80, 78, 76, 136]. This variability poses conceptual as well as applied problems. Conceptually, the variability suggests the need to further re-visit species definitions that rely upon comparisons of highly conserved components of the genome, such as 16S rRNA sequences [64, 89, 9, 53, 60]. In addition, horizontal gene transfer and other genome rearrangements such as gene deletions and duplications can radically change the phenotype of a bacterium, even within individuals of the same species [68]. For example, the introduction of toxin genes can render a bacterium pathogenic. Hence, from an applied perspective, there is an increasing need to quantify the gene diversity of a species or genus with pathogenic potential [80, 78, 147, 10, 39, 45]. The core and pan genome concepts have been proposed as a way to characterize the distribution of gene families within a group of organisms, e.g., within a species or genus [170, 80, 171, 32, 138, 147, 39]. The core genome is the set of genes found in every organism within a group (whether sequenced or not). The pan genome is the set of all genes found within organisms of a group (whether sequenced or not), including core genes and genes which appear in a fraction of genomes. Intuitively, the core genome preserves the notion that genomes of closely related organisms have something in common, while the pan genome is in accord with the finding that gene composition differs even among genomes of closely related organisms. In that sense, the core and pan genome concepts begin to address both conceptual problems (e.g., what is a bacterial species?) and applied problems (e.g., how likely is it that an individual of a given bacterial species is a pathogen?). Multiple attempts have been made to estimate the size of pan and core genomes in hopes of quantifying how open or closed a particular set of genomes is to gene exchange [170, 78, 76, 156, 99]. However, estimating the actual list of genes in the pan and core genomes remains intractable.

Thus far, attempts to quantify the size of the core and pan genomes have been based on extrapolations from a limited number of sequenced strains (usually on the order of a dozen or few dozen genomes) to the entire group (generally unknown, but easily upwards of  $10^{12}$  genomes). Results of such extrapolations have been widely divergent. In the most well-studied case, the pathogen *Streptococcus agalactiae*, estimates of the pan genome size vary from tens of thousands [156] to infinite [170]. Extreme variation in estimates of core and pan genome sizes makes it difficult to utilize these measures to quantify or compare the degree of acquisition and loss of gene families within a particular group or to make meaningful biological interpretations of the core and pan genome sizes could be achieved with improved statistical estimation methods, combined with increased sequencing coverage. This is not the case. The problem of estimating pan and core genome sizes will not be resolved by gradual improvements in sequencing.

In this chapter we demonstrate that current methods to estimate pan and core genome sizes are statistically ill-posed. We do so by demonstrating that sample gene distributions drawn from artificially generated groups of genomes with radically different pan and core genomes sizes are statistically indistinguishable. In contrast, we present an alternative diversity metric, genomic fluidity, whose expected value is equivalent whether estimated from the sample or from the true gene distribution. We then apply a bioinformatics pipeline so as to estimate genomic fluidity within 7 multiply-sequenced bacterial species containing 109 sequenced genomes. We test the robustness of genomic fluidity to changes in the number of sequenced genomes as well as to changes in alignment parameters. In so doing we demonstrate when it is possible to reliably rank order species in terms of genomic fluidity and discuss the implications of our work for inferring information about gene distributions based on subsamples.

## 6.2 Results

#### 6.2.1 Pan and core genome sizes cannot be reliably estimated

We claim that current methods to estimate pan and core genome sizes are statistically ill-posed [170, 32, 156, 99]. To demonstrate this in a case where the pan and core genome sizes are known, we artificially generated gene distributions for three "species" such that their pan genome sizes were  $10^5$  (A),  $10^7$  (B), and  $10^5$  (C) and their core genome sizes were 10<sup>3</sup> (A), 10 (B), and 10<sup>3</sup> (C) (See Figure 23A and 24A). Note that Species A and C had distinct gene frequency distributions despite having the same pan and core genome sizes. Next, we computationally generated ensembles of genomes for each species, each of which had 2000 genes. Each gene in a genome was chosen at random from a frequency distribution specific to a given species, i.e., some genes occurred in all, or nearly all, genomes and some genes occurred very rarely. Importantly, a gene that only appears in 0.00001% of genomes (1 in  $10^7$  occurrence) contributes as much to the pan genome as does a core gene (Figure 23A), however, the rare gene will almost certainly not be detected in a sample set of tens or hundreds of sequenced genomes (Figure 23B). Furthermore, none of the genes that are detected in the sample set of genomes provide any indication that this rare gene exists while performing standard rarefaction analysis (Figure 23C). In essence, the problem of estimating the pan genome is equivalent to estimating the level of rare genes, which, because they are rare, are recalcitrant to quantification. Similar difficulties are faced when trying to quantify the size of the core genome. For example, a gene that appears in 99.999% of genomes is technically not a core gene (Figure 23A). Yet the rare genome without this core gene will not be detected in a sample set of genomes (Figure 23B), nor will the sample provide any indication that an apparent core gene is absent from some small number of organisms in the group (see Figure 23D). Intuitively, both pan and core genome size estimates depend on accurate estimation of the frequency of rare events that any small sub-sample of sequenced genomes will not enable. This is not to say that the pan and core genome concepts should be discarded, however in practice, estimates of pan and core genome sizes may have no correspondence to true values. Instead, some alternative metric is needed that (i) is robust to small sample size (can be reliably estimated from few genomes); (ii) quantifies the relative degree of gene acquisition and loss within a group of genomes; and (iii) validates prior expectations that gene diversity increases within groups of increasingly unrelated organisms.

#### 6.2.2 Genomic fluidity is a robust and reliable estimator of gene diversity

We propose the use of genomic fluidity,  $\varphi$ , as a robust diversity metric which can be applied to small numbers of sequenced genomes whether at the species level or amongst groups of increasingly unrelated organisms. Genomic fluidity is defined as the ratio of unique gene families to the sum of gene families in pairs of genomes averaged over randomly chosen genome pairs from within a group:

$$\varphi = \left\langle \frac{U_k + U_l}{M_k + M_l} \right\rangle_{\forall k \neq l},\tag{13}$$

where  $U_k$  and  $U_l$  are the number of gene families found only in genomes k and lrespectively and  $M_k$  and  $M_l$  are the total number of gene families found in k and lrespectively. In other words, genomic fluidity is an estimate of gene-ic dissimilarity, akin to similarity measures used in the study of ecological communities [69]. Genomic fluidity also provides information on novelty in sequencing projects. To see how, note that the best estimate for the probability that a random gene from a newly sequenced genome is not found in a randomly selected prior sequenced genome is simply  $\varphi$ . Importantly, genomic fluidity is robust to small sample size: it can be



Figure 23: Radically different pan and core genome sizes cannot be estimated from sampled genomes. (A) Two species with vastly different true gene distributions: (i) Species A (blue) w/pan genome of  $10^5$  genes and core genome of  $10^3$  genes; (ii) Species B (green) w/pan genome of  $10^7$  genes and core genome of 10 genes. Each genome has 2000 genes randomly chosen from the true gene distribution according to its frequency. (B) The number of genes (y-axis) observed as a function of the number of sampled genomes (x-axis). Note that despite differences in the true distribution, the observed gene distributions are statistically indistinguishable given 100 sampled genomes. For example, there were approximately 2200 genes found in just 1 of 100 genomes for both Species A and Species B. (C) Observed pan genome size as a function of the number of sampled genomes. There is no possibility to extrapolate the true pan genome size from the observed core genome size as a function of the number of the number of sampled genomes. There is no possibility to extrapolate the true core genome size from the observed core genome curves.



Figure 24: True differences in genomic fluidity  $\varphi$  can be detected from a small number of sampled genomes. (A) Two species with subtle differences in true gene distributions: (i) Species A (blue) as in Figure 1, w/pan genome of  $10^5$  genes and core genome of  $10^3$  genes; (ii) Species C (red) w/pan genome of  $10^5$  genes and core genome of  $10^3$  genes. Each genome has 2000 genes randomly chosen from the true gene distribution according to its frequency. (B) The number of genes (y-axis) observed as a function of the number of sampled genomes (x-axis). The observed gene distributions are statistically distinguishable. (C) Fluidity as a function of the number of sampled genomes is an unbiased estimator of the true value (dashed lines within red and blue shaded regions). The shaded regions denote the theoretical prediction for mean and standard deviations as inferred from the jacknife estimate.

reliably estimated from a few sampled genomes. For example, in Figure 24 we show how the genomic fluidities for synthetically generated gene distributions are equivalent whether estimated from the true distribution or from a few dozen sampled genomes. In addition, subtle differences in the genomic fluidity between two species can be detected from a small number of sampled genomes. The estimated variance of fluidity was calculated using the jackknife estimate [54], which is based on leave-one-out statistics (see Materials and Methods for more details). In contrast, rarefaction curves used to estimate pan and core genome sizes are statistically indistinguishable for synthetically generated gene distributions, even when the underlying pan and core genome sizes are radically different (see Figure 23c,d).

## 6.2.3 Fluidity and its variance can be estimated from a group of sequenced genomes

We developed a bioinformatics pipeline to estimate genomic fluidity at the species level among sequenced genomes (see Figure 26 and Methods Summary), but later, as in Figure 29, we apply it to more diverse groups. Using this pipeline we calculated genomic fluidity for 7 species including 109 sequenced genomes from: Bacillus anthracis, Escherichia coli, Neisseria meningitidis, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus agalactiae, Streptococcus pneumoniae, and Streptococcus pyogenes (see Table 22 for a list of all genomes analyzed in this study). We find that estimates of fluidity converge rapidly even when evaluated on a small number of sequenced genomes, as has been the case for all published studies of gene diversity within a species or genus. These results are consistent with the rapid convergence of fluidity when estimated from synthetically generated genomes (see Figure 23). When applied to genomes from multiply resequenced bacterial species we find the mean value of fluidity is consistent when evaluated on a small subsample or on the entire sample (Figure 25). We find convergence of fluidity estimates to approximately 10% relative standard deviation after a dozen or so genomes (see Figure 25). The variation in fluidity estimates found in small subsamples of sequenced genomes suggests caution should be applied in attempting to establish when we can reliably say that the fluidity of a particular species is greater than that of another. Importantly, the use of the jack-knife estimate of variance permits us to evaluate how both the mean and the variance of fluidity converge as more genomes are added and provides a metric to indicate when sufficient sequencing has been accomplished for use in comparing relative values of fluidity between species or between groups.



Figure 25: Estimates of mean fluidity converge with increases in the number of sampled genomes. Fluidity was calculated as described in the text given alignment parameters i = 0.74 and c = 0.74. The variance of fluidity is estimated as a total variance, containing both the variance due to subsampling within the sample of genomes, and the variance due to the limited number of sampled genomes. For dependence of fluidity on genomes sampled for the two other sets of alignment parameters in Figure 28, see Figure 27.



Figure 26: Computation of shared genes among genomes (see Materials and Methods for complete details of the pipeline and Table 22 for a complete list of genomes analyzed). (A) Genomes are annotated automatically to minimize curation bias (see Chapter 4); (B) For a given pair of genomes, all genes are compared using an all vs. all protein alignment; (C) Shared genes are identified based on whether alignment identity and coverage exceed i and c respectively; (D) Gene families are calculated based on a maximal clustering rule; (E) The number of shared genes is found for each pair of genomes,  $G_i$  and  $G_j$ , from which the number of unique genes can be calculated.

# 6.2.4 Rank-ordering of genomic fluidity is robust to variation in alignment parameters

The estimate of genomic fluidity varied with alignment parameters as expected. When either minimum alignment identity or coverage is increased, more gene families are formed and fluidity increases (see Figure 27). Nonetheless, the relative values of fluidity between species remained nearly invariant even as the magnitude of fluidity changed. We applied the fluidity pipeline detailed in Figure 26 and restricted our analysis to gene family assembly values of alignment identity (i) and coverage (c)from 0.5 to 0.8 in increments of 0.02 (see Materials and Methods). In 225 trials, we found 4 distinct orderings of genomic fluidity, three of which accounted for 224/225orderings (see Figure 28a for the three dominant rank orderings). The robust rankordering suggests that it is possible to make comparative statements classifying one group as being more or less "open" to net gene acquisition. Specifically, we used the mean and variances estimates of fluidity to determine whether the  $\varphi$  of one species is significantly greater or less than another (see Materials and Methods). We find there is a statistically significant and unambiguous rank order of genomic fluidity for 11/21comparisons of relative rank order among the 7 species examined in all 3 alignment parameter conditions corresponding to the dominant rank orderings (p < 0.05; see Tables 16-21). In all conditions tested, B. anthracis had the lowest value of  $\varphi$  and either N. meningitidis or E. coli had the highest value of  $\varphi$ . Further, Strep. agalactiae always had an intermediate value of fluidity. However, Strep. agalactiae had a particularly high variance and we were unable to rank-order it relative to any other genome with the exception of *B. anthracis*. These results are generally consistent with previous suggestions that B. anthracis has a closed genome, that N. meningitidis may have an open genome due to its natural competence, and that Strep. agalactiae has an open genome [170]. However, now we can describe a group of organisms as being relatively open or closed, instead of being strictly open or strictly closed. In addition, we can utilize variance estimates to suggest when greater sequencing is needed. The comparison of the rank order of  $\varphi$  between species is consistent with recent calls [150] to utilize the rank, not the absolute magnitude, when comparing the relative diversity of complex ecological communities. This issue is particularly important in the case of gene diversity studies when identification of gene families is strongly depend on thresholds utilized in bioinformatics pipelines.

## 6.2.5 Genomic fluidity is a natural metric spanning phylogenetic scales from species to kingdom

Thus far we have estimated genomic fluidity within a bacterial species, though the metric can be applied, in principle, to any group of genomes. Therefore, we estimated values of  $\varphi$  at the species level and at higher taxonomic groupings and found that  $\varphi$  varies from close to 0 (at the species level) to nearly 1 (at the phylum level) (see Figure 29). A phylogenetic tree of 29 bacterial species was assembled using AMPHORA [186]. Species in this calculation were chosen to include those whose strain-level variation we had analyzed, as well as a hand-curated selection of genomes from different parts of the tree. Each leaf with a corresponding strain group therefore represents a collapsed subtree that clusters closely around the representative strain with respect to the overall tree. The phylogenetic tree selected here is not meant to represent the entire diversity of life, but rather to illustrate how fluidity changes when closely and distantly related organisms are grouped together. Note the transition from relatively "solid" genomes at the level of isolates from within a bacterial species to a nearly totally "fluid" bacterial kingdom. Further, estimates of genomic fluidity are consistent with expectations that  $\varphi$  should increase as we move up the phylogenetic tree from species to genus to family, etc. Hence, we find that genomic fluidity is a natural metric for describing gene level similarity between groups of closely and distantly related organisms. These results suggest the suitability of genomic fluidity at coarse-grained scales, e.g. bacterial kingdom [99] and microbial



Figure 27: Estimates of fluidity depend on gene alignment parameters that determine the grouping of genes into gene families. We calculated fluidity for each of the 7 species examined in the main text with varying alignment parameter levels of identity (i) and coverage (c). We chose levels such that  $0.5 \le i \le 0.96$  and  $0.5 \le c \le 0.96$ . Computations of  $\varphi$  are based on estimating the fraction of unique genes between any two random genomes. Unsurprisingly, fluidity increases with increases in either i or c. This increase arises because greater stringency of alignment causes the bioinformatics pipeline algorithm to infer that there are more unique genes. For each of the 7 species examined, genomic fluidity is more sensitive to changes in identity than to changes in coverage. This result suggests the importance of considering the robustness of results derived from bioinformatics pipelines to changes in parameters. Despite the change in fluidity values, the actual value of fluidity is relatively insensitive to changes in alignment parameters so long as neither parameter is greater than approximately 0.8. Hence, in the main text we restrict sensitivity analyses to  $0.5 \le i < 0.8$  and  $0.5 \le c < 0.8$ .



Figure 28: Estimates of mean and standard deviation of fluidity for *B. anthracis* (Ba), *E. coli* (Ec), and *N. meningitidis* (Nm). *Staph. aureus* (Sa), *Strep. agalactiae* (Sag). *Strep. pneumoniae* (Spn), and *Strep. pyogenes* (Spy) as a function of alignment parameters. Although fluidity increases with higher values of identity (*i*) and coverage (*c*) (see Figure 27), only three rank-orderings of fluidity (of 5040 possible orderings) are found in 224/225 combinations of alignment parameters.



Figure 29: Fluidity increases with phylogenetic scale such that the fluidity of multiply-resequenced species is in the range of 0.1-0.3 and the fluidity of all genomes included in the analysis approaches 1. Each circle represents the relative fluidity at a species (with multiple sequenced genomes) or internal node (the fluidity of all the genomes in the tree below it). Open circles are  $\varphi = 1$  and black circles are  $\varphi = 0$ . The phylogenetic tree of 29 bacterial species was assembled using AMPHORA [186]. Branch lengths correspond to the average number of amino acid substitutions per position in well-conserved marker genes.

community levels [134]. In contrast, estimates of pan-genome sizes at such scales will be problematic for the same reasons as outlined here when applied to closely related organisms. As a general rule, similarity based approaches to quantifying other forms of genome diversity are likely to be robust whereas estimates of the total diversity will be less so.

## 6.3 Discussion

The proposal that there exists a core and pan genome for bacterial species represents a significant advance in the conceptualization of gene variability within microorganisms [170]. The basic premise of these two concepts have been borne out by the finding that the gene content of bacteria can vary significantly when comparing the sequence of two isolates from a species or genus [170, 80, 78, 76, 136, 138, 39, 45]. For example, it is now well established that some genes are found in most, if not all, sequenced genomes of isolates from within a sample. In addition, it is also well established that some genes are found in very few, if only one, sequenced isolate within a sample. However, as we have demonstrated here, efforts to infer the size of the pan and core genomes of an entire species or genus from the frequency distribution of genes within a small sample of sequenced genomes will almost certainly fail. Similarly, efforts to compare the core or pan genomes sizes of bacterial species or genera will be uninformative. The reason is that pan and core genome sizes depend sensitively on the frequency of rare events (such as a rare gene occurring in a genome) whose frequency cannot be accurately estimated from a small sample of sequenced genomes. Instead, we have proposed the use of an alternative diversity metric – genomic fluidity - which is a reliable and robust estimator of the gene dissimilarity amongst a group of sequenced genomes.

This study has a number of key implications for future sequencing efforts. First, it suggests that efforts to understand a single species by sequencing as many isolates as possible may be limited in their ability to comprehensively define the diversity within that species [79]. Clearly, such studies will remain important in their ability to describe expected genomic differences (in contrast to rare genomic differences). Next, our findings also suggest that the expected gene dissimilarity within a given species can be well characterized by sequencing a relatively small number of wellchosen representatives. Sequencing a few dozen genomes is a fairly straightforward task given recent advances in sequencing technology. Finally, perhaps the most farreaching implication of the work presented here is that we have shown it is possible to compare the relative genomic fluidity of different groups of bacteria (e.g. species, genera, or higher). We have shown that genomic fluidity can reliably distinguish between subtle differences in true gene distributions (in a computational study) as well as determine when it is possible to rank-order a set of 7 species based on the analysis of 109 whole genomes (in a bioinformatics analysis).

Despite its merits, genomic fluidity is not meant to describe all forms of genome variation. Genomic fluidity can provide a reliable estimate for how many new genes additional sequencing is likely to reveal, with respect to a previously sequenced genome. It cannot, however, provide an estimate of the amount of sequencing necessary to cover the gene novelty in the entire group (for reasons similar to why estimates of the pan genome size are impossible). In addition, genomic fluidity restricts itself to one component of genomic difference. There are a variety of forms of genomic differences beyond gene compositional differences or the more classic finding of single-nucleotide polymorphisms. Genomes may differ in terms of gene synteny [22], copy number variation [137, 164], plasmid and/or prophage presence [10], codon biases [185, 95], and methylation state [59]. It would be prudent to consider other diversity metrics, in addition to the metric of genomic fluidity studied here, that account for forms of variation in genome state amongst closely related organisms.

In summary, genomic fluidity is an integrated measure of gene diversity within a group of organisms. Genomic fluidity is both estimable given a small number of sequenced genomes and robust to variation in alignment parameters. As such, we recommend that genomic fluidity be used in place of pan and core genome size estimates when assessing gene diversity within a species or a group of closely related organisms. However, the precise relationship between variation in gene composition and genomic fluidity with underlying mechanisms of gene family diversification are yet to be resolved [68]. Recent calls for comparing and contrasting the average overlap of gene content with respect to average nucleotide divergence provide one possible route to disentangling the effects of ecological and genomic structure [90], but much work remains at the interface of bioinformatics and ecological analysis. For example, the detailed comparison of complete bacterial genomes from closely related biofilmforming bacteria revealed how and why different organisms have adapted to and shaped their environment [47]. Similarly, genomic analysis of cyanoviruses sampled in the oceans helped uncover photosynthetic pathways which enable the exploitation of a niche distinct from previously cultured  $E. \ coli$  based phages despite sharing many common genes and genome architecture [165]. Genomic fluidity complements the detailed functional comparison of genomes by robustly estimating dissimilarity of genes within groups of genomes and providing insight into their potential evolvability. In so doing, our results highlight the need for continued focus on developing new toolsets for assessing what can be inferred about the genome composition and diversity of prokaryotic species and communities based on analysis of a sub-sample of genomes.

# 6.4 Materials and Methods

### 6.4.1 Fluidity estimator pipeline

Complete annotated genomes and draft annotated genomes were retrieved from NCBI GenBank in the GenBank format. Genomes were automatically re-annotated without hand-curation using a recently developed infrastructure resulting in new GenBankformatted files (see Chapter 4). Automatic re-annotation removes annotation bias arising from variability in annotation methods, depth of curation, and the resulting impact on the list of candidate genes – a similar approach was recently used in the analysis of genomes within a bacterial genus [39]. Following this process, putative protein sequences were extracted from annotated CDS regions and aligned using BLASTP [12] in all vs. all pairwise amino acid alignment. A pair of genes were considered homologous if the protein alignment covered more than c fraction of each gene's length and identity in the alignment exceeded i. To improve performance, alignments were parallelized between nodes on a compute cluster using the Torque PBS job scheduler. Next, genes were clustered into gene families using a strict clique requirement, i.e. each new gene considered for inclusion into a family must have an alignment with every member of the family satisfying the minimum criteria described above. Alignments were processed in order of increasing E-value, to prevent lower quality alignments from disrupting formation of families using higher quality alignments. Each gene was allowed to participate in only one family; if the gene could not be joined into any gene family, it formed its own singleton family. Gene family assignments were used to calculate fluidity using Eq. 13. We used the jackknife estimator [54] to estimate the variance of the fluidity estimator  $Var[\hat{\varphi}]$ . Explicitly, for a group of N genomes, the variance is

$$\hat{\sigma}^2 = \widehat{\operatorname{Var}}[\widehat{\varphi}] = \frac{N-1}{N} \sum_{\kappa} \left(\widehat{\varphi}_{\kappa} - \widehat{\varphi}\right)^2, \tag{14}$$

where  $\widehat{\varphi}_{\kappa}$  are the leave-one-out statistics,

$$\widehat{\varphi}_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{\binom{N-1}{2}} \sum_{\substack{k < l \\ k \neq \kappa \neq l}} \frac{U_k + U_l}{M_k + M_l}.$$
(15)

#### 6.4.2 Significance test for fluidity differences

Consider two sets of genomes, the first set consisting of  $n_1$  genomes, the second set consisting of  $n_2$  genomes. For each pair of genomes, we determine the fraction of the total number of unique genes and the total number of genes. Averaging over all pairs in the first set gives the fluidity  $\hat{\varphi}_1$ ; in the second set  $\hat{\varphi}_2$ . Suppose  $\hat{\varphi}_1 > \hat{\varphi}_2$ . We want to determine whether this inequality is significant.

From the theory of U-statistics it is known that the estimated fluidity has approximately a normal distribution [100]. The mean of this distribution is estimated to be  $\hat{\varphi}_1$  in the first set and  $\hat{\varphi}_2$  in the second set. The variance is estimated (by jackknifing)
to be  $\hat{\sigma}_1^2$  in the first set and  $\hat{\sigma}_2^2$  in the second set. We use the parameters of the approximate normal distributions to compute the significance of the observed fluidity differences. Formally, this corresponds to a two-sample two-sided z-test with one degree of freedom (the effective number of degrees of freedom are taken into account by the jackknife estimation).

## 6.5 Acknowledgements

We thank King Jordan, Jessa Lee, Tim Read and Matt Sullivan for their feedback and suggestions on the work presented in this chapter. We thank Anju Varadarajan for her assistance in the implementation of the bioinformatics pipeline. We thank Lee Katz, Scott Sammons, Dhwani Govil, Brian Harcourt, King Jordan and Leonard Mayer for providing access to *N. meningitidis* genomes sequenced at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and for help with their analysis.

#### 6.6 Funding

The work presented in this chapter was supported by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency under grants HR0011-05-1-0057 and HR0011-09-1-0055. Joshua S. Weitz, Ph.D., holds a Career Award at the Scientific Interface from the Burroughs Wellcome Fund. Andrey Kislyuk was supported, in part, by a Georgia Tech Research and Innovation travel grant.

**Table 16:** Significant fluidity differences for i = 0.5 and c = 0.5 (see Materials and Methods). Species are ordered such that in the upper part of the table fluidity differences are positive, i.e., in all three cases Ba has the lowest fluidity. The null hypothesis that the fluidity difference is not significant can be rejected with a *p*-value of 0.05 is noted with a  $\star$ , whereas comparisons for which the null hypothesis cannot be rejected are noted with a  $\circ$ .

	Ec	Nm	Sag	Spy	$\operatorname{Spn}$	Sau	Ba
Ec	×	0	0	*	*	*	*
Nm		×	0	0	*	*	*
$\operatorname{Sag}$			×	0	0	0	*
$\operatorname{Spy}$				×	0	*	*
$\operatorname{Spn}$					×	*	*
Sau						×	*
Ba							×

Table 17: *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.5 and c = 0.5. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods.

	Ec	Nm	Sag	$\operatorname{Spy}$	$\operatorname{Spn}$	Sau	Ba
Ec	×	$5.70 \ 10^{-1}$	$7.87 \ 10^{-1}$	$2.16 \ 10^{-2}$	$8.57 \ 10^{-8}$	$8.93 \ 10^{-20}$	$5.42 \ 10^{-27}$
Nm		×	$9.53 \ 10^{-1}$	$1.03 \ 10^{-1}$	$3.11 \ 10^{-3}$	$1.14 \ 10^{-7}$	$1.81 \ 10^{-12}$
Sag			×	$4.49 \ 10^{-1}$	$3.35 \ 10^{-1}$	$8.03 \ 10^{-2}$	$1.22 \ 10^{-2}$
$\operatorname{Spy}$				×	$7.52 \ 10^{-1}$	$4.04 \ 10^{-2}$	$3.04  10^{-4}$
$\operatorname{Spn}$					×	$9.53 \ 10^{-6}$	$2.44 \ 10^{-12}$
Sau						×	$2.60 \ 10^{-4}$
Ba							×

**Table 18:** Significant fluidity differences for i = 0.62 and c = 0.62. Species are ordered such that in the upper part of the table fluidity differences are positive, i.e., in all three cases Ba has the lowest fluidity. The null hypothesis that the fluidity difference is not significant can be rejected with a *p*-value of 0.05 is noted with a  $\star$ , whereas comparisons for which the null hypothesis cannot be rejected are noted with a  $\circ$ .

	Nm	Ec	Sag	$\operatorname{Spy}$	$\operatorname{Spn}$	Sau	Ba
Nm	×	0	0	0	*	*	*
Ec		×	0	0	$\star$	$\star$	*
Sag			×	0	0	0	*
$\operatorname{Spy}$				×	0	0	*
$\operatorname{Spn}$					×	$\star$	*
Sau						×	*
Ba							×

Table 19: *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.62 and c = 0.62. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods.

	Nm	Ec	$\operatorname{Sag}$	$\operatorname{Spy}$	$\operatorname{Spn}$	Sau	Ba
Nm	×	$9.53 \ 10^{-1}$	$6.98  10^{-1}$	$1.27 \ 10^{-1}$	$1.30 \ 10^{-2}$	$8.98  10^{-7}$	$5.23 \ 10^{-11}$
Ec		×	$7.00 \ 10^{-1}$	$8.33 \ 10^{-2}$	$7.71 \ 10^{-5}$	$5.66 \ 10^{-16}$	$1.13 \ 10^{-22}$
Sag			×	$5.83 \ 10^{-1}$	$5.01 \ 10^{-1}$	$8.74 \ 10^{-2}$	$9.66\ 10^{-3}$
Spy				×	$9.22 \ 10^{-1}$	$5.58 \ 10^{-2}$	$7.41 \ 10^{-4}$
$\operatorname{Spn}$					×	$2.92 \ 10^{-5}$	$5.95 \ 10^{-11}$
Sau						×	$1.58 \ 10^{-3}$
Ba							×

**Table 20:** Significant fluidity differences for i = 0.74 and c = 0.74. Species are ordered such that in the upper part of the table fluidity differences are positive, i.e., in all three cases Ba has the lowest fluidity. The null hypothesis that the fluidity difference is not significant can be rejected with a *p*-value of 0.05 is noted with a  $\star$ , whereas comparisons for which the null hypothesis cannot be rejected are noted with a  $\circ$ .

	Nm	Ec	Sag	$\operatorname{Spn}$	$\operatorname{Spy}$	Sau	Ba
Nm	×	0	0	*	0	*	*
$\operatorname{Ec}$		×	0	*	0	*	*
Sag			×	0	0	0	*
$\operatorname{Spn}$				×	0	*	*
$\operatorname{Spy}$					×	0	*
Sau						×	*
Ba							$\times$

Table 21: *p*-values for fluidity differences for i = 0.74 and c = 0.74. Details of the significance test are provided in the Materials and Methods.

	Nm	Ec	Sag	$\operatorname{Spn}$	$\operatorname{Spy}$	Sau	Ba
Nm	×	$4.68 \ 10^{-1}$	$3.28 \ 10^{-1}$	$2.30 \ 10^{-2}$	$1.10 \ 10^{-1}$	$5.34 \ 10^{-6}$	$6.37 \ 10^{-10}$
Ec		×	$4.98 \ 10^{-1}$	$6.28  10^{-3}$	$1.80 \ 10^{-1}$	$4.19 \ 10^{-12}$	$1.41 \ 10^{-18}$
Sag			×	$8.37 \ 10^{-1}$	$8.24 \ 10^{-1}$	$1.47 \ 10^{-1}$	$1.13 \ 10^{-2}$
$\operatorname{Spn}$				×	$9.36 \ 10^{-1}$	$1.76 \ 10^{-4}$	$1.19 \ 10^{-9}$
Spy					×	$9.21 \ 10^{-2}$	$1.54 \ 10^{-3}$
Sau						×	$2.60 \ 10^{-3}$
Ba							×

Table 22: Accession information for all bacterial genomes used in this project. Strain lists the strain name. Accession is the NCBI accession identifier that is hyper-linked to the NCBI website. The final 5 columns denote the number of coding sequences (CDS) identified in the genome using various schemes: first, the number of CDS in the annotated genome (if available), then the number of CDS identified using the re-annotation scheme described in Materials and Methods (CDS Re-annot), and finally the number of CDS identified using Glimmer [46], GeneMarkS [24] and BLAST [12].

Strain	Accession	CDS	CDS	CDS	CDS	CDS
		Original	Re-annot	Glimmer	GeneMark	BLAST
Bacillus anthracis $-13$ genomes						
A0174 (Draft)	NZ_ABLT01000001	5198	5512	5641	5782	3302
A0193 (Draft)	NZ_ABKF01000001	5309	5601	5740	5889	3360
A0389 (Draft)	NZ_ABLB01000001	5296	5644	5783	5940	3398
A0442 (Draft)	NZ_ABKG01000001	5256	5598	5742	5866	3353
A0465 (Draft)	NZ_ABLH01000001	5300	5649	5782	5925	3386
A0488 (Draft)	NZ_ABJC01000001	5288	5599	5733	5900	3358
A2012 (Draft)	NZ_AAAC02000001	5352	5474	5892	5939	3341
Tsiankovskii-I (Draft)	NZ_ABDN01000001	6051	5704	5838	6025	3399
A0248 (Finished)	NC_012659	5291	5711	5855	6005	3477
AE017225 (Finished)	AE017225	5287	5427	5563	5694	3360
Ames (Finished)	NC_003997	5311	5432	5568	5695	3362
Ames_ancestor (Finished)	NC_007530	5617	5713	5856	6007	3477
CDC684 (Finished)	NC_012581	5902	5715	5859	6016	3477
$Escherichia\ coli\ -15\ {\rm genomes}$						
536 (Finished)	NC_008253	4629	4553	4787	4699	4190
APEC01 (Finished)	NC_008563	4879	5208	5508	5385	4524
CFT073 (Finished)	NC_004431	5378	4894	5150	5055	4400
E24377A (Finished)	NC_009801	4997	4947	5174	5138	4474
EDL933 (Finished)	NC_002655	5419	5366	5744	5564	4566
HS (Finished)	NC_009800	4384	4316	4430	4449	4117
K12 (Finished)	NC_000913	4244	4320	4443	4442	4294
Sakai (Finished)	NC_002695	5341	5345	5672	5534	4563
UT189 (Finished)	NC_007946	5211	4822	5054	4979	4342
101_1 (Draft)	NZ_AAMK01000001	4234	4700	4852	4876	4334

4705

4628

4742

5229

5070

5239

5463

5257

5507

5416

5287

5448

4574

4494

4550

NZ\_AAJX01000001

NZ\_AAJT01000001

NZ\_AAJW01000001

B171 (Draft)

B7A (Draft)

E110019 (Draft)

E22 (Draft)	NZ_AAJV01000001	4781	5328	5607	5544	4550	
F11 (Draft)	NZ_AAJU01000001	4461	4884	5151	5046	4353	
Neisseria meningitidis – 14 genomes							
053442 (Finished)	NC_010120	N/A	2020		Not perform	ned	
FAM18 (Finished)	NC_008767	N/A	1918		Not perform	ned	
MC58 (Finished)	NC_003112	N/A	2063	Not performed			
Z2491 (Finished)	NC_003116	N/A	2049	Not performed			
alpha14 (Finished)	NC_013016	N/A	2059	Not performed			
alpha153 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2354	Not performed			
alpha275 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2565		Not perform	ned	
NM10699 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2110	2494	2366	1317	
NM13220 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2299	2725	2530	1353	
NM15141 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2184	2578	2411	1369	
NM15293 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2063	2040	2062	1285	
NM18575 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2471	2927	2751	1495	
NM5178 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2097	2510	2377	1315	
NM9261 (Draft)	N/A	N/A	2110	2553	2370	1341	

 $Staphylococcus \ aureus \ -19 \ genomes$ 

JKD6008 (Draft)	NZ_ABRZ01000084	2662	2681	2733	2791	1854
JKD6009 (Draft)	NZ_ABSA01000082	2684	2666	2720	2776	1843
MN8 (Draft)	NZ_ACJA01000014	2901	2714	2768	2845	1841
TCH60 (Draft)	NZ_ACHC01000045	2738	2551	2613	2666	1816
USA300_TCH959 (Draft)	NZ_AASB01000107	2853	2784	2826	2936	1899
COL (Finished)	NC_002951	2618	2568	2612	2680	1843
JH1 (Finished)	NC_009632	2780	2726	2775	2835	1890
JH9 (Finished)	NC_009487	2726	2726	2773	2836	1890
MRSA252 (Finished)	NC_002952	2656	2669	2728	2792	1888
MRSA_USA300_TCH1516 (Finished)	NC_010079	2689	2696	2744	2805	1890
MSSA476 (Finished)	NC_002953	2598	2555	2599	2671	1834
MW2 (Finished)	NC_003923	2632	2541	2580	2668	1832
Mu3 (Finished)	NC_009782	2698	2647	2701	2748	1876
Mu50 (Finished)	NC_002758	2731	2677	2730	2778	1885
N315 (Finished)	NC_002745	2619	2578	2624	2677	1880
NCTC8325 (Finished)	NC_007795	2892	2608	2660	2729	1830
Newman (Finished)	NC_009641	2614	2677	2722	2805	1841
RF122 (Finished)	NC_007622	2515	2589	2630	2707	1841
USA300 (Finished)	NC_007793	2604	2701	2756	2806	1884

Streptococcus agalactiae – 8 genomes						
18RS21 (Draft)	NZ_AAJO01000553	2146	2179	2326	2448	1316
515 (Draft)	NZ_AAJQ01000155	2275	2150	2248	2203	1356
COH1 (Draft)	NZ_AAJR01000393	2376	2295	2437	2341	1414
H36B (Draft)	NZ_AAJS01000345	2376	2305	2466	2354	1430
CJB111 (Draft)	NZ_AAJP01000255	2197	2099	2209	2137	1363
NEM316 (Finished)	NC_004368	2094	2127	2191	2161	1358
2603V/R (Finished)	NC_004116	2124	2108	2164	2146	1385
A909 (Finished)	NC_007432	1996	2060	2127	2094	1387

Streptococcus pneumoniae – 26 genomes CDC0288-04 (Draft) NZ\_ABGF01000001 CDC1087-00 (Draft) NZ\_ABFT01000001 CDC1873-00 (Draft) NZ\_ABFS01000001 CDC3059-06 (Draft) NZ\_ABGG01000001 MLV016 (Draft) NZ\_ABGH01000001 SP11-BS70 (Draft) NZ\_ABAC01000001 SP14-BS69 (Draft) NZ\_ABAD01000001 SP18-BS74 (Draft) NZ\_ABAE01000001 SP19-BS75 (Draft) NZ\_ABAF01000001 SP195 (Draft) NZ\_ABGE01000001 SP23-BS72 (Draft) NZ\_ABAG01000001 SP3-BS71 (Draft) NZ\_AAZZ01000001 SP6-BS73 (Draft) NZ\_ABAA01000001 SP9-BS68 (Draft) NZ\_ABAB01000001 TIGR4-454 (Draft) NZ\_AAGY02000001 70585 (Finished) NC\_012468 ATCC700669 (Finished) NC\_011900 CGSP14 (Finished) NC\_010582 D39 (Finished) NC\_008533 G54\_MLSTST63 (Finished) NC\_011072 Hungary19A-6 (Finished) NC\_010380 NC\_012466 JJA (Finished) P1031 (Finished) NC\_012467 R6 (Finished) NC\_003098 NC\_003028 TIGR4 (Finished) NC\_012469 Taiwan19F-14 (Finished) 

M49591 (Draft)	NZ_AAFV01000001	1365	1426	1457	1501	846
M1GAS (Finished)	NC_002737	1697	1791	1839	1863	1177
MGAS10270 (Finished)	NC_008022	1987	1894	1946	1976	1183
MGAS10394 (Finished)	NC_006086	1886	1826	1874	1911	1197
MGAS10750 (Finished)	NC_008024	1979	1893	1950	1972	1199
MGAS2096 (Finished)	NC_008023	1898	1813	1853	1898	1202
MGAS315 (Finished)	NC_004070	1865	1864	1920	1964	1167
MGAS5005 (Finished)	NC_007297	1865	1788	1840	1871	1187
MGAS6180 (Finished)	NC_007296	1894	1813	1871	1897	1176
MGAS8232 (Finished)	NC_003485	1845	1881	1924	1966	1191
MGAS9429 (Finished)	NC_008021	1877	1755	1800	1826	1163
Mabfredo (Finished)	NC_009332	1745	1802	1851	1893	1175
NZ131 (Finished)	NC_011375	1699	1734	1811	1817	1162
SSI-1 (Finished)	NC_004606	1861	1862	1912	1961	1167

Streptococcus pyogenes – 14 genomes

# CHAPTER VII

# CONCLUSION

We have presented a number of methods and innovations in DNA sequence analysis applicable to genomic and metagenomic data (except in Chapter 6, for which applications to metagenomic data are in development). We hope that in the course of our presentation, a better understanding of the state of the art in genome and metagenome analysis could be gained.

The complexity of biological systems which remains hidden from our understanding is matched by the intellectual reward of discovery when another aspect of these systems is characterized. Direct sequencing of environmental DNA is a key tool for this process. In the next few decades, we can expect the coalescence of accumulated knowledge and experimental methods to produce a qualitative improvement of our knowledge of life. Correspondingly more sophisticated algorithms will be needed for parallelized analysis of massive samples of biological sequence, biological network data, genetic features, bioengineering applications and other biological problems. This is an exciting time for biology, and our work is cut out for us.

## REFERENCES

- [1] "Fames: Fidelity of analysis of metagenomic samples. http://fames.jgi-psf.org/."
- [2] "Fsfind website. http://topaz.gatech.edu/ kislyuk/fsfind/."
- [3] "A genomic encyclopedia of bacteria and archaea (geba). http://www.jgi.doe.gov/programs/GEBA/index.html."
- [4] "Intel threading building blocks. http://www.threadingbuildingblocks.org/."
- [5] "Likelybin webpage. http://ecotheory.biology.gatech.edu/likelybin."
- [6] "Nvidia cuda. http://www.nvidia.com/object/cuda\_home\_new.html."
- [7] ABE, T., KANAYA, S., KINOUCHI, M., ICHIBA, Y., KOZUKI, T., and IKEMURA, T., "Informatics for unveiling hidden genome signatures.," *Genome research*, vol. 13, pp. 693–702, April 2003.
- [8] ABELSON, H. and SUSSMAN, G. J., Structure and Interpretation of Computer Programs. MIT Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, The MIT Press, second ed., July 1996.
- [9] ACHTMAN, M. and WAGNER, M., "Microbial diversity and the genetic nature of microbial species.," *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, vol. 6, pp. 431–440, June 2008.
- [10] AHMED, N., DOBRINDT, U., HACKER, J., and HASNAIN, S. E. E., "Genomic fluidity and pathogenic bacteria: applications in diagnostics, epidemiology and intervention.," *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, April 2008.
- [11] ALDINUCCI, M., TORQUATI, M., and MENEGHIN, M., "Fastflow: Efficient parallel streaming applications on multi-core," Sep 2009.

- [12] ALTSCHUL, S. F., MADDEN, T. L., SCHÄFFER, A. A., ZHANG, J., ZHANG, Z., MILLER, W., and LIPMAN, D. J., "Gapped blast and psi-blast: a new generation of protein database search programs.," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 25, pp. 3389–3402, September 1997.
- [13] ANGLY, F. E., FELTS, B., BREITBART, M., SALAMON, P., EDWARDS, R. A., CARL-SON, C., CHAN, A. M., HAYNES, M., KELLEY, S., LIU, H., MAHAFFY, J. M., MUELLER, J. E., NULTON, J., OLSON, R., PARSONS, R., RAYHAWK, S., SUTTLE, C. A., and ROHWER, F., "The marine viromes of four oceanic regions.," *PLoS Biol*, vol. 4, November 2006.
- [14] ANTONOV, I. and BORODOVSKY, M., "Genetack: frameshift identification in proteincoding sequences by the viterbi algorithm.," *Journal of bioinformatics and computational biology*, vol. 8, pp. 535–551, June 2010.
- [15] AZIZ, R., BARTELS, D., BEST, A., DEJONGH, M., DISZ, T., EDWARDS, R., FORMSMA, K., GERDES, S., GLASS, E., KUBAL, M., MEYER, F., OLSEN, G., OL-SON, R., OSTERMAN, A., OVERBEEK, R., MCNEIL, L., PAARMANN, D., PACZIAN, T., PARRELLO, B., PUSCH, G., REICH, C., STEVENS, R., VASSIEVA, O., VONSTEIN, V., WILKE, A., and ZAGNITKO, O., "The rast server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 75, 2008.
- [16] BAILLY, J., FRAISSINET-TACHET, L., VERNER, M.-C. C., DEBAUD, J.-C. C., LEMAIRE, M., WÉSOLOWSKI-LOUVEL, M., and MARMEISSE, R., "Soil eukaryotic functional diversity, a metatranscriptomic approach.," *The ISME journal*, vol. 1, pp. 632–642, November 2007.
- [17] BÉJÀ, O., SPUDICH, E. N., SPUDICH, J. L., LECLERC, M., and DELONG, E. F., "Proteorhodopsin phototrophy in the ocean.," *Nature*, vol. 411, pp. 786–789, June 2001.

- [18] BENDTSEN, J. D. A., NIELSEN, H., VON HEIJNE, G., and BRUNAK, S. A., "Improved prediction of signal peptides: Signalp 3.0," *Journal of molecular biology*, vol. 340, no. 4, pp. 783–795, 2004.
- [19] BENSON, D. A., KARSCH-MIZRACHI, I., LIPMAN, D. J., OSTELL, J., and SAYERS,
   E. W., "Genbank.," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 37, pp. D26–31, January 2009.
- [20] Bentley, D., Balasubramanian, S., Swerdlow, H., Smith, G., Milton, J., BROWN, C., HALL, K., EVERS, D., BARNES, C., BIGNELL, H., BOUTELL, J., BRYANT, J., CARTER, R., CHEETHAM, K., COX, A., ELLIS, D., FLATBUSH, M., GORMLEY, N., HUMPHRAY, S., IRVING, L., KARBELASHVILI, M., KIRK, S., LI, H., LIU, X., MAISINGER, K., MURRAY, L., OBRADOVIC, B., OST, T., PARKIN-SON, M., PRATT, M., RASOLONJATOVO, I., REED, M., RIGATTI, R., RODIGHIERO, C., Ross, M., Sabot, A., Sankar, S., Scally, A., Schroth, G., Smith, M., SMITH, V., SPIRIDOU, A., TORRANCE, P., TZONEV, S., VERMAAS, E., WALTER, K., WU, X., ZHANG, L., ALAM, M., ANASTASI, C., ANIEBO, I., BAILEY, D., BANCARZ, I., BANERJEE, S., BARBOUR, S., BAYBAYAN, P., BENOIT, V., BEN-SON, K., BEVIS, C., BLACK, P., BOODHUN, A., BRENNAN, J., BRIDGHAM, J., BROWN, R., BROWN, A., BUERMANN, D., BUNDU, A., BURROWS, J., CARTER, N., CASTILLO, N., CATENAZZI, M., CHANG, S., COOLEY, N., CRAKE, N., DADA, O., DIAKOUMAKOS, K., DOMINGUEZ-FERNANDEZ, B., EARNSHAW, D., EGBUJOR, U., ELMORE, D., ETCHIN, S., EWAN, M., FEDURCO, M., FRASER, L., FUENTES, FUREY, S., GEORGE, D., GIETZEN, K., GODDARD, C., GOLDA, G., GRANIERI, P., GREEN, D., GUSTAFSON, D., HANSEN, N., HARNISH, K., HAUDENSCHILD, C., HEYER, N., HIMS, M., HO, J., HORGAN, A., HOSCHLER, K., HURWITZ, S., IVANOV, D., Johnson, M., James, T., Jones, H., Kang, G.-D., Kerelska, T., Kersey, A., Khrebtukova, I., Kindwall, A., Kingsbury, Z., Kokko-Gonzales, P., KUMAR, A., LAURENT, M., LAWLEY, C., LEE, S., LEE, X., LIAO, A., LOCH, J., Lok, M., Luo, S., Mammen, R., Martin, J., McCauley, P., McNitt, P., MEHTA, P., MOON, K., MULLENS, J., NEWINGTON, T., NING, Z., NG, B., NOVO,

S., O'NEILL, M., OSBORNE, M., OSNOWSKI, A., OSTADAN, O., PARASCHOS, L., PICKERING, L., PIKE, A., PIKE, A., PINKARD, C., PLISKIN, D., PODHASKY, J., QUIJANO, V., RACZY, C., RAE, V., RAWLINGS, S., RODRIGUEZ, A., ROE, P., ROGERS, J., BACIGALUPO, M., ROMANOV, N., ROMIEU, A., ROTH, R., ROURKE, N., RUEDIGER, S., RUSMAN, E., SANCHES-KUIPER, R., SCHENKER, M., SEOANE, J., SHAW, R., SHIVER, M., SHORT, S., SIZTO, N., SLUIS, J., SMITH, M., SOHNA, SPENCE, E., STEVENS, K., SUTTON, N., SZAJKOWSKI, L., TREGIDGO, C., TUR-CATTI, G., VANDEVONDELE, S., VERHOVSKY, Y., VIRK, S., WAKELIN, S., WAL-COTT, G., WANG, J., WORSLEY, G., YAN, J., YAU, L., ZUERLEIN, M., ROGERS, J., MULLIKIN, J., HURLES, M., MCCOOKE, N., WEST, J., OAKS, F., LUNDBERG, P., KLENERMAN, D., DURBIN, R., and SMITH, A., "Accurate whole human genome sequencing using reversible terminator chemistry," *Nature*, vol. 456, no. 7218, pp. 53–59, 2008.

- [21] BENTLEY, D. R., "Whole-genome re-sequencing," Current Opinion in Genetics & Development, vol. 16, pp. 545–552, December 2006.
- [22] BENTLEY, S. D., CHATER, K. F., CERDEÑO TÁRRAGA, A.-M. M., CHALLIS, G. L., THOMSON, N. R., JAMES, K. D., HARRIS, D. E., QUAIL, M. A., KIESER, H., HARPER, D., BATEMAN, A., BROWN, S., CHANDRA, G., CHEN, C. W., COLLINS, M., CRONIN, A., FRASER, A., GOBLE, A., HIDALGO, J., HORNSBY, T., HOWARTH, S., HUANG, C.-H. H., KIESER, T., LARKE, L., MURPHY, L., OLIVER, K., O'NEIL, S., RABBINOWITSCH, E., RAJANDREAM, M.-A. A., RUTHERFORD, K., RUTTER, S., SEEGER, K., SAUNDERS, D., SHARP, S., SQUARES, R., SQUARES, S., TAYLOR, K., WARREN, T., WIETZORREK, A., WOODWARD, J., BARRELL, B. G., PARKHILL, J., and HOPWOOD, D. A., "Complete genome sequence of the model actinomycete streptomyces coelicolor a3(2).," Nature, vol. 417, pp. 141–147, May 2002.
- [23] BESEMER, J. and BORODOVSKY, M., "Heuristic approach to deriving models for gene finding," Nucl. Acids Res., vol. 27, pp. 3911–3920, October 1999.

- [24] BESEMER, J., LOMSADZE, A., and BORODOVSKY, M., "Genemarks: a self-training method for prediction of gene starts in microbial genomes. implications for finding sequence motifs in regulatory regions.," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 29, pp. 2607–2618, June 2001.
- [25] BIRNEY, E., THOMPSON, J., and GIBSON, T., "Pairwise and searchwise: finding the optimal alignment in a simultaneous comparison of a protein profile against all dna translation frames," *Nucl. Acids Res.*, vol. 24, pp. 2730–2739, July 1996.
- [26] BIRNEY, E., CLAMP, M., and DURBIN, R., "Genewise and genomewise," Genome Res., vol. 14, pp. 988–995, May 2004.
- [27] BOECKMANN, B., BAIROCH, A., APWEILER, R., BLATTER, M. C., ESTREICHER, A., GASTEIGER, E., MARTIN, M. J., MICHOUD, K., O'DONOVAN, C., PHAN, I., PILBOUT, S., and SCHNEIDER, M., "The swiss-prot protein knowledgebase and its supplement trembl in 2003," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 365–370, 2003.
- [28] BORODOVSKY, M. and MCININCH, J., "Recognition of genes in dna sequence with ambiguities.," *Biosystems*, vol. 30, no. 1-3, pp. 161–171, 1993.
- [29] BRADY, A. and SALZBERG, S. L., "Phymm and phymmbl: metagenomic phylogenetic classification with interpolated markov models," *Nature Methods*, vol. 6, pp. 673– 676, August 2009.
- BRUDNO, M., CHAPMAN, M., GOTTGENS, B., BATZOGLOU, S., and MORGENSTERN,
   B., "Fast and sensitive multiple alignment of large genomic sequences," *BMC Bioin*formatics, vol. 4, pp. 66+, December 2003.
- [31] BURROWS, M. and WHEELER, D. J., "A block-sorting lossless data compression algorithm.," Tech. Rep. 124, 1994.
- [32] CALLISTER, S. J., MCCUE, L. A. A., TURSE, J. E., MONROE, M. E., AUBERRY,K. J., SMITH, R. D., ADKINS, J. N., and LIPTON, M. S., "Comparative bacterial

proteomics: analysis of the core genome concept.," *PloS one*, vol. 3, pp. e1542+, February 2008.

- [33] CAMPBELL, A., MRÁZEK, J., and KARLIN, S., "Genome signature comparisons among prokaryote, plasmid, and mitochondrial dna," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 96, no. 16, pp. 9184–9189, 1999.
- [34] CHAN, C. K., HSU, A. L., TANG, S. L., and HALGAMUGE, S. K., "Using growing self-organising maps to improve the binning process in environmental whole-genome shotgun sequencing.," *Journal of biomedicine & biotechnology*, vol. 2008, no. 1, 2008.
- [35] CHAN, C.-K. K., HSU, A. L., HALGAMUGE, S. K., and TANG, S.-L., "Binning sequences using very sparse labels within a metagenome," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 9, pp. 215+, April 2008.
- [36] CHATTERJI, S., YAMAZAKI, I., BAI, Z., and EISEN, J., "Composition: A dna composition-based algorithm for binning environmental shotgun reads," ArXiv eprints, vol. 708, August 2007.
- [37] CHEN, I. and DUBNAU, D., "Dna uptake during bacterial transformation," Nat Rev Microbiol, vol. 2, pp. 241–9, Mar 2004.
- [38] CHEN, L., YANG, J., YU, J., YAO, Z., SUN, L., SHEN, Y., and JIN, Q., "Vfdb: a reference database for bacterial virulence factors," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 33, pp. D325– 8, Jan 1 2005.
- [39] CHEN, P., COOK, C., STEWART, A., NAGARAJAN, N., SOMMER, D., POP, M., THOMASON, B., THOMASON, M., LENTZ, S., NOLAN, N., SOZHAMANNAN, S., SU-LAKVELIDZE, A., MATECZUN, A., DU, L., ZWICK, M., and READ, T., "Genomic characterization of the yersinia genus," *Genome Biology*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. R1+, 2010.

- [40] CLAVERIE, J. M., "Detecting frame shifts by amino acid sequence comparison.," J Mol Biol, vol. 234, pp. 1140–1157, December 1993.
- [41] CLEMENTE, J. C., SATOU, K., and VALIENTE, G., "Phylogenetic reconstruction from non-genomic data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 23, pp. e110–115, January 2007.
- [42] COCK, P. J. A., ANTAO, T., CHANG, J. T., CHAPMAN, B. A., COX, C. J., DALKE,
  A., FRIEDBERG, I., HAMELRYCK, T., KAUFF, F., WILCZYNSKI, B., and DE HOON,
  M. J. L., "Biopython: freely available python tools for computational molecular biology and bioinformatics," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 25, pp. 1422–1423, June 2009.
- [43] CORMEN, T. H., LEISERSON, C. E., RIVEST, R. L., and STEIN, C., Introduction to Algorithms. McGraw-Hill Science / Engineering / Math, 2nd ed., December 2003.
- [44] DARLING, A. C., MAU, B., BLATTNER, F. R., and PERNA, N. T., "Mauve: multiple alignment of conserved genomic sequence with rearrangements.," *Genome Res*, vol. 14, pp. 1394–1403, July 2004.
- [45] D'AURIA, G., JIMENEZ-HERNANDEZ, N., PERIS-BONDIA, F., MOYA, A., and LA-TORRE, A., "Legionella pneumophila pangenome reveals strain-specific virulence factors," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 11, pp. 181+, March 2010.
- [46] DELCHER, A. L., HARMON, D., KASIF, S., WHITE, O., and SALZBERG, S. L., "Improved microbial gene identification with glimmer," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 27, no. 23, pp. 4636–4641, 1999.
- [47] DENEF, V. J., KALNEJAIS, L. H., MUELLER, R. S., WILMES, P., BAKER, B. J., THOMAS, B. C., VERBERKMOES, N. C., HETTICH, R. L., and BANFIELD, J. F., "Proteogenomic basis for ecological divergence of closely related bacteria in natural acidophilic microbial communities," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 107, pp. 2383–2390, February 2010.
- [48] DESANTIS, T. Z., HUGENHOLTZ, P., LARSEN, N., ROJAS, M., BRODIE, E. L., KELLER, K., HUBER, T., DALEVI, D., HU, P., and ANDERSEN, G. L., "Greengenes,

a chimera-checked 16s rrna gene database and workbench compatible with arb," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 72, no. 7, pp. 5069–5072, 2006.

- [49] DESCHAVANNE, P. J., GIRON, A., VILAIN, J., FAGOT, G., and FERTIL, B., "Genomic signature: characterization and classification of species assessed by chaos game representation of sequences," *Mol Biol Evol*, vol. 16, pp. 1391–1399, October 1999.
- [50] DIAZ, N., KRAUSE, L., GOESMANN, A., NIEHAUS, K., and NATTKEMPER, T., "Tacoa - taxonomic classification of environmental genomic fragments using a kernelized nearest neighbor approach," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 56+, 2009.
- [51] DINSDALE, E. A., EDWARDS, R. A., HALL, D., ANGLY, F., BREITBART, M., BRULC, J. M., FURLAN, M., DESNUES, C., HAYNES, M., LI, L., MCDANIEL, L., MORAN, M. A. A., NELSON, K. E., NILSSON, C., OLSON, R., PAUL, J., BRITO, B. R. R., RUAN, Y., SWAN, B. K., STEVENS, R., VALENTINE, D. L., THURBER, R. V. V., WEGLEY, L., WHITE, B. A., and ROHWER, F., "Functional metagenomic profiling of nine biomes.," *Nature*, vol. 452, pp. 629–632, April 2008.
- [52] DITTRICH, M. T., KLAU, G. W., ROSENWALD, A., DANDEKAR, T., and MÜLLER, T., "Identifying functional modules in protein-protein interaction networks: an integrated exact approach.," *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, vol. 24, July 2008.
- [53] DOOLITTLE, W. F. and ZHAXYBAYEVA, O., "On the origin of prokaryotic species.," *Genome research*, vol. 19, pp. 744–756, May 2009.
- [54] EFRON, B., "Nonparametric estimates of standard error: The jackknife, the bootstrap and other methods," *Biometrika*, vol. 68, pp. 589–599, December 1981.
- [55] EID, J., FEHR, A., GRAY, J., LUONG, K., LYLE, J., OTTO, G., PELUSO, P., RANK, D., BAYBAYAN, P., BETTMAN, B., BIBILLO, A., BJORNSON, K., CHAUDHURI, B., CHRISTIANS, F., CICERO, R., CLARK, S., DALAL, R., DEWINTER, A., DIXON, J., FOQUET, M., GAERTNER, A., HARDENBOL, P., HEINER, C., HESTER, K., HOLDEN,

D., KEARNS, G., KONG, X., KUSE, R., LACROIX, Y., LIN, S., LUNDQUIST, P., MA, C., MARKS, P., MAXHAM, M., MURPHY, D., PARK, I., PHAM, T., PHILLIPS, M., ROY, J., SEBRA, R., SHEN, G., SORENSON, J., TOMANEY, A., TRAVERS, K., TRULSON, M., VIECELI, J., WEGENER, J., WU, D., YANG, A., ZACCARIN, D., ZHAO, P., ZHONG, F., KORLACH, J., and TURNER, S., "Real-time dna sequencing from single polymerase molecules," *Science*, vol. 323, no. 5910, pp. 133–138, 2009.

- [56] FELSENSTEIN, J., Inferring Phylogenies. Sinauer Associates, 2 ed., September 2003.
- [57] FICHANT, G. A. and QUENTIN, Y., "A frameshift error detection algorithm for dna sequencing projects.," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 23, pp. 2900–2908, August 1995.
- [58] FLEISCHMANN, R. D., ADAMS, M. D., WHITE, O., CLAYTON, R. A., KIRKNESS, E. F., KERLAVAGE, A. R., BULT, C. J., TOMB, J. F., DOUGHERTY, B. A., and MERRICK, J. M., "Whole-genome random sequencing and assembly of haemophilus influenzae rd," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 269, no. 5223, pp. 496–512, 1995.
- [59] FLUSBERG, B. A., WEBSTER, D. R., LEE, J. H., TRAVERS, K. J., OLIVARES, E. C., CLARK, T. A., KORLACH, J., and TURNER, S. W., "Direct detection of dna methylation during single-molecule, real-time sequencing," *Nature Methods*, vol. 7, pp. 461–465, May 2010.
- [60] FRASER, C., ALM, E. J., POLZ, M. F., SPRATT, B. G., and HANAGE, W. P., "The bacterial species challenge: making sense of genetic and ecological diversity.," *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), vol. 323, pp. 741–746, February 2009.
- [61] FRIAS-LOPEZ, J., SHI, Y., TYSON, G. W., COLEMAN, M. L., SCHUSTER, S. C., CHISHOLM, S. W., and DELONG, E. F., "Microbial community gene expression in ocean surface waters.," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 105, pp. 3805–3810, March 2008.
- [62] GARCÍA MARTÍN, H., IVANOVA, N., KUNIN, V., WARNECKE, F., BARRY, K. W., MCHARDY, A. C., YEATES, C., HE, S., SALAMOV, A. A., SZETO, E., DALIN,

E., PUTNAM, N. H., SHAPIRO, H. J., PANGILINAN, J. L., RIGOUTSOS, I., KYR-PIDES, N. C., BLACKALL, L. L. M., MCMAHON, K. D., and HUGENHOLTZ, P., "Metagenomic analysis of two enhanced biological phosphorus removal (ebpr) sludge communities.," *Nature biotechnology*, vol. 24, pp. 1263–1269, October 2006.

- [63] GERLACH, G., VON WINTZINGERODE, F., MIDDENDORF, B., and GROSS, R., "Evolutionary trends in the genus bordetella," *Microbes and infection / Institut Pasteur*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 61–72, 2001.
- [64] GEVERS, D., COHAN, F. M., LAWRENCE, J. G., SPRATT, B. G., COENYE, T., FEIL, E. J., STACKEBRANDT, E., DE PEER, Y. V., VANDAMME, P., THOMPSON, F. L., and SWINGS, J., "Re-evaluating prokaryotic species," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 3, pp. 733–739, August 2005.
- [65] GILBERT, J. A., FIELD, D., HUANG, Y., EDWARDS, R., LI, W., GILNA, P., and JOINT, I., "Detection of large numbers of novel sequences in the metatranscriptomes of complex marine microbial communities.," *PloS one*, vol. 3, pp. e3042+, August 2008.
- [66] GILBERT, J. A., THOMAS, S., COOLEY, N. A., KULAKOVA, A., FIELD, D., BOOTH, T., MCGRATH, J. W., QUINN, J. P., and JOINT, I., "Potential for phosphonoacetate utilization by marine bacteria in temperate coastal waters.," *Environmental microbiology*, vol. 11, pp. 111–125, January 2009.
- [67] GILL, S. R., POP, M., DEBOY, R. T., ECKBURG, P. B., TURNBAUGH, P. J., SAMUEL, B. S., GORDON, J. I., RELMAN, D. A., FRASER-LIGGETT, C. M., and NELSON, K. E., "Metagenomic analysis of the human distal gut microbiome," *Science*, vol. 312, pp. 1355–1359, June 2006.
- [68] GOGARTEN, J. P., DOOLITTLE, W. F., and LAWRENCE, J. G., "Prokaryotic evolution in light of gene transfer.," *Mol Biol Evol*, vol. 19, pp. 2226–2238, December 2002.

- [69] GOTELLI, N. J. and ELLISON, A. M., A Primer Of Ecological Statistics. Sinauer Associates, 1 ed.
- [70] GRANT, S., GRANT, W. D., COWAN, D. A., JONES, B. E., MA, Y., VENTOSA, A., and HEAPHY, S., "Identification of eukaryotic open reading frames in metagenomic cdna libraries made from environmental samples.," *Applied and environmental microbiology*, vol. 72, pp. 135–143, January 2006.
- [71] GUAN, X. and UBERBACHER, E. C., "Alignments of dna and protein sequences containing frameshift errors.," *Comput Appl Biosci*, vol. 12, pp. 31–40, February 1996.
- [72] GUO, Z., LI, Y., GONG, X., YAO, C., MA, W., WANG, D., LI, Y., ZHU, J., ZHANG, M., YANG, D., and WANG, J., "Edge-based scoring and searching method for identifying condition-responsive protein protein interaction sub-network," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 23, pp. 2121–2128, August 2007.
- [73] GUPTA, R. S. and GRIFFITHS, E., "Critical issues in bacterial phylogeny.," Theoretical population biology, vol. 61, pp. 423–434, June 2002.
- [74] HANDELSMAN, J., "Metagenomics: application of genomics to uncultured microorganisms.," *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, vol. 68, pp. 669–685, December 2004.
- [75] HEYMANS, M. and SINGH, A. K., "Deriving phylogenetic trees from the similarity analysis of metabolic pathways," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 19, pp. i138–146, July 2003.
- [76] HILLER, N. L., JANTO, B., HOGG, J. S., BOISSY, R., YU, S., POWELL, E., KEEFE, R., EHRLICH, N. E., SHEN, K., HAYES, J., BARBADORA, K., KLIMKE, W., DER-NOVOY, D., TATUSOVA, T., PARKHILL, J., BENTLEY, S. D., POST, J. C., EHRLICH, G. D., and HU, F. Z., "Comparative genomic analyses of seventeen streptococcus pneumoniae strains: insights into the pneumococcal supragenome.," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 189, pp. 8186–8195, November 2007.

- [77] HOFF, K., TECH, M., LINGNER, T., DANIEL, R., MORGENSTERN, B., and MEINICKE, P., "Gene prediction in metagenomic fragments: A large scale machine learning approach," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 9, pp. 217+, April 2008.
- [78] HOGG, J., HU, F., JANTO, B., BOISSY, R., HAYES, J., KEEFE, R., POST, J. C., and EHRLICH, G., "Characterization and modeling of the haemophilus influenzae core and supragenomes based on the complete genomic sequences of rd and 12 clinical nontypeable strains," *Genome Biology*, vol. 8, pp. R103+, June 2007.
- [79] HOLT, K. E., PARKHILL, J., MAZZONI, C. J., ROUMAGNAC, P., WEILL, F.-X., GOODHEAD, I., RANCE, R., BAKER, S., MASKELL, D. J., WAIN, J., DOLECEK, C., ACHTMAN, M., and DOUGAN, G., "High-throughput sequencing provides insights into genome variation and evolution in salmonella typhi," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, pp. 987–993, July 2008.
- [80] HOTOPP, J. D., GRIFANTINI, R., KUMAR, N., TZENG, Y. L., FOUTS, D., FRIGIMELICA, E., DRAGHI, M., GIULIANI, M. M., RAPPUOLI, R., STEPHENS, D., GRANDI, G., and TETTELIN, H. A., "Comparative genomics of neisseria meningitidis: core genome, islands of horizontal transfer and pathogen-specific genes," *Microbiology* (*Reading, England*), vol. 152, no. Pt 12, pp. 3733–3749, 2006.
- [81] HUSE, S., HUBER, J., MORRISON, H., SOGIN, M., and WELCH, D., "Accuracy and quality of massively parallel dna pyrosequencing," *Genome Biology*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. R143, 2007.
- [82] HUSE, S. M., DETHLEFSEN, L., HUBER, J. A., WELCH, D. M., RELMAN, D. A., and SOGIN, M. L., "Exploring microbial diversity and taxonomy using ssu rrna hypervariable tag sequencing," *PLoS Genet*, vol. 4, pp. e1000255+, November 2008.
- [83] HUSON, D. H., AUCH, A. F., QI, J., and SCHUSTER, S. C., "Megan analysis of metagenomic data.," *Genome Res*, vol. 17, pp. 377–386, March 2007.

- [84] IDEKER, T., OZIER, O., SCHWIKOWSKI, B., and SIEGEL, A. F., "Discovering regulatory and signalling circuits in molecular interaction networks," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 18, pp. S233–240, July 2002.
- [85] INTERNATIONAL, "Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome.," Nature, vol. 409, pp. 860–921, February 2001.
- [86] JOLLEY, K. A., WILSON, D. J., KRIZ, P., MCVEAN, G., and MAIDEN, M. C. J., "The influence of mutation, recombination, population history, and selection on patterns of genetic diversity in neisseria meningitidis," *Mol Biol Evol*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 562–569, 2005.
- [87] KANEHISA, M., ARAKI, M., GOTO, S., HATTORI, M., HIRAKAWA, M., ITOH, M., KATAYAMA, T., KAWASHIMA, S., OKUDA, S., TOKIMATSU, T., and YAMANISHI, Y., "Kegg for linking genomes to life and the environment.," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 36, pp. D480–484, January 2008.
- [88] KARIIN, S. and BURGE, C., "Dinucleotide relative abundance extremes: a genomic signature," *Trends in Genetics*, vol. 11, pp. 283–290, July 1995.
- [89] KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T., RAMETTE, A., and TIEDJE, J. M., "The bacterial species definition in the genomic era.," *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, vol. 361, pp. 1929– 1940, November 2006.
- [90] KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T. and TIEDJE, J. M., "Genomic insights that advance the species definition for prokaryotes.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 102, pp. 2567– 2572, February 2005.
- [91] KRAUSE, L., DIAZ, N. N., GOESMANN, A., KELLEY, S., NATTKEMPER, T. W., ROHWER, F., EDWARDS, R. A., and STOYE, J., "Phylogenetic classification of short environmental dna fragments," *Nucl. Acids Res.*, vol. 36, pp. 2230–2239, April 2008.
- [92] KROGH, A., "Chapter 4 an introduction to hidden markov models for," in Biological Sequences, Computational Methods in Molecular Biology, Elsevier, 1998.

- [93] KROGH, A., LARSSON, B. A., VON HEIJNE, G., and SONNHAMMER, E., "Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden markov model: application to complete genomes1," *Journal of molecular biology*, vol. 305, no. 3, pp. 567–580, 2001.
- [94] KROLL, J. S., WILKS, K. E., FARRANT, J. L., and LANGFORD, P. R., "Natural genetic exchange between haemophilus and neisseria: intergeneric transfer of chromosomal genes between major human pathogens," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 95, pp. 12381–5, Oct 13 1998.
- [95] KUDLA, G., MURRAY, A. W., TOLLERVEY, D., and PLOTKIN, J. B., "Codingsequence determinants of gene expression in escherichia coli," *Science*, vol. 324, pp. 255–258, April 2009.
- [96] KUNIN, V., COPELAND, A., LAPIDUS, A., MAVROMATIS, K., and HUGENHOLTZ, P.,
  "A bioinformatician's guide to metagenomics.," *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR*, vol. 72, pp. 557–578, December 2008.
- [97] KUO, A. and GRIGORIEV, I., "Challenges in whole-genome annotation of pyrosequenced fungal genomes," 2009.
- [98] LANE, D. J., PACE, B., OLSEN, G. J., STAHL, D. A., SOGIN, M. L., and PACE, N. R., "Rapid determination of 16s ribosomal rna sequences for phylogenetic analyses.," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 82, pp. 6955–6959, October 1985.
- [99] LAPIERRE, P. and GOGARTEN, J. P., "Estimating the size of the bacterial pangenome," *Trends in Genetics*, vol. 25, pp. 107–110, March 2009.
- [100] LEE, A., U-statistics: theory and practice. CRC Press, 1990.
- [101] LEE, E., CHUANG, H.-Y. Y., KIM, J.-W. W., IDEKER, T., and LEE, D., "Inferring pathway activity toward precise disease classification.," *PLoS computational biology*, vol. 4, pp. e1000217+, November 2008.

- [102] LI, H. and DURBIN, R., "Fast and accurate long-read alignment with burrows-wheeler transform," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 26, pp. 589–595, March 2010.
- [103] LIU, B., BAZINET, A., and ADELFIO, M., "Comparative analysis of metabolic pathways in metagenomics."
- [104] LOWE, T. M. and EDDY, S. R., "trnascan-se: a program for improved detection of transfer rna genes in genomic sequence," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 955–964, 1997.
- [105] LUKASHIN, A. V. and BORODOVSKY, M., "Genemark.hmm: new solutions for gene finding," Nucl. Acids Res., vol. 26, pp. 1107–1115, February 1998.
- [106] MACCALLUM, I., PRZYBYLSKI, D., GNERRE, S., BURTON, J., SHLYAKHTER, I., GNIRKE, A., MALEK, J., MCKERNAN, K., RANADE, S., SHEA, T. P., WILLIAMS, L., YOUNG, S., NUSBAUM, C., and JAFFE, D. B., "Allpaths 2: small genomes assembled accurately and with high continuity from short paired reads.," *Genome biology*, vol. 10, pp. R103+, October 2009.
- [107] MAIDEN, M., BYGRAVES, J., FEIL, E., MORELLI, G., RUSSELL, J., URWIN, R., ZHANG, Q., ZHOU, J., ZURTH, K., CAUGANT, D., FEAVERS, I., ACHTMAN, M., and SPRATT, B., "Multilocus sequence typing: A portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenicâmicroorganisms," *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 3140–3145, 1998.
- [108] MAJOROS, W. H., Methods for Computational Gene Prediction. Cambridge University Press, 1 ed., September 2007.
- [109] MARDIS, E. R., "The impact of next-generation sequencing technology on genetics.," *Trends in genetics : TIG*, vol. 24, pp. 133–141, March 2008.
- [110] MARGULIES, M., EGHOLM, M., ALTMAN, W., ATTIYA, S., BADER, J., BEMBEN,L., BERKA, J., BRAVERMAN, M., CHEN, Y.-J., CHEN, Z., DEWELL, S., DU, L.,

FIERRO, J., GOMES, X., GODWIN, B., HE, W., HELGESEN, S., HO, C., IRZYK,
G., JANDO, S., ALENQUER, M., JARVIE, T., JIRAGE, K., KIM, J.-B., KNIGHT,
J., LANZA, J., LEAMON, J., LEFKOWITZ, S., LEI, M., LI, J., LOHMAN, K., LU,
H., MAKHIJANI, V., MCDADE, K., MCKENNA, M., MYERS, E., NICKERSON, E.,
NOBILE, J., PLANT, R., PUC, B., RONAN, M., ROTH, G., SARKIS, G., SIMONS, J.,
SIMPSON, J., SRINIVASAN, M., TARTARO, K., TOMASZ, A., VOGT, K., VOLKMER,
G., WANG, S., WANG, Y., WEINER, M., YU, P., BEGLEY, R., and ROTHBERG,
J., "Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors," *Nature*,
vol. 437, no. 7057, pp. 376–380, 2005.

- [111] MARGULIES, M., EGHOLM, M., ALTMAN, W. E., ATTIYA, S., BADER, J. S., BE-MBEN, L. A., BERKA, J., BRAVERMAN, M. S., CHEN, Y.-J., CHEN, Z., DEWELL, S. B., DU, L., FIERRO, J. M., GOMES, X. V., GODWIN, B. C., HE, W., HELGE-SEN, S., HO, C. H., IRZYK, G. P., JANDO, S. C., ALENQUER, M. L. I., JARVIE, T. P., JIRAGE, K. B., KIM, J.-B., KNIGHT, J. R., LANZA, J. R., LEAMON, J. H., LEFKOWITZ, S. M., LEI, M., LI, J., LOHMAN, K. L., LU, H., MAKHIJANI, V. B., MCDADE, K. E., MCKENNA, M. P., MYERS, E. W., NICKERSON, E., NOBILE, J. R., PLANT, R., PUC, B. P., RONAN, M. T., ROTH, G. T., SARKIS, G. J., SIMONS, J. F., SIMPSON, J. W., SRINIVASAN, M., TARTARO, K. R., TOMASZ, A., VOGT, K. A., VOLKMER, G. A., WANG, S. H., WANG, Y., WEINER, M. P., YU, P., BEGLEY, R. F., and ROTHBERG, J. M., "Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors," *Nature*, July 2005.
- [112] MARKOWITZ, V., CHEN, I. M., PALANIAPPAN, K., CHU, K., SZETO, E., GRECHKIN, Y., RATNER, A., ANDERSON, I., LYKIDIS, A., MAVROMATIS, K., IVANOVA, N., and KYRPIDES, N., "The integrated microbial genomes system: an expanding comparative analysis resource," *Nucl. Acids Res.*, p. gkp887, 2009.
- [113] MARKOWITZ, V. M., IVANOVA, N. N., SZETO, E., PALANIAPPAN, K., CHU, K., DALEVI, D., CHEN, I.-M. M., GRECHKIN, Y., DUBCHAK, I., ANDERSON, I., LYKIDIS, A., MAVROMATIS, K., HUGENHOLTZ, P., and KYRPIDES, N. C., "Img/m:

a data management and analysis system for metagenomes.," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 36, pp. D534–538, January 2008.

- [114] MAVROMATIS, K., IVANOVA, N., BARRY, K., SHAPIRO, H., GOLTSMAN, E., MCHARDY, A. C. C., RIGOUTSOS, I., SALAMOV, A., KORZENIEWSKI, F., LAND, M., LAPIDUS, A., GRIGORIEV, I., RICHARDSON, P., HUGENHOLTZ, P., and KYRPI-DES, N. C. C., "Use of simulated data sets to evaluate the fidelity of metagenomic processing methods.," *Nat Methods*, April 2007.
- [115] MCHARDY, A. C., MARTÍN, H. G., TSIRIGOS, A., HUGENHOLTZ, P., and RIGOUT-SOS, I., "Accurate phylogenetic classification of variable-length dna fragments," *Nature Methods*, vol. 4, pp. 63–72, December 2006.
- [116] MEDVEDEV, P. and BRUDNO, M., "Maximum likelihood genome assembly.," Journal of computational biology : a journal of computational molecular cell biology, vol. 16, pp. 1101–1116, August 2009.
- [117] MEYERS, L. A., LEVIN, B., RICHARDSON, A., and STOJILJKOVIC, I., "Epidemiology, hypermutation, within-host evolution and the virulence of neisseria meningitidis," *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society*, vol. 270, no. 1525, pp. 1667– 1677, 2003.
- [118] MILLER, J. R., DELCHER, A. L., KOREN, S., VENTER, E., WALENZ, B. P., BROWN-LEY, A., JOHNSON, J., LI, K., MOBARRY, C., and SUTTON, G., "Aggressive assembly of pyrosequencing reads with mates," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 24, pp. 2818–2824, December 2008.
- [119] MILLER, J. R., KOREN, S., and SUTTON, G., "Assembly algorithms for nextgeneration sequencing data.," *Genomics*, vol. 95, pp. 315–327, June 2010.
- [120] MOON, S., BYUN, Y., KIM, H.-J., JEONG, S., and HAN, K., "Predicting genes expressed via -1 and +1 frameshifts," *Nucl. Acids Res.*, vol. 32, pp. 4884–4892, September 2004.

- [121] MORGAN, J. L., DARLING, A. E., and EISEN, J. A., "Metagenomic sequencing of an in vitro-simulated microbial community.," *PloS one*, vol. 5, pp. e10209+, April 2010.
- [122] MULDER, N. and APWEILER, R., "Interpro and interproscan: Tools for protein sequence classification and comparison," *Methods Mol Biol*, vol. 396, pp. 59–70, 2007.
- [123] MUYZER, G., DE WAAL, E. C., and UITTERLINDEN, A. G., "Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16s rrna.," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 59, pp. 695–700, March 1993.
- [124] MDIGUE, C., ROSE, M., VIARI, A., and DANCHIN, A., "Detecting and analyzing dna sequencing errors: toward a higher quality of the bacillus subtilis genome sequence.," *Genome Res*, vol. 9, pp. 1116–1127, November 1999.
- [125] NACU, S., CRITCHLEY-THORNE, R., LEE, P., and HOLMES, S., "Gene expression network analysis and applications to immunology," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 23, pp. 850– 858, April 2007.
- [126] NOONAN, J. P., COOP, G., KUDARAVALLI, S., SMITH, D., KRAUSE, J., ALESSI, J., CHEN, F., PLATT, D., PÄÄBO, S., PRITCHARD, J. K., and RUBIN, E. M., "Sequencing and analysis of neanderthal genomic dna.," *Science*, vol. 314, pp. 1113– 1118, November 2006.
- [127] NOT, F., GAUSLING, R., AZAM, F., HEIDELBERG, J. F., and WORDEN, A. Z., "Vertical distribution of picoeukaryotic diversity in the sargasso sea," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 1233–1252, 2007.
- [128] PARKHILL, J., SEBAIHIA, M., PRESTON, A., MURPHY, L., THOMSON, N., HAR-RIS, D., HOLDEN, M., CHURCHER, C., BENTLEY, S., MUNGALL, K., AjRRAGA, A. C. A.-T., TEMPLE, L., JAMES, K., HARRIS, B., QUAIL, M., ACHTMAN, M., ATKIN, R., BAKER, S., BASHAM, D., BASON, N., CHEREVACH, I., CHILLINGWORTH, T., COLLINS, M., CRONIN, A., DAVIS, P., DOGGETT, J., FELTWELL, T., GOBLE, A.,

HAMLIN, N., HAUSER, H., HOLROYD, S., JAGELS, K., LEATHER, S., MOULE, S., NORBERCZAK, H., O'NEIL, S., ORMOND, D., PRICE, C., RABBINOWITSCH, E., RUTTER, S., SANDERS, M., SAUNDERS, D., SEEGER, K., SHARP, S., SIMMONDS, M., SKELTON, J., SQUARES, R., SQUARES, S., STEVENS, K., UNWIN, L., WHITE-HEAD, S., BARRELL, B., and MASKELL, D., "Comparative analysis of the genome sequences of bordetella pertussis, bordetella parapertussis and bordetella bronchiseptica," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 32–40, 2003.

- [129] PEARSON, W. R., WOOD, T., ZHANG, Z., and MILLER, W., "Comparison of dna sequences with protein sequences.," *Genomics*, vol. 46, pp. 24–36, November 1997.
- [130] PERRIN, A. A., BONACORSI, S. A., CARBONNELLE, E., TALIBI, D., DESSEN, P., NASSIF, X., and TINSLEY, C., "Comparative genomics identifies the genetic islands that distinguish neisseria meningitidis, the agent of cerebrospinal meningitis, from other neisseria species," *Infection and immunity*, vol. 70, no. 12, pp. 7063–7072, 2002.
- [131] PINTER, R. Y., ROKHLENKO, O., YEGER-LOTEM, E., and ZIV-UKELSON, M., "Alignment of metabolic pathways.," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 21, pp. 3401–3408, August 2005.
- [132] POP, M., PHILLIPPY, A., DELCHER, A. L., and SALZBERG, S. L., "Comparative genome assembly.," *Brief Bioinform*, vol. 5, pp. 237–248, September 2004.
- [133] POSFAI, J. and ROBERTS, R. J., "Finding errors in dna sequences.," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, vol. 89, pp. 4698–4702, May 1992.
- [134] QIN, J., LI, R., RAES, J., ARUMUGAM, M., BURGDORF, K. S., MANICHANH, C., NIELSEN, T., PONS, N., LEVENEZ, F., YAMADA, T., MENDE, D. R., LI, J., XU, J., LI, S., LI, D., CAO, J., WANG, B., LIANG, H., ZHENG, H., XIE, Y., TAP, J., LEPAGE, P., BERTALAN, M., BATTO, J.-M., HANSEN, T., LE PASLIER, D., LIN-NEBERG, A., NIELSEN, H. B., PELLETIER, E., RENAULT, P., SICHERITZ-PONTEN, T., TURNER, K., ZHU, H., YU, C., LI, S., JIAN, M., ZHOU, Y., LI, Y., ZHANG, X., LI, S., QIN, N., YANG, H., WANG, J., BRUNAK, S., DORE, J., GUARNER, F.,

KRISTIANSEN, K., PEDERSEN, O., PARKHILL, J., WEISSENBACH, J., BORK, P., EHRLICH, S. D., and WANG, J., "A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing," *Nature*, vol. 464, pp. 59–65, March 2010.

- [135] QUINLAN, A., STEWART, D., STROMBERG, M., and MARTH, G., "Pyrobayes: an improved base caller for snp discovery in pyrosequences," *Nat Meth*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 179–181, 2008.
- [136] RASKO, D. A., ROSOVITZ, M. J., MYERS, G. S., MONGODIN, E. F., FRICKE, W. F., GAJER, P., CRABTREE, J., SEBAIHIA, M., THOMSON, N. R., CHAUDHURI, R., HENDERSON, I. R., SPERANDIO, V., and RAVEL, J., "The pangenome structure of escherichia coli: comparative genomic analysis of e. coli commensal and pathogenic isolates.," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 190, pp. 6881–6893, October 2008.
- [137] REDON, R., ISHIKAWA, S., FITCH, K. R., FEUK, L., PERRY, G. H., ANDREWS, T. D., FIEGLER, H., SHAPERO, M. H., CARSON, A. R., CHEN, W., CHO, E. K., DALLAIRE, S., FREEMAN, J. L., GONZALEZ, J. R., GRATACOS, M., HUANG, J., KALAITZOPOULOS, D., KOMURA, D., MACDONALD, J. R., MARSHALL, C. R., MEI, R., MONTGOMERY, L., NISHIMURA, K., OKAMURA, K., SHEN, F., SOMERVILLE, M. J., TCHINDA, J., VALSESIA, A., WOODWARK, C., YANG, F., ZHANG, J., ZERJAL, T., ZHANG, J., ARMENGOL, L., CONRAD, D. F., ESTIVILL, X., TYLER-SMITH, C., CARTER, N. P., ABURATANI, H., LEE, C., JONES, K. W., SCHERER, S. W., and HURLES, M. E., "Global variation in copy number in the human genome," *Nature*, vol. 444, pp. 444–454, November 2006.
- [138] RENO, M. L., HELD, N. L., FIELDS, C. J., BURKE, P. V., and WHITAKER, R. J., "Biogeography of the sulfolobus islandicus pan-genome.," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 106, pp. 8605–8610, May 2009.
- [139] RICHTER, D. C., OTT, F., AUCH, A. F., SCHMID, R., and HUSON, D. H., "Metasima sequencing simulator for genomics and metagenomics," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 3,

pp. e3373+, October 2008.

- [140] RISSMAN, A., MAU, B., BIEHL, B., DARLING, A., GLASNER, J., and PERNA, N., "Reordering contigs of draft genomes using the mauve aligner," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 25, no. 16, pp. 2071–2073, 2009.
- [141] RITZ, A., BASHIR, A., and RAPHAEL, B. J., "Structural variation analysis with strobe reads," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 26, pp. 1291–1298, May 2010.
- [142] ROSEN, G. L., SOKHANSANJ, B. A., POLIKAR, R., BRUNS, M. A. A., RUSSELL, J., GARBARINE, E., ESSINGER, S., and YOK, N., "Signal processing for metagenomics: extracting information from the soup.," *Current genomics*, vol. 10, pp. 493– 510, November 2009.
- [143] ROSENSTEIN, N. E., PERKINS, B. A., STEPHENS, D. S., POPOVIC, T., and HUGHES, J. M., "Meningococcal disease," *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 344, no. 18, pp. 1378–1388, 2001.
- [144] RUSCH, D. B., HALPERN, A. L., SUTTON, G., HEIDELBERG, K. B., WILLIAMSON, S., YOOSEPH, S., WU, D., EISEN, J. A., HOFFMAN, J. M., REMINGTON, K., BEESON, K., TRAN, B., SMITH, H., BADEN-TILLSON, H., STEWART, C., THORPE, J., FREEMAN, J., ANDREWS-PFANNKOCH, C., VENTER, J. E., LI, K., KRAVITZ, S., HEIDELBERG, J. F., UTTERBACK, T., ROGERS, Y.-H., FALCóN, L. I., SOUZA, V., BONILLA-ROSSO, G., EGUIARTE, L. E., KARL, D. M., SATHYEN-DRANATH, S., PLATT, T., BERMINGHAM, E., GALLARDO, V., TAMAYO-CASTILLO, G., FERRARI, M. R., STRAUSBERG, R. L., NEALSON, K., FRIEDMAN, R., FRAZIER, M., and VENTER, C. J., "The sorcerer ii global ocean sampling expedition: Northwest atlantic through eastern tropical pacific," *PLoS Biology*, vol. 5, pp. e77+, March 2007.
- [145] SCHIEX, T., GOUZY, J., MOISAN, A., and DE OLIVEIRA, Y., "Framed: A flexible program for quality check and gene prediction in prokaryotic genomes and noisy matured eukaryotic sequences.," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 31, pp. 3738–3741, July 2003.

- [146] SCHOEN, C., BLOM, J., CLAUS, H., SCHRAMM-GLÜCK, A., BRANDT, P., MÜLLER, T., GOESMANN, A., JOSEPH, B., KONIETZNY, S., KURZAI, O., SCHMITT, C., FRIEDRICH, T., LINKE, B., VOGEL, U., and FROSCH, M., "Whole-genome comparison of disease and carriage strains provides insights into virulence evolution in neisseria meningitidis.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 105, pp. 3473–3478, March 2008.
- [147] SCHOEN, C., TETTELIN, H., PARKHILL, J., and FROSCH, M., "Genome flexibility in neisseria meningitidis.," *Vaccine*, vol. 27 Suppl 2, June 2009.
- [148] SCHREIBER, F., GUMRICH, P., DANIEL, R., and MEINICKE, P., "Treephyler: fast taxonomic profiling of metagenomes," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 26, pp. btq070–961, February 2010.
- [149] SESHADRI, R., KRAVITZ, S., SMARR, L., GILNA, P., and FRAZIER, M., "Camera: A community resource for metagenomics," *PLoS Biol*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. e75, 2007.
- [150] SHAW, A. K. K., HALPERN, A. L. L., BEESON, K., TRAN, B., VENTER, J. C. C., and MARTINY, J. B. H. B., "It's all relative: ranking the diversity of aquatic bacterial communities.," *Environmental microbiology*, July 2008.
- [151] SHENDURE, J. and JI, H., "Next-generation dna sequencing," Nature Biotechnology, vol. 26, pp. 1135–1145, October 2008.
- [152] SHENDURE, J., PORRECA, G., REPPAS, N., LIN, X., MCCUTCHEON, J., ROSEN-BAUM, A., WANG, M., ZHANG, K., MITRA, R., and CHURCH, G., "Accurate multiplex polony sequencing of an evolved bacterial genome," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 309, no. 5741, pp. 1728–1732, 2005.
- [153] SHENDURE, J., PORRECA, G. J., REPPAS, N. B., LIN, X., MCCUTCHEON, J. P., ROSENBAUM, A. M., WANG, M. D., ZHANG, K., MITRA, R. D., and CHURCH, G. M., "Accurate multiplex polony sequencing of an evolved bacterial genome," *Science*, vol. 309, pp. 1728–1732, September 2005.

- [154] SIMPSON, J. T. and DURBIN, R., "Efficient construction of an assembly string graph using the fm-index.," *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, vol. 26, pp. i367–373, June 2010.
- [155] SINHA, R., PUGLISI, S., MOFFAT, A., and TURPIN, A., "Improving suffix array locality for fast pattern matching on disk," in SIGMOD '08: Proceedings of the 2008 ACM SIGMOD international conference on Management of data, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 661–672, ACM, 2008.
- [156] SNIPEN, L., ALMOY, T., and USSERY, D., "Microbial comparative pan-genomics using binomial mixture models," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 10, pp. 385+, August 2009.
- [157] SOGIN, M. L., MORRISON, H. G., HUBER, J. A., WELCH, D. M., HUSE, S. M., NEAL, P. R., ARRIETA, J. M., and HERNDL, G. J., "Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored rare biosphere," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 103, pp. 12115–12120, August 2006.
- [158] SOHLER, F., HANISCH, D., and ZIMMER, R., "New methods for joint analysis of biological networks and expression data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 20, pp. 1517–1521, July 2004.
- [159] SOMMER, D., DELCHER, A., SALZBERG, S., and POP, M., "Minimus: a fast, lightweight genome assembler," *BMC bioinformatics*, vol. 8, p. 64, 2007.
- [160] SORENSEN, D. and GIANOLA, D., Likelihood, Bayesian and MCMC Methods in Quantitative Genetics. Springer, March 2007.
- [161] STAJICH, J. E., BLOCK, D., BOULEZ, K., BRENNER, S. E., CHERVITZ, S. A., DAGDIGIAN, C., FUELLEN, G., GILBERT, J. G. R., KORF, I., LAPP, H., LEHVÄSLAIHO, H., MATSALLA, C., MUNGALL, C. J., OSBORNE, B. I., POCOCK, M. R., SCHATTNER, P., SENGER, M., STEIN, L. D., STUPKA, E., WILKINSON, M. D., and BIRNEY, E., "The bioperl toolkit: Perl modules for the life sciences," Genome Research, vol. 12, pp. 1611–1618, October 2002.

- [162] STATES, D. J. and BOTSTEIN, D., "Molecular sequence accuracy and the analysis of protein coding regions.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 88, pp. 5518–5522, July 1991.
- [163] STEWART, A., OSBORNE, B., and READ, T., "Diya: a bacterial annotation pipeline for any genomics lab," *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 962–963, 2009.
- [164] STRANGER, B. E., FORREST, M. S., DUNNING, M., INGLE, C. E., BEAZLEY, C., THORNE, N., REDON, R., BIRD, C. P., DE GRASSI, A., LEE, C., TYLER-SMITH, C., CARTER, N., SCHERER, S. W., TAVARÉ, S., DELOUKAS, P., HURLES, M. E., and DERMITZAKIS, E. T., "Relative impact of nucleotide and copy number variation on gene expression phenotypes.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 315, pp. 848–853, February 2007.
- [165] SULLIVAN, M. B., COLEMAN, M. L., WEIGELE, P., ROHWER, F., and CHISHOLM, S. W., "Three prochlorococcus cyanophage genomes: signature features and ecological interpretations.," *PLoS Biol*, vol. 3, May 2005.
- [166] SUN, Z., LUO, J., ZHOU, Y., LUO, J., LIU, K., and LI, W., "Exploring phenotypeassociated modules in an oral cavity tumor using an integrated framework," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 25, pp. 795–800, March 2009.
- [167] TAYLOR, R. J., SIEGEL, A., and GALITSKI, T., "Network motif analysis of a multimode genetic-interaction network," *Genome Biology*, vol. 8, pp. R160+, August 2007.
- [168] TEELING, H., MEYERDIERKS, A., BAUER, M., AMANN, R., and GLÖCKNER, F. O., "Application of tetranucleotide frequencies for the assignment of genomic fragments.," *Environ Microbiol*, vol. 6, pp. 938–947, September 2004.
- [169] TEELING, H., WALDMANN, J., LOMBARDOT, T., BAUER, M., and GLÖCKNER, F. O., "Tetra: a web-service and a stand-alone program for the analysis and comparison of tetranucleotide usage patterns in dna sequences.," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 5, October 2004.

- [170] TETTELIN, H., MASIGNANI, V., CIESLEWICZ, M., DONATI, C., MEDINI, D., WARD, N., ANGIUOLI, S., CRABTREE, J., JONES, A., DURKIN, S., DEBOY, R., DAVIDSEN, T., MORA, M., SCARSELLI, M., MARGARIT Y ROS, I., PETERSON, J., HAUSER, C., SUNDARAM, J., NELSON, W., MADUPU, R., BRINKAC, L., DODSON, R., ROSOVITZ, M., SULLIVAN, S., DAUGHERTY, S., HAFT, D., SELENGUT, J., GWINN, M., ZHOU, L., ZAFAR, N., KHOURI, H., RADUNE, D., DIMITROV, G., WATKINS, K., O'CONNOR, K., SMITH, S., UTTERBACK, T., WHITE, O., RUBENS, C., GRANDI, G., MADOFF, L., KASPER, D., TELFORD, J., WESSELS, M., RAPPUOLI, R., and FRASER, C., "Genome analysis of multiple pathogenic isolates of streptococcus agalactiae: implications for the microbial "pan-genome"," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 102, no. 39, pp. 13950–13955, 2005.
- [171] TETTELIN, H., RILEY, D., CATTUTO, C., and MEDINI, D., "Comparative genomics: the bacterial pan-genome.," *Current opinion in microbiology*, vol. 11, pp. 472–477, October 2008.
- [172] TRAPNELL, C. and SCHATZ, M. C., "Optimizing data intensive gpgpu computations for dna sequence alignment," *Parallel Computing*, vol. 35, pp. 429–440, August 2009.
- [173] TRINGE, S. G., VON MERING, C., KOBAYASHI, A., SALAMOV, A. A., CHEN, K., CHANG, H. W., PODAR, M., SHORT, J. M., MATHUR, E. J., DETTER, J. C., BORK, P., HUGENHOLTZ, P., and RUBIN, E. M., "Comparative metagenomics of microbial communities," *Science*, vol. 308, pp. 554–557, April 2005.
- [174] TYSON, G. W., CHAPMAN, J., HUGENHOLTZ, P., ALLEN, E. E., RAM, R. J., RICHARDSON, P. M., SOLOVYEV, V. V., RUBIN, E. M., ROKHSAR, D. S., and BANFIELD, J. F., "Community structure and metabolism through reconstruction of microbial genomes from the environment.," *Nature*, vol. 428, pp. 37–43, March 2004.
- [175] TYSON, G. W., CHAPMAN, J., HUGENHOLTZ, P., ALLEN, E. E., RAM, R. J., RICHARDSON, P. M., SOLOVYEV, V. V., RUBIN, E. M., ROKHSAR, D. S., and

BANFIELD, J. F., "Community structure and metabolism through reconstruction of microbial genomes from the environment.," *Nature*, vol. 428, pp. 37–43, March 2004.

- [176] WANG, Z., CHEN, Y., and LI, Y., "A brief review of computational gene prediction methods.," Genomics, proteomics & bioinformatics / Beijing Genomics Institute, vol. 2, pp. 216–221, November 2004.
- [177] WARD, B. B., "How many species of prokaryotes are there?," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, vol. 99, pp. 10234–10236, August 2002.
- [178] WARD, D. M., WELLER, R., and BATESON, M. M., "16s rrna sequences reveal numerous uncultured microorganisms in a natural community.," *Nature.*, vol. 345, pp. 63–65, May 1990.
- [179] WARNECKE, F., LUGINBÜHL, P., IVANOVA, N., GHASSEMIAN, M., RICHARDSON, T. H., STEGE, J. T., CAYOUETTE, M., MCHARDY, A. C., DJORDJEVIC, G., ABOUSHADI, N., SOREK, R., TRINGE, S. G., PODAR, M., MARTIN, H. G., KUNIN, V., DALEVI, D., MADEJSKA, J., KIRTON, E., PLATT, D., SZETO, E., SALAMOV, A., BARRY, K., MIKHAILOVA, N., KYRPIDES, N. C., MATSON, E. G., OTTESEN, E. A., ZHANG, X., HERNÁNDEZ, M., MURILLO, C., ACOSTA, L. G., RIGOUT-SOS, I., TAMAYO, G., GREEN, B. D., CHANG, C., RUBIN, E. M., MATHUR, E. J., ROBERTSON, D. E., HUGENHOLTZ, P., and LEADBETTER, J. R., "Metagenomic and functional analysis of hindgut microbiota of a wood-feeding higher termite," *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7169, pp. 560–565, 2007.
- [180] WERNICKE, S. and RASCHE, F., "Simple and fast alignment of metabolic pathways by exploiting local diversity.," *Bioinformatics*, May 2007.
- [181] WOESE, C. R. and FOX, G. E., "Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: the primary kingdoms," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 74, pp. 5088–5090, November 1977.
- [182] WOOLEY, J. C., GODZIK, A., and FRIEDBERG, I., "A primer on metagenomics," *PLoS Comput Biol*, vol. 6, pp. e1000667+, February 2010.

- [183] WOYKE, T., TEELING, H., IVANOVA, N. N., HUNTEMANN, M., RICHTER, M., GLOECKNER, F. O. O., BOFFELLI, D., ANDERSON, I. J., BARRY, K. W., SHAPIRO, H. J., SZETO, E., KYRPIDES, N. C., MUSSMANN, M., AMANN, R., BERGIN, C., RUEHLAND, C., RUBIN, E. M., and DUBILIER, N., "Symbiosis insights through metagenomic analysis of a microbial consortium.," *Nature*, vol. 443, pp. 950–955, October 2006.
- [184] WOYKE, T., XIE, G., COPELAND, A., GONZÁLEZ, J. M., HAN, C., KISS, H., SAW, J. H., SENIN, P., YANG, C., CHATTERJI, S., CHENG, J.-F., EISEN, J. A., SIERACKI, M. E., and STEPANAUSKAS, R., "Assembling the marine metagenome, one cell at a time," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 4, pp. e5299+, April 2009.
- [185] WRIGHT, F. and BIBB, M. J., "Codon usage in the g+c-rich streptomyces genome.," Gene, vol. 113, pp. 55–65, April 1992.
- [186] WU, M. and EISEN, J., "A simple, fast, and accurate method of phylogenomic inference," *Genome Biology*, vol. 9, pp. R151+, October 2008.
- [187] YANG, J., CHEN, L., SUN, L., YU, J., and JIN, Q., "Vfdb 2008 release: an enhanced web-based resource for comparative pathogenomics," *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 36, pp. D539–42, Jan 2008.
- [188] YOOSEPH, S., SUTTON, G., RUSCH, D. B. B., HALPERN, A. L. L., WILLIAMSON, S. J. J., REMINGTON, K., EISEN, J. A. A., HEIDELBERG, K. B. B., MANNING, G., LI, W., JAROSZEWSKI, L., CIEPLAK, P., MILLER, C. S. S., LI, H., MASHIYAMA, S. T. T., JOACHIMIAK, M. P. P., VAN BELLE, C., CHANDONIA, J.-M. M., SOERGEL, D. A. A., ZHAI, Y., NATARAJAN, K., LEE, S., RAPHAEL, B. J. J., BAFNA, V., FRIEDMAN, R., BRENNER, S. E. E., GODZIK, A., EISENBERG, D., DIXON, J. E. E., TAYLOR, S. S. S., STRAUSBERG, R. L. L., FRAZIER, M., and VENTER, J. C. C., "The sorcerer ii global ocean sampling expedition: Expanding the universe of protein families.," *PLoS Biol*, vol. 5, March 2007.
- [189] ZERBINO, D. and BIRNEY, E., "Velvet: algorithms for de novo short read assembly using de bruijn graphs," *Genome Research*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 821–829, 2008.
- [190] ZHANG, K., MARTINY, A. C., REPPAS, N. B., BARRY, K. W., MALEK, J., CHISHOLM, S. W., and CHURCH, G. M., "Sequencing genomes from single cells by polymerase cloning," *Nature Biotechnology*, vol. 24, pp. 680–686, May 2006.
- [191] ZHENPING, L., ZHANG, S., WANG, Y., ZHANG, X.-S. S., and CHEN, L., "Alignment of molecular networks by integer quadratic programming.," *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, vol. 23, pp. 1631–1639, July 2007.
- [192] ZHU, W., LOMSADZE, A., and BORODOVSKY, M., "Ab initio gene identification in metagenomic sequences.," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 38, pp. e132+, July 2010.